
TRANSPORT COMMITTEE

MEETING TO BE HELD AT 11.00 AM ON FRIDAY, 16 MARCH 2018
IN COMMITTEE ROOM A, WELLINGTON HOUSE, 40-50 WELLINGTON 

STREET, LEEDS

A G E N D A

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS

3.3. EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE EXCLUSION OF THE 
PRESS AND PUBLIC

4.4. MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE TRANSPORT 
COMMITTEE HELD ON 12 JANUARY 2018
Copy attached.
(Pages 1 - 6)

For decision

5. TRANSPORT STRATEGY UPDATE
(Pages 7 - 26)

6. BUS STRATEGY UPDATE
(Pages 27 - 32)

7. CYCLING UPDATE
(Pages 33 - 40)

8. MOBILITY AS A SERVICE
(Pages 41 - 48)



9. EAST COAST MAIN LINE: FRANCHISE AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE UPDATE, INCLUDING PROPOSED 
RESPONSE TO ROUTE STUDY
(Pages 49 - 72)

10. CONSULTATION REPLIES ON HIGHWAYS RELATED 
MATTERS
(Pages 73 - 98)

11. CONSULTATION REPLY FOR TRANSPORT FOR THE 
NORTH'S STRATEGIC TRANSPORT PLAN
(Pages 99 - 104)

12. TRANSPORT RESEARCH INNOVATION FUND - RESEARCH 
ACTIVITIES
(Pages 105 - 124)

For information

13. LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN INTEGRATED TRANSPORT 
PROGRAMME SCHEME APPROVALS
(Pages 125 - 128)

14. CITY REGION TRANSPORT UPDATE
(Pages 129 - 152)

15. SUMMARY OF TRANSPORT SCHEMES WHICH WERE 
CONSIDERED BY JANUARY 2018 INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
(Pages 153 - 170)

16. MINUTES OF THE MEETINGS OF THE DISTRICT 
CONSULTATION SUB-COMMITTEES HELD ON

(a)  LEEDS 9 OCTOBER 2017 
(Pages 171 - 174)

(b)  CALDERDALE 10 OCTOBER 2017 
(Pages 175 - 178)

(c)  BRADFORD 23 OCTOBER 2017 
(Pages 179 - 184)

(d)  KIRKLEES 29 NOVEMBER 2017 
(Pages 185 - 188)

(e)  WAKEFIELD 30 NOVEMBER 2017 
(Pages 189 - 192)



(f)  CALDERDALE 9 JANUARY 2018 
(Pages 193 - 196)

(g)  KIRKLEES 10 JANUARY 2018 
(Pages 197 - 200)

(h)  LEEDS 15 JANUARY 2018 
(Pages 201 - 204)

(i)  WAKEFIELD 18 JANUARY 2018 
(Pages 205 - 208)

(j)  BRADFORD 22 JANUARY 2018 
(Pages 209 - 214)

Signed:

WYCA Managing Director



This page is intentionally left blank



 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE TRANSPORT COMMITTEE
HELD ON FRIDAY 12 JANUARY 2018

IN COMMITTEE ROOM A, WELLINGTON HOUSE, LEEDS

Present:
Councillor Keith Wakefield OBE (Chair) Leeds City Council
Councillor Eric Firth (Vice-Chair) Kirklees Council
Councillor Hassan Khan Bradford Council
Councillor Nussrat Mohammed Bradford Council
Councillor Rebecca Poulsen Bradford Council
Councillor Taj Salam Bradford Council
Councillor Peter Caffrey Calderdale Council
Councillor Daniel Sutherland Calderdale Council
Councillor Martyn Bolt Kirklees Council
Councillor Manisha Kaushik Kirklees Council
Councillor Andrew Pinnock Kirklees Council
Councillor Neil Buckley Leeds City Council
Councillor Christine Towler Leeds City Council
Ian Cherry Nexus Vehicle Management
Councillor David Dagger Wakefield Council
Councillor Kevin Swift Wakefield Council

In attendance:
Councillor Peter McBride Kirklees Council
Joe Cookson Network Rail (to minute 44 only)
Kieran Dunkin Network Rail (to minute 44 only)
Liz Hunter West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Dave Pearson West Yorkshire Combined Authority
James Reed West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Janette Woodcock West Yorkshire Combined Authority

38.  Apologies for absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Ian Gillies, Councillor Michael 
Lyons and Councillor Tim Swift.

39.  Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests

There were no disclosable pecuniary interests declared by members at the meeting.

1

Agenda Item 4



40.  Exclusion of the Press and Public

Resolved:  That in accordance with paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration 
of the appendix to Agenda Item 8 on the grounds that it is likely, in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of 
the press and public were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information and that in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption at this time outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.

41.  Minutes of the meeting of the Transport Committee held on 17 November 2017

Further to minute 36, CityConnect (CCAG) Programme Update, Councillor Sutherland 
raised concerns about The Rochdale Canal cycle scheme and identified the current 
challenges facing travel in the Todmorden area.  Members were advised that the 
Combined Authority and Calderdale officers are working together to identify 
alternative sources of funding for the Rochdale Canal Phase 2 project including 
options to deploy Growth Fund.  The Combined Authority’s Investment Committee 
had considered a range of potential Growth Fund projects earlier in the month and 
the Rochdale Canal cycle scheme was included.

Resolved:  That the minutes of the Transport Committee held on 17 November 2017 
be approved and signed by the Chair.

42.  Chair's Comments

Councillor Wakefield welcomed Josie McHugh to the meeting as it was her last day 
and she was due to retire after 44 years’ service.  Councillor Wakefield, along with 
Committee members, thanked Josie for all the hard work and commitment she had 
given to members and her colleagues over the years and wished her a long and happy 
retirement.

43.  Network Rail

Representatives from Network Rail, Jo Cookson, Public Affairs Manager and Kieran 
Dunkin, Principal Programme Sponsor, attended the meeting to provide a 
presentation on current and committed investment being made in the Calder Valley 
rail line.  Members were provided with details of a programme of investment, the 
Great North Rail Project (GNRP), aimed at improving train travel for customers in the 
North which would result in an increase in the number of trains running each day, 
more seats, faster journey times and improved reliability

The presentation included the following:

 West Yorkshire Signalling Upgrade
 Bradford Interchange Improvements
 Hebden Bridge Station Improvements
 Further work at Hebden Bridge

2



 Platform Extensions
 Journey Time improvements
 Northern Rail’s new fleet

The presentation was followed by a question and answer session; Network Rail 
undertook to respond in writing to some of the questions.

Resolved:  

(i) That Network Rail’s representatives be thanked for their presentation and 
update.

(ii) That Network Rail representatives be invited to a future meeting to answer 
further questions and update on the progress of TRU (Trans Pennine Route 
Upgrade which is currently under review by the Department of Transport.

44.  2018/19 Revenue Budget Implications for Service Delivery

The Committee considered a report updating it on 2018/19 Revenue Budget 
Implications for Service Delivery.

It was reported that on 14 December 2018, the Combined Authority had considered 
its three year Budget Strategy and Business Plan in advance of its formal approval on 
1 February 2018.  The Committee were provided with an update on progress to date 
with the budget and the process under which the Committee will have oversight of 
the activities required to adjust spending on Transport Services.

Members were informed of work underway to develop a new policy for the provision 
of transport services to support mobility, It was proposed to bring a report to the 
Transport Committee in May 2018 setting out a policy and programme.

A number of initiatives were currently being looked at to promote bus travel by 
young people within current budgetary provision which would result in changes to 
the Authority’s Concessionary Travel Scheme and would be presented to the 
Committee for review at a future date in 2018/19.

Proposals were in place to change the way in which the Combined Authority provides 
travel information and supports the sale of transport and tickets and passes which 
would also meet changing customer expectations and result in cost savings to the 
Authority.  The West Yorkshire Bus Information Strategy would be updated to reflect 
the revised service provision and funding arrangements for consideration by the 
Committee later in 2018.

The report also provided members with the opportunity to review and comment on 
the draft 2018/19 Business Plans for each Directorate in the Authority.

3



Resolved:

(i) That the work underway on the medium term financial strategy and budget 
for 2018/19 which will be presented for approval to the Combined Authority 
on 1 February 2018 be noted and endorsed.

(ii) That the contents of the draft Business Plan which will be presented for 
approval to the Combined Authority on 1 February 2018 be noted and 
endorsed.

(iii) That a report be brought to the meeting scheduled for 25 May 2018 setting 
out a policy and programme for the provision of transport services to support 
mobility.

(iv) That changes to the Authority’s Concessionary Travel Scheme to encourage 
travel by young people at no greater cost to the Authority be presented for 
review at a future meeting of the Committee.

(v) That the West Yorkshire Bus Information Strategy is reviewed to meet 
changing customer expectations at a lower cost to the Authority and a revised 
draft is presented to the Committee for adoption later in 2018

45.  Leeds Clean Air Zone Proposal

The Committee was provided with an overview of the proposed `Class B’ Clean Air 
Zone for Leeds.

It was reported that in July 2017 the Department for Environment, Farming and Rural 
Affairs (DEFRA) published the National Air Quality Plan which requires 28 Local 
authorities that are forecast to exceed statutory Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) emission 
limits by 2020 to produce action plans detailing how they will ensure N02 compliance 
within the shortest possible time.  Within Yorkshire, Leeds City Council is the only 
named local authority required to act.

Having been provided with an overview of the proposals for the Leeds Clean Air Zone, 
members discussed the proposals in detail.  The Committee acknowledged the 
benefits that clean air has on improving public health and creating quality places for 
people who live and work in the Leeds City Region and in attracting investment.  The 
Combined Authority’s continued investment in programmes which support air quality 
improvement was welcomed along with the ongoing work with businesses and 
transport operators to improve vehicle emissions for the benefit of all West Yorkshire 
residents.

Resolved:

(I) That the publication of the proposed Leeds Clean Air Zone be noted.

(ii) That the Combined Authority’s support for and collaborative working with 
Leeds City Council during the development and implementation of the 

4



proposed Clean Air Zone be endorsed.
(iii) That the Combined Authority’s continued investment in programmes that 

support air quality improvement and the ongoing work with businesses and 
transport operators to improve vehicles and fleets for the benefit of all West 
Yorkshire residents and businesses through improved public health and 
cleaner air be supported.

46.  City Region Transport Update

The Transport Committee was provided with an update on current issues which 
included:

 Transport for the North
 West Yorkshire Key Route Network
 DfT Consultation on Proposals for the Creation of a Major Road Network
 DfT Consultation on Shaping the Future o England’s Strategic Toads
 Trans Pennine Route Upgrade Update
 Northern Powerhouse Rail
 Consultation on methodology for allocating fixed costs to train operators in 

Control Period 6 (CP6)
 Connecting people: A strategic vision for rail / intercity East Coast franchise
 Future of Community Rail Strategy Consultation
 Bus Service Act Update
 Young People’s Bus Travel Initiatives
 Transforming Cities Fund
 Rail Fare Increases
 MCard Prices
 North of England Transport Awards

Resolved:  That the updates be noted

47.  HS2 Growth Strategy

The Committee considered as a private paper an update report on the LCR HS2 
Growth Strategy seeking endorsement for its publication and start of engagement.

Resolved:

(i) That the progress on the LCR HS2 Growth Strategy be noted and the draft be 
endorsed for publication and engagement.

(ii) That the principles for taking forward the inclusive Growth Corridors as 
detailed in paragraph 2.11 of the submitted report be endorsed.

5



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Transport Committee

Date:  16 March 2018

Subject:  Transport Strategy Update

Director: Liz Hunter, Interim Director of Policy and Strategy

Author(s): Steve Heckley

Is this a key decision? ☐ Yes    ☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? ☒ Yes    ☐ No
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or 
appendices? ☐ Yes    ☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local Government 
Act 1972, Part 1:

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 To provide Transport Committee with an update on work to deliver the West 
Yorkshire Transport Strategy 2040.

1.2 To seek comments on a proposed Performance Management Framework of 
Indicators and Targets to assess performance in delivering the West Yorkshire 
Transport Strategy 2040.

2 Information

2.1 The West Yorkshire Combined Authority meeting of 3 August 2017 adopted 
the West Yorkshire Transport Strategy 2040. The new Strategy sets out our 
Combined Authority’s high level vision and policy aspirations for the transport 
system for the next 20 years. 

2.2 The Combined Authority delegated oversight of the technical work to develop 
the Transport Strategy to the Transport Committee.  In adopting the Transport 
Strategy, the Combined Authority delegated a decision on the final 
appearance and any minor amendments to the strategy for publication to the 
Combined Authority’s Managing Director in consultation with the Chair of the 
Transport Committee.  Minor amendments have been made and agreed 

7

Agenda Item 5



relating to data presentation, updating of plans from HS2 and the Leeds City 
Region Connectivity Study, edits to text and the addition of a foreword. The 
final Transport Strategy has been published on the Combined Authority’s 
website, accessed at: https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/media/2664/transport-
strategy-2040.pdf.

2.3 The Transport Strategy and the Bus Strategy (which is a daughter document 
to the Transport Strategy and reported separately to this meeting as item 6) sit 
within the emerging policy framework of the Combined Authority, with the 
development of a Leeds City Region Industrial Strategy at its heart, targeted at 
placing the City Region on the front-foot with an ambitious policy platform that 
improves competitiveness and drives inclusive growth outcomes to ensure 
that the benefits of economic success are shared fairly.

2.4 The Transport Strategy contains 67 policies, arranged under six core themes: 

 Inclusive Growth, Environment, Health and Well-being;  
 Road Network;
 Places to Live and Work;
 One System Public Transport;
 Smart Futures;
 Asset Management and Resilience

2.5 Each of the policies suggests an action or number of actions. The Combined 
Authority in adopting the Transport Strategy agreed that further work will be 
needed to develop the detail of how each policy can be implemented and 
required that Transport Committee continues to have oversight of this work. 
Work is now underway developing an action plan for all of the policies. The 
Combined Authority highlighted the following key pieces of work:

 
 Develop a full set of indicators and targets to be used to measure the 

performance in delivering the Transport Strategy;

 Develop the understanding of our transport connectivity requirements for 
our important economic places across the city region, including our 
approach to mass transit;

 Develop the detailed approach to delivering the desired social, 
environmental and public health benefits through, for example, better air 
quality and local safety and accessibility improvements;

 Develop the role of specific modes of transport e.g. cycling, walking, rail.

Performance Management Framework of Indicators and Targets 

2.6 Transport Strategy delivery is intended to be informed by a performance 
management framework of indicators and targets to monitor and evaluate the 
performance of the Combined Authority and its partners in delivering 
investments and interventions and achieving desired outcomes.

8



2.7 The current Department for Transport guidance for Transport Plans (2009) 
recommends that Transport Authorities consider which performance indicators 
are most appropriate for monitoring the strategy, and for which of these 
indicators targets should be set to secure delivery. The guidance identifies that 
“a strong plan will include ambitious target setting, clear trajectories, and close 
monitoring of delivery.”

2.8 The adopted Transport Strategy provides some mid-term targets for the first 
10 years of the strategy, to grow the number of journeys made by using 
sustainable modes of transport:

 25% more trips made by bus by 2027;
 75% more trips made by rail by 2027;
 300% more trips made by bicycle by 2027.

2.9 The strategy identifies that more indicators and targets would be added. 

2.10 A proposal for the full set of indicators and targets has been developed with 
the input of the West Yorkshire District Councils and a range of stakeholders 
and is informed by feedback from the public consultation on the Transport 
Strategy. This work has been scrutinised by the Combined Authority’s 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s Transport Working Group. The proposal is 
attached as Appendix 1.  

2.11 The key features of the proposed Performance Management Framework are:

 A set of five modal targets - with a proposal to add targets for car and 
walking trips, to supplement the existing targets for influencing bus, rail 
and cycle trips identified in para. 2.8 above;  

 A set of six key indicators with a target proposed for each - with one key 
indicator and a target to illustrate each of the six core themes of the 
Transport Strategy; 

 A longer set of 32 supporting technical indicators - for each core theme of 
the Transport Strategy to provide additional insight into performance. 

2.12 Engagement on the proposal identified a preference to set mid-term (10 year) 
targets, rather than for the whole period of the strategy through to 2040.  It 
also identified the importance of monitoring performance to review progress 
and if appropriate reset targets and/or strategy depending on performance. 
For the proposed additional Car and Walking modal targets, options are 
offered for target setting with an explanation of each option. For the proposed 
six key indicators a single recommendation is made for the target. 

Mode target - Car trips

2.13 Stakeholders have suggested the adoption of a target for the total number of 
car trips made each year. The previous West Yorkshire Local Transport Plan 
(LTP3) set a target to keep the total number of car journeys made by West 
Yorkshire residents per year at 2011 levels through to 2026 i.e. no growth in 

9



car trips, with any additional growth in trips to be accommodated by other, 
sustainable modes of transport. The rational was that capping growth in car 
trips was desirable to deliver environmental, health and economic benefits 
(through reducing the impact of traffic congestion on roads). 

2.14 The total annual number of car trips made by West Yorkshire residents has 
fluctuated in response to the performance of the economy. In the year 2015 to 
2016 there was a marked increase in car trips that took the total number of car 
trips above 2011 levels for the first time, after a period of recession had had 
an impact on supressing car trips. Projections indicate that car trips could be 
expected to continue to grow if no action is taken to improve the attractiveness 
of alternatives to the car or to limit the opportunities for car trips. The proposal 
shown in Appendix 1 suggests option A ‘high growth’ and option B ‘medium 
growth’ scenarios. Both scenarios could be expected to increase congestion 
and to impact on the efficiency of our road network. The West Yorkshire 
Transport Strategy provides a number of policy commitments to substantially 
invest in increasing the attractiveness of public transport to increase travel 
options and encouraging walking and cycling for environmental and health 
benefits, and could be expected to contribute to reducing demand for car trips. 
Therefore Options C and D describe alternative trajectories for reducing car 
trips over the next 10 years to 2011 levels and it is recommended that Option 
C (a reduction of 3.5% in car trips) is adopted. 

2.15 There are risks to setting a target for car trips given the close relationship with 
the economic performance, and a target to reduce the overall level of car trips 
can be seen as challenging given the long term historic trend of growth in 
trips, but a target to reduce car trips can also be viewed as ambitious and 
consistent with the policies contained within the Transport Strategy. 

Mode target - Walking trips 

2.16 For the number of walking trips, the report presents two options. Option A 
suggests an upward trajectory of a 10% increase in walking trips, reflecting 
both changes in population and aspirations related to Transport Strategy 
policies. Option B is a flat trajectory reflecting that the overall change in 
walking trips between 2011 and 2016 has been approximately zero, and 
continues this trend forward. The recommendation is to adopt option A.

Monitoring Framework

2.17 Comments are sought on all of the proposed targets explained in Appendix 1. 
An endorsed set of indictors and targets will be reported to a future meeting of 
the Combined Authority for adoption. Once agreed, the Transport Strategy will 
be updated to include a Performance Management Chapter.   

2.18 The proposal is cost neutral. The monitoring and analysis of the indicators and 
targets is affordable within existing resources. Many of the indicators are 
carried forward from the previous Local Transport Plan, but with refinements 
and additions to reflect the increased breadth of the new Transport Strategy in 
including policies for example in respect of inclusive growth and public health. 

10



The proposal makes use of existing data sets and collection methodologies 
used by the Combined Authority and the West Yorkshire District Councils and 
from partner agencies and government, but also seeks to make use of new 
developments in data sources and methods to collect data where available.  

2.19 The proposal makes use wherever possible of Customer Satisfaction data, 
collected by the Combined Authority’s Tracker Survey in respect of public 
transport and road performance. Transport Committee in overseeing the 
Transport Strategy work emphasised the importance of users of our transport 
networks and services and the need to understand and be responsive to 
customer requirements.

2.20 The delivery of the Transport Strategy will be monitored and managed by the 
Combined Authority in partnership with the West Yorkshire Districts, which will 
include regular reviews of the performance data on a minimum annual basis. It 
is proposed to provide the performance management data on the Combined 
Authority’s website for ease of access by Members, public and stakeholders.  

Transport Strategy delivery 

2.21 The Transport Strategy is now shaping the delivery of the Combined Authority 
and its partners. The ongoing delivery of the West Yorkshire plus Transport 
Fund and Integrated Transport Block programmes and associated grant 
funded programmes are reported in a separate item 15 to this meeting. Other 
delivery highlights achieved in the six months since the adoption of the 
strategy are listed below under each of the core theme headings: 

Inclusive Growth, Environment, Health and Well-being

 Publication of the Leeds City Region HS2 Growth Strategy - with 
consultation running from 15 January to 2 March 2018;

 Work progressing with West Yorkshire partners to develop an approach to 
the identification and development of inclusive growth corridors;

 Secured additional funding to the existing Cycling and Walking to Work 
Fund, to deliver more engagement, training and grant programmes to help 
more people access employment and training opportunities by foot/bike.

Road Network

 Signing of a Memorandum of Agreement by each of the West Yorkshire 
District Councils and the Combined Authority to collaborate on operational 
management and improvements to a West Yorkshire Key Route Network, 
including developing a collaborative, cross-boundary approach to Urban 
Traffic Management Control funded through the West Yorkshire plus 
Transport Fund; 

 Input to Transport for the North’s development of a defined network and 
funding proposal for a Major Road Network for the North - which includes 
70% of the West Yorkshire Key Route Network;  

11



 Commenced delivery of the £1.98m Ultra Low Emission Vehicle Taxi 
Scheme for up to 88 charge points to support a zero emission taxi and 
private hire fleet in West Yorkshire;

Places to Live and Work;

 Securing funding support from the DfT to develop Local Cycling and 
Walking Infrastructure Plans, enabling future cycling and walking networks 
to be identified and a prioritised programme of schemes to deliver the 
required networks;

 Development of the Leeds City Region Green and Blue Infrastructure 
Strategy Delivery Plan to deliver 1000 miles of green and blue 
infrastructure rich corridors;

One System Public Transport;

 Successful application to the government’s Clean Bus Technology Fund 
for £4.2m grant to improve emissions on 25% of the existing West 
Yorkshire bus fleet to Euro VI emission standard; 

 On-going Bus 18 delivery - detailed a the separate report, item 6 Bus 
Strategy update, to this meeting;

 Commenced work to develop the Combined Authority’s refreshed 
RailPlan;

Smart Futures;

 Continued delivery of the MCard smartcard ticketing offer, including the 
addition of 8 new MCard ticketing machines and 8 new information points 
at bus stations; 

 Development of the Trav.ly app, trialled for park and ride users;

 Launch of the UK’s first app which allows customers to load products on 
the go or from home, 24/7; 

Asset Management and Resilience

 Development and ongoing delivery of an action plan to implement the 
recommendations of the Well Managed Highway Infrastructure Code of 
Practice developed by the UK Roads Liaison Group.

2.22 Further reports on the delivery of the Transport Strategy, including delivery 
details and performance against indicators and targets, will be brought to 
future meetings of the Transport Committee.  

12



3 Financial Implications

3.1 There are no direct financial implications from the report. The proposals for the 
monitoring and analysis of performance are cost neutral and affordable within 
existing budgets and resources.

4 Legal Implications

4.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.

5 Staffing Implications

5.1 There are no direct staffing implications from the report. The proposals for the 
monitoring and analysis of performance are possible within existing resources.

6 External Consultees

6.1 The Combined Authority’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee Transport 
Working Group has provided detailed input to the development of the 
proposed indicators and targets. The Working Group has confirmed its 
satisfaction with the process of developing the indicators and targets and that 
the proposals for Transport Committee contained in this report reflects the 
views and inputs of stakeholders provided to-date. The Working Group was 
satisfied that further public consultation was not necessary following the 
extensive consultation on the Transport Strategy 2040 which included 
questions on indicators. 

6.2 West Yorkshire District Directors of Public Health and Heads of Transport 
were consulted and commented on draft proposals. District Directors of Public 
Health and Heads of Transport were requested to cascade the information to 
relevant officers within their authorities.

6.3 Public Health England as a key partner to the Transport Strategy 2040 has 
been closely involved in the development of the indicators and targets and 
was consulted and commented on draft proposals.

7 Recommendations

7.1 That Transport Committee note the progress in delivering the West Yorkshire 
Transport Strategy 2040.

7.2 That subject to comments at this meeting, the Transport Committee endorses 
the proposals for the indicators and targets for the West Yorkshire Transport 
Strategy 2040 to proceed to the next available meeting of the WYCA for 
adoption.

8 Background Documents

West Yorkshire Transport Strategy 2040 - accessed at: 
https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/media/2664/transport-strategy-2040.pdf

13

https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/media/2664/transport-strategy-2040.pdf


9 Appendices

Appendix 1 - The proposed Transport Strategy 2040 Performance 
Management Framework of targets and indictors 

14



WY Transport Strategy Monitoring Framework Page 1

1.1 THE PROPOSED SHAPE OF THE TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 PERFORMANCE MONITORING FRAMEWORK OF INDICATORS AND TARGETS 

15

A
genda Item

 5
A

ppendix 1



WY Transport Strategy Monitoring Framework Page 2

Detail of the proposal for the Transport Strategy Performance Management Framework 
Page 1 - Overall shape of the Performance Management Framework 
Page 3 - Proposals for the additional mode target - Car 
Page 4 - Proposals for the additional mode target - Walking
Page 5 - Headline indicator and target for Inclusive Growth, Environment, Health and Well-being 
Page 6 - Headline indicator and target for the Road Network 
Page 7 - Headline indicator and target for Places to Live and Work 
Page 8 - Headline indicator and target for One System Public Transport 
Page 9 - Headline indicator and target for Smart Futures
Page 10 - Headline indicator and target for Asset Management 

16



WY Transport Strategy Monitoring Framework Page 3

1.2 PROPOSALS FOR THE ADDITIONAL MODE TARGETS - CAR

Engagement with West Yorkshire partners and stakeholders identified a recommendation to set a target 
for the total number of annual car trips made by West Yorkshire residents. The setting of a target requires 
understanding of the current trajectory in terms of the historic trend and potential trajectory of car trips. 
The chart below details the number of car trips within West Yorkshire between 2004 and 2016 (from the 
National Travel Survey) and four potential scenarios in terms of setting a mid-term target for 2027. 

Options for the target-setting

A. The high-growth scenario represents a 15% increase in car trips - reflecting the average growth in trips 
between 2004 and 2011.

B. The medium growth scenario reflects the Department for Transport’s TEMPRO forecast of an 8.8% 
increase in car trips. This is probably the best estimate assuming additional action is not undertaken to 
arrest the growth in trips. 

C. This reduced car trips scenario reflects a reduction in car trips to the 2011 level (– the previous 
WYLTP3 target). This would require a 3.5% decrease in the number of car trips by 2027. The trajectory 
of this scenario assumes that strategy interventions have an effect from 2021 onwards.

D. This reduced car trips scenario also reflects a reduction in car trips to the 2011 level.  The trajectory of 
this scenario assumes that strategy interventions have an effect immediately.

The Transport Strategy supports mode shift to more sustainable transport options, and stakeholder input 
indicates a preference for an ambitious target to be set for reducing the number of future car trips. 

Option C would reflect these two compatible aims described above, whilst also taking into account that 
the Transport Strategy interventions will begin to have an impact in the early 2020s (with car trips 
reducing at this point and beyond). In reality an outcome that results in the total number of car trips at a 
level between B and C in 2027 is likely to represent success.

17



WY Transport Strategy Monitoring Framework Page 4

1.3 PROPOSALS FOR THE ADDITIONAL MODE TARGETS – WALKING

The latest data show that almost half a billion walking trips (of greater than one mile) took place in West 
Yorkshire annually (National Travel Survey).

Plotted are two target trajectories to 2027:

A. The upward trajectory is a 10% increase in walking trips, reflecting both changes in population and 
aspiration related to the Transport Strategy. 

B. The flat trajectory reflects that the overall change in walking trips between 2011 and 2016 has been 
approximately zero, and continues this trend forward. 

The former (A) is more likely, and includes ambition related to the Transport Strategy. 

Therefore a 2027 target of a 10% increase in walking trips is recommended. 

18



WY Transport Strategy Monitoring Framework Page 5

1.4 KEY INDICATOR FOR INCLUSIVE GROWTH, ENVIRONMENT, HEALTH AND WELL-BEING

This theme covers a wide number of areas linked to the well-being of West Yorkshire’s population in 
relation to transport. The key indicator for this theme will track the level of accessibility that West 
Yorkshire’s most deprived communities have to employment via bus, compared to car.

The key indicator is proposed as:

 Defined as the percentage of WY jobs accessible by bus compared to car from deprived areas in a 
given travel time

 Has a baseline result of 25% (car users can access four times more jobs than bus users)
 Has a mid-term (2027) target of increasing to 35%

19



WY Transport Strategy Monitoring Framework Page 6

1.5 KEY INDICATOR FOR THE ROAD NETWORK THEME

The key indicator for this theme is the West Yorkshire Mode Share. 

The recommended targets are as follows

Mode Car Bus Train Cycle Walk Motorcycle Other

Baseline Share (2016) 69% 7% 1% 1% 21% 0% 1%

Mid-term target share 63% 8% 2% 3% 22% 0% 1%

The West Yorkshire mode share targets are determined by the growth targets set for each of the key 
transport modes. 

Potential target levels for the number of car trips are set out on page 3 of this Appendix. This has assumed 
a target to reduce the number of car trips to the level set by the WYLTP3 target (-3.5%, Option C on page 3 
of this Appendix). 

Adopting the target of a 3.5% decrease in the number of car trips would mean that as a proportion of the 
total trips made:

 Car trips would reduce from 69% to 63%.
 Bus and train trips would each increase by 1%, to 8% and 2% respectively. 
 Cycle trips would increase by 2% to 3%. 
 Walking trips would increase 21% to 22%. 

20



WY Transport Strategy Monitoring Framework Page 7

1.6 KEY INDICATOR FOR PLACES TO LIVE AND WORK

The proposed key indicator is number of Killed or Seriously Injured (KSI) casualties on West Yorkshire 
roads. 

904 886

2011 2016 2027
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

1100

1200

1300

West Yorkshire Total KSI (actual)

New trajectory 
required

Target: 42% KSI 
reduction by 2027 

Key indicator target

The target for this key indicator has been developed based on previous experience with the West Yorkshire 
Local Transport Plan (WYLTP3). For LTP3, the target was to reduce KSIs by 50% between 2011 and 2025. 
Monitoring data shows that KSI injuries in WY have reduced by 2% during the implementation years (2011-
2016).

This target was particularly ambitious given the already low rates of KSIs. Nevertheless, reducing KSIs 
further is a key aim of the adopted Transport Strategy, and therefore it is recommended that a similar mid-
point target should be adopted. 

Meeting the pre-existing LTP3 target requires a 42% reduction in KSI’s from 2016 levels. This is the level 
reflected in the chart above, and is recommended.

WYLTP3
Target trajectory

21



WY Transport Strategy Monitoring Framework Page 8

1.7 KEY INDICATOR FOR ONE SYSTEM PUBLIC TRANSPORT

The key indicator for this theme is satisfaction with public transport.

7.0 6.8
8.0

2011 2016 2027
1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Satisfaction with PT (actual) Target trajectory
Score (1-10)

Key indicator target

The key indicator is a composite of public satisfaction with both bus and rail. The baseline value is 6.8 (on a 
1-10 scale). The historic trend of this indicator is approximately flat. 

A score of 7.0 has previously been considered the threshold for success, however given the high baseline 
score, and the ambition of the Transport Strategy, it is proposed that the 2027 target for this indicator is 
set at 8.0. 

The ambition of this target is acknowledged, and will be kept under review as the strategy develops. 

22



WY Transport Strategy Monitoring Framework Page 9

1.8 KEY INDICATOR FOR SMART FUTURES

The key indicator is presently set as the proportion of bus trips that are paid for using smartcard or 
mobile ticket technology. 

However, Transport for the North (TfN) will imminently report their own indicators and methodologies in 
this area. It is proposed that TfN’s work will be integrated into the West Yorkshire Transport Strategy 
Performance Management Framework.  

Therefore the indicators below, including the key indicator, will be reviewed when the TfN work 
becomes available.    

SF1: Confidence in using the best value 
for money ticket

SF2: Number of bus stops with RTI 
screens

SF3: Overall satisfaction with public 
transport information

SF4 : Reliability of the WY Key Route 
Network (KRN)

SF5: Percentage of KRN which is 
adaptive

SF6: Businesses perception of transport 
information provision and road condition

Informed by TfN

Smartcard / m-ticket transactions 
(%)

23



WY Transport Strategy Monitoring Framework Page 10

1.9 KEY INDICATOR FOR ASSET MANAGEMENT AND RESILIENCE

The key indicator for this theme is public satisfaction with infrastructure.

Key indicator target

The key indicator for this theme is a composite of key satisfaction indicators for infrastructure (roads, cycle 
paths, footways and street lighting).

Public satisfaction in recent years has been around 50%, with a baseline value of 54%.

A public satisfaction target of 70% is proposed - this is an ambitious aim. Performance will be kept under 
review as the strategy is implemented.

24



WY Transport Strategy Monitoring Framework Page 11

1.10 DEVELOPMENT PROCESS

The below describes the process of developing the Transport Strategy Performance Framework of 
indicators and targets.

1) Generation of a list of potential indicators, including but not limited to:

 West Yorkshire Local Transport Plan (LTP3, 2011-26)
 West Yorkshire Transport Strategy 2040, Evidence Base and consultation responses
 Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan and evidence base
 Comparable CA’s Transport Strategies
 Public Health England Outcomes Framework
 Government Statistics (DfT, DEFRA, etc.)
 ONS key statistics

2) Matching exercise to identify how indicators captured the Strategy’s policy proposals

3) Audit process for all indicators - scoring indicators against eight criteria

4) Selection of a list of proposed indicators by theme, among those with the highest scores, based on: 

 Their ability to capture each theme’s specific outcomes
 Their ability to capture the cross-cutting theme of the Strategy (Inclusive growth, Environment, 

Health and Well-being) 

5) Feedback from stakeholders

 West Yorkshire Combined Authority Overview & Scrutiny Committee Transport Working Group
 West Yorkshire Combined Authority Policy and Strategy teams
 West Yorkshire Heads of Transport, Transport and Highways Managers and Network 

Management, Asset Management, Safer Roads and transport monitoring officers
 West Yorkshire Districts Directors of Public Health 
 Public Health England (Yorkshire and Humber)

6) Respond to feedback

 Adjust shape of indicator set
 Add/remove Indicators

7) Set proposed targets (see proposals in preceding appendix 1)

25



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Transport Committee

Date:  16 March 2018

Subject:  Bus Strategy Update

Director: Dave Pearson, Director of Transport Services

Author(s): Dave Pearson

Is this a key decision? ☐ Yes    ☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? ☐ Yes    ☒ No
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or 
appendices? ☐ Yes    ☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local Government 
Act 1972, Part 1:

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 To update the Committee on progress in delivering the Combined Authority’s 
Bus Strategy 2040.

2 Information

2.1 The Combined Authority adopted the Bus Strategy 2014 in August 2017 
following extensive consultation. 

2.2 The Strategy seeks to create a modern, integrated and innovative bus system, 
which puts customers first and contributes to the delivery if the economic, 
environmental and quality of life ambitions as set out in the Strategic 
Economic Plan and the West Yorkshire Transport Strategy.

2.3 The Bus Strategy sets out actions in the following areas to address the 
feedback emerging from the Combined Authority’s consultation;

 Your customer experience
 Your bus journey
 Paying for travel
 Planning your journey

27

Agenda Item 6



 The environment
 Accessibility

Performance Management

2.4 The Bus Strategy seeks grow the number of bus passengers in the region by 
25% over the next ten years against a background of national decline in 
patronage. In December 2017, the Department for Transport issued its latest 
statistical report on bus services in the UK that demonstrates continuing 
decline in bus use. The Bus Strategy is seeking to reverse this trend.

 150 million bus passenger journeys were made in West Yorkshire in 
2016/17. 

 Patronage in our region is falling in line with other parts of the UK.

 Since 2004/5 bus patronage has fallen by 6% in our region compared with 
8% across all metropolitan areas in England excluding London. 

2.5 The DfT statistics also revealed that the number of miles operated by buses in 
West Yorkshire has reduced by 9.4% since 2014/15. Whilst this reduction is in 
line with the national trend and is less than in neighbouring conurbations it 
illustrates a reducing availability of service. 

2.6 Results are awaited in early March from the 2017 Transport Focus Bus 
Passenger Survey that includes 15,000 interviews with bus passengers across 
the region. In 2016, 82% of respondents were happy with their bus service 
with 57% happy with value for money and 67% satisfied with punctuality.  In 
the Combined Authority’s 2017 Tracker Survey overall satisfaction with bus 
services dropped slightly from 7.2 to 6.9; in this survey 7.0 is the benchmark 
for customer satisfaction.  Increasing the positive responses from such market 
research is a key outcome from the Bus Strategy. 

2.7 Punctuality and reliability is the most important element of the service for 
customers. Data from the realtime information system is being used both to 
measure performance and to inform and direct improvements. From January 
2018, bus operators and the Combined Authority have been measuring bus 
punctuality performance and will publish a quarterly update which will be 
reported to the Committee. A full report on the Bus Strategy performance 
framework will be reported to the next meeting of the Committee.

Bus Services Act 

2.8 The Combined Authority is making progress to implement its Bus Strategy 
through the informal partnership arrangements pending the application of 
formal powers under the Bus Services Act which was enacted in May 2017.  
The Act enables formal partnerships between Local Transport Authorities 
(LTAs) and Bus Companies together with powers to adopt franchising.  In 
November 2017, the Secretary of State issued guidance on the use of the 
powers contained in the Bus Services Act. A detailed assessment of the DfT 

28



guidance is underway and a paper will be presented to the Committee setting 
out the options available. 

2.9 The Act provides mayoral LTAs direct access to powers to franchise local bus 
services. The Combined Authority is not a mayoral authority and would need 
to make application to the Secretary of State should it seek to progress 
towards franchising. The details of the process and criteria to be adopted by 
the Secretary of State are awaited. Following a discussion at the Leeds City 
Council meeting in January, the Council resolved to write to the Secretary of 
State advising that the Authority is seeking to progress franchising powers.

2.10 A business case for franchise powers would need to demonstrate that the 
alternative options have been considered including the partnership provisions 
available in the Act. This report sets out progress to date in addressing the 
short term actions needed to deliver the bus strategy under an informal 
arrangement entitled Bus 18 pending a decision on the adoption of formal 
partnership provisions.

Bus 18

2.11 The Bus 18 initiative was developed with bus operators to deliver immediate 
actions to implement the Strategy by the end of 2018. The Bus 18 initiative 
was formally launched in Bradford on 24 March 2017 when the Combined 
Authority and the bus operators made the following pledges to address issues 
which are important to passengers: 

 To make buses easy to use, we will develop a simpler bus network with 
fewer changes, more reliable services, smarter information and more ways 
to pay in advance. 

 To reduce emissions, we will introduce more environmentally friendly 
buses with less emissions to improve air quality. 

 To improve customer satisfaction and passenger experience, we will 
agree a customer promise to increase satisfaction with bus travel and 
engage with young people to understand what is needed to make buses 
more useful to them.

2.12 The following progress was made in 2017 on the Bus 18 themes: 

 Ticketing - a Day Saver smart ticket has been launched which enables 
customers to buy travel by the day (a “carnet”) which particularly helps 
part time workers.  The MCard android phone app is now available 
enabling customers to top up their smartcard.  

 Network Stability - an agreement has been made with bus operators to 
consult on major bus route changes and to limit changes to six times of 
the year 

 Young People - engagement with Leeds and Bradford Youth Parliaments 
has informed the development of young people’s ticketing initiatives 

29



 Air Quality - buses in West Yorkshire now display an Eco Star rating 
which identifies their environmental performance. Fleet replacement plans 
are being agreed with operators 

 Punctuality and Reliability - a £1m programme of work to address 
locations on the highway which impact on bus “punctuality (“hotspots”) is 
now in progress. An update is available on this agenda. 

 Customer Service - any customers not happy with their bus journey can 
claim a free travel voucher from the major bus operators. Customers can 
call a taxi and claim the cost back from either First, Arriva or Transdev if 
their last bus doesn’t arrive within 20 minutes of the scheduled time. 

 Information - WYCA and bus operators have collaborated on a new 
design for bus stop information which is being rolled out from February 
2018. 

2.13 In November 2017 the Combined Authority Transport Committee adopted the 
following priorities for the Bus 18 initiative

 Young People - a strongly promoted, discounted “go anywhere” day ticket 
 Air Quality - to maximise the funding opportunities provided by central 

government to facilitate low emission buses 

 Punctuality and Reliability - a strong focus on punctuality and reliability 
with clear visibility of performance against targets 

 Customer Confidence - a campaign to increase public awareness of the 
recent investment in buses and the steps taken to increase patronage 

2.14 Progress has been made on the priorities as follows

 Young People - arrangements have been made to ensure young people 
under 16 can take advantage of concessionary fares when wearing school 
uniform. Plans are being made to launch a new “go anywhere” ticket in the 
summer holidays aimed at young people who occasionally use the bus. It 
is proposed to simplify the eligibility passes and ticket products aimed at 
people under 25. This will be reported back to Transport Committee as 
part of a review of the young people’s Concessionary Travel scheme.  

 Air Quality - as reported elsewhere on this agenda, the Combined 
Authority and Leeds City Council were successful in securing a grant of 
£4.1 million to upgrade mid-life buses to meet the air quality standards that 
will become required under Clean Air Zones. 

 Punctuality and Reliability - bus operators and the Combined Authority 
have agreed a punctuality monitoring scheme effective from January 2018 
which will involve periodic reporting of performance against targets – the 
first quarter report will be provided to the next meeting of the Committee

 Customer Confidence - public relations events have begun to increase 
public awareness of the recent investment in buses and the steps taken to 
increase patronage

30



2.15 In order to embed the principles of Bus 18 amongst the staff working to deliver 
bus services throughout the City Region, a conference was held of key staff in 
the industry on 26 February. Improving arrangements in times of travel 
disruption was a key theme of this session. An agreement for bus companies 
to accept each others’ tickets at these times was discussed and enacted two 
days later during the period of heavy snow.

Punctuality and Reliability - Bus Hotspot Programme Update

2.16 Workshops were held with bus operators and highway officers under the Bus 
18 initiative to identify a number schemes which would alleviate delays for 
buses due to traffic congestion. A number of actions by all parties were 
identified to address the caused of punctuality problems 

2.17  This work formed the Bus Hotspot ‘Punctuality & Reliability’ programme of 
total value £1.037m approved by Transport Committee on 7 July 2017. An 
update on progress with this programme is provided on a separate item on 
this agenda.

Beyond Bus 18 

2.18 A further appraisal of the success of Bus 18 will be presented to the Transport 
Committee later in the year together with proposals for a more formal 
partnership under the provisions of the Bus Services Act.

3 Financial Implications

3.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report.

4 Legal Implications

4.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.

5 Staffing Implications

5.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report.

6 External Consultees

6.1 No external consultations have been undertaken.

7 Recommendations

7.1 That the Committee endorses the work to date in implementing the Bus 
Strategy.

7.2 That a further report setting out the performance management framework for 
the Bus Strategy be presented to the next meeting of the Committee. 

31



8 Background Documents

Bus Strategy 2014 and associated documents are available on the following 
link https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/transport/bus-strategy/  

9 Appendices

None. 

32

https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/transport/bus-strategy/


Report to: Transport Committee

Date:  16 March 2018

Subject:  Cycling Update

Director: Liz Hunter, Interim Director of Policy and Strategy

Author(s): Ambrose White

Is this a key decision? ☐ Yes    ☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? ☒ Yes    ☐ No
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or 
appendices? ☐ Yes    ☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local Government 
Act 1972, Part 1:

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 To inform Transport Committee of developments relating to cycling issues in 
West Yorkshire, seek endorsement of an application to participate in Sustrans’ 
Bike Life programme, and seek support for implementation of a public bicycle 
sharing scheme in Leeds.

2 Information

Background

Public Bike Share

2.1 Public Bicycle Sharing schemes (more commonly known as Public Bike 
Share) are in operation in a number of cities in the UK and world-wide. In the 
UK, schemes are operating in 17 cities, including Bristol, Cambridge, 
Glasgow, Oxford, Liverpool, Manchester, Nottingham, Newcastle, and 
Sheffield.

2.2 Two main operating models have emerged:

33

Agenda Item 7



 Station-based/docked systems: controlled by or operated on behalf of 
local authorities using fixed docking stations installed on street (for 
example the Santander Cycles system in London). Operators include 
Nextbike and Hourbike.

 “Dockless” systems: bikes are parked on street or on private land but 
unsecured to any physical features and unlocked using a smartphone 
based app. Bikes are fitted with integral on board lock with GPS tracking 
which allows the operator to ensure bikes are parked within a specific 
cordon, or “geo-fence”. Dockless schemes work through efficient pricing 
with an incentivised hire structure to encourage compliance in terms of the 
parking “rules” and boundaries. This model operates as wholly commercial 
schemes with no capital or revenue costs to local authorities – but in 
general are now being implemented through agreement with the local 
authority.

2.3 Public Bike Share systems offer a number of benefits including:

 Providing a low cost and flexible mobility offer providing access to bikes 
with reduced barriers to use (e.g. cost of ownership); especially for 
younger people, those in the Higher and Further Education sectors, large 
employers, and disadvantaged communities living close to urban centres.

 Offering an alternative mode for short trips within urban areas, offering the 
potential for improved air quality and reduced congestion.

 Providing ‘first and last mile’ links from public transport journeys, 
potentially reducing traffic congestion and stimulating increased public 
transport patronage.

 Contributes to delivery of the West Yorkshire Transport Strategy and other 
local strategies (for example, partner council cycling, physical activity and 
air quality strategies, as well as the West Yorkshire Low Emission 
Strategy).

 Complement existing hire and loan offers by offering access to bikes for 
single trips rather than all-day use or longer term loans that most loan and 
hire schemes offer.

2.4 West Yorkshire Combined Authority (“the Combined Authority”) and its partner 
councils have identified interest in implementing schemes and the West 
Yorkshire Transport Strategy includes a policy to implement behaviour change 
programmes that improve access to bikes through grants and sharing 
schemes. The desire to implement these types of schemes has also been 
identified as part of partner councils’ own strategies, for example Leeds City 
Council’s (LCC) Cycling Starts Here Strategy which was endorsed in June 
2017 and includes an action to establish a cycle hire scheme, recognising the 
potential to widen participation in cycling in the city and extending the utility of 
cycling to a broader cross section of the community.

2.5 Partner councils have received enquiries from different operators about 
establishing systems within West Yorkshire. LCC officers have undertaken 

34



research into different operators and operating models in a number of cities in 
the UK, working with Bike Plus, the national accreditation body for the Bike 
Share industry to understand the business, best practice and opportunities 
now available to the market and Leeds.

2.6 A stakeholder day was held in August 2017 by LCC in association with Bike 
Plus which included presentations from officers from the Combined Authority 
on the fit with wider WY transport policy and Bradford Council on the potential 
for a cross-boundary system. The stakeholder day was intended to get 
different organisations from across the city together to introduce the concept 
and get feedback on what they might want to see from a bike sharing system, 
as well as garner support from organisations and businesses.

2.7 Following stakeholder input and further discussions with BikePlus, LCC 
produced a Prospectus outlining their expectations for a scheme, and invited 
proposals from selected operators to meet the requirements for a scheme that 
is not dependent on council funding. Of the proposals received, LCC identified 
Ofo1 as providing the best alignment with the ambitions and expectations of 
the council. Ofo are a BikePlus accredited dockless bike share operator 
currently operating in Cambridge, London, Norwich, Oxford, and Sheffield.

2.8 LCC Executive Board have now endorsed the establishment of a bike share 
scheme in Leeds, and have agreed to further discussions with Ofo as the 
preferred operator with the view to entering into an agreement to implement a 
scheme.

2.9 The scheme would be introduced through a Memorandum of Agreement 
between Ofo and LCC for an initial 12 month period. Further details of the 
scheme, including the initial cordon, the location of Preferred Parking Zones 
and the arrangements for managing the scheme on the ground are to be 
developed as part of the next stage of work.

2.10 Ofo and LCC have agreed to continue to work with officers from the Combined 
Authority on the details of the scheme and alignment of communications 
between partners (including the CityConnect Communications and 
Engagement team) to maximise the opportunities for promotion, awareness-
raising and take up.

2.11 In terms of implications for the Combined Authority, the implementation of a 
bike share scheme in Leeds will contribute to the delivery of the West 
Yorkshire Transport Strategy; in particular helping deliver policy 13 (which 
identifies provision of programmes to provide access to bikes through grant 
and sharing schemes), and the interim target to increase cycling levels by 
300% by 2027.

2.12 Other potential impacts relevant to the Combined Authority include:

1 https://www.ofo.com/uk/en

35



 changes to travel behaviour for short journeys – bike share may replace 
some car, walking, taxi and bus trips, based on evidence from BikePlus 
national surveys. Bike share will also offer possibilities for new ways of 
making journeys in the future (for example, using bike to access rail 
stations) or increasing the amount of travel made (by making more 
locations accessible within a certain travel time)

 Impact on private landowners as well as the highways authority – in terms 
of bikes being parked on private land. Private landowners will be able to 
contact Ofo through the city manager if issues arise. This may affect 
Network Rail as the owners of Leeds Station and discussions between Ofo 
and Network Rail are expected as part of the development of the scheme.

2.13 Dockless Public Bike Share Operators have also shown interest in 
implementation in other locations within West Yorkshire, including 
Huddersfield and Bradford. The Combined Authority has offered to support 
partner councils in discussions with operators and to help communicate 
lessons from implementation in Leeds to other partner councils.

2.14 Although as wholly commercial ventures, any future locations for dockless 
bike share in West Yorkshire will be guided by the expected commercial 
viability of any scheme, the Combined Authority will seek to influence operator 
decision making when choosing future locations based on interest from 
partner councils.

Sustrans Bike Life

2.15 In February 2018, Sustrans announced an application process for cities to 
participate in their Bike Life programme for the period 2018-22. Bike Life is a 
multi-year monitoring, evaluation and communication programme, which 
started in 2015 with participation to date from Belfast, Birmingham, Bristol, 
Cardiff, Edinburgh, Greater Manchester and Newcastle. Bike Life collects data 
on levels of cycling and attitudes towards cycling from cyclists and non-
cyclists, with the aim of helping decision-makers and the wider public to 
understand current and potential cycling behaviour, the impacts of this 
behaviour on health, congestion and the economy and levels of support for 
cycling and investment in cycling.

2.16 Participation in the programme is considered to provide useful benefits in data 
collection, evaluation and promotion around cycling for the Combined 
Authority and partner councils, complementing the Transport Strategy 
Performance Management Framework (see Item 5) and monitoring and 
evaluation work being carried out as part of the Local Transport Plan 
Implementation Plan 3 programme. 

2.17 Participation is also considered to provide good value for money. Participant 
cities/regions are required to make a 33% contribution to the overall 
programme costs for each city which total £180,000 over the four year period, 
meaning that participation provides the opportunity to leverage an additional 
£120,000 for monitoring and evaluation from Sustrans and their private sector 
partners.  The £15,000 p.a. local contribution is proposed to be funded from 

36



the Local Transport Plan Implementation Plan 3 Monitoring and Evaluation 
allocation approved by Transport Committee in July 2017.

2.18 The Combined Authority has submitted an application to Sustrans for West 
Yorkshire to become one of the three additional cities/regions that will be 
invited to participate in the programme alongside the seven existing participant 
cities/regions. The approach to submit an application for West Yorkshire was 
discussed with partner councils and the application proposes that additional 
contributions could be made from partner councils to enable additional data 
collection and evaluation to be undertaken where desired.

Department for Transport (DfT) Cycle City Ambition - Cycle Safety Funding 
2018/19

2.19 In February 2018, as part of a wider cycle safety review the Department for 
Transport announced an additional funding allocation totalling £6.5 million 
available to the eight Cycle City Ambition Grant cities (including West 
Yorkshire) for schemes that improve road safety, helping to create more bike-
friendly areas. Each of the Cycle City Ambition Grant cities can submit up to 
two applications for schemes costing a maximum of £3 million, for delivery in 
2018/19.

2.20 The Combined Authority asked partner councils to identify suitable schemes 
for submission and applications have been submitted for the two schemes out 
of the list that provide the greatest potential benefits in terms of reducing 
numbers of cyclist casualties have been prioritised. The submitted schemes 
are:

 Rochdale Canal towpath improvement (Todmorden to Hebden Bridge): 
providing a high quality cycling and walking route along a 6km section, 
joining to the scheme currently being delivered through the CityConnect 
programme. This will provide an alternative to the on-highway route on the 
A646 where twelve cyclist casualties have been recorded between 2012 
and 2017, of which four were serious injuries.

 A653 Dewsbury Road, Leeds: extension of the current Dewsbury Road 
safety scheme to existing facilities providing a continuous route through to 
the Leeds Cycle Hub and Urban Bike Park in Middleton Park. In the last 
five years over a quarter of all collisions recorded involved cyclists, and 
four serious injuries recorded out of twenty six casualties. 

2.21 If successful, schemes funded through this additional funding are proposed to 
be taken through the Assurance Framework process and integrated into the 
CityConnect programme for delivery.

3 Financial Implications

3.1 If successful in applying, participation in Sustrans' Bike Life 2018-22 would 
require a local contribution of £15,000 per annum for 4 years (total £60,000). 
The Local Transport Plan Implementation Plan 3 (IP3) Monitoring and 
Evaluation allocation is proposed as a source for the local contribution.

37



3.2 There is a risk that the annual contribution in 2019/20 and 2020/21 would be 
subject to Combined Authority approval of a detailed IP3 programme, 
including similar allocations for Monitoring and Evaluation for the final 3 years 
of IP3 (2019-22). This is not expected to be a significant risk as funding for 
Monitoring and Evaluation has been agreed for a number of years as part of 
LTP programmes in previous years as well as within the current 2 year 
programme. Transport Committee are asked to note this as it will be asked to 
approve the programme for subsequent years.

3.3 If any applications submitted to the Department for Transport Cycle Safety 
Fund 2018/19 were successful, the Department for Transport would award 
funding to West Yorkshire Combined Authority, which would require grant to 
be claimed and paid by the end of March 2018.

3.4 Any schemes successful in securing funding would be taken through the 
Assurance Pathway, and approval for expenditure would be sought from 
Combined Authority with endorsement from Investment Committee.

4 Legal Implications

4.1 If successful in applying, participation in Sustrans' Bike Life 2018-22 would 
require entering into a Memorandum of Understanding with Sustrans.

4.2 If any applications submitted to the Department for Transport Cycle Safety 
Fund 2018/19 were successful, acceptance of the grant offer from the 
Department for Transport would require adherence with grant conditions. 
These would be supplied with the grant offer letter but are expected to be the 
same as those stipulated for previous Cycle City Ambition Grant awards.

5 Staffing Implications

5.1 If successful in applying, participation in Sustrans' Bike Life 2018-22 would 
involve officers from the Combined Authority's Research and Intelligence, 
CityConnect and Transport Policy teams, using existing resources.

5.2 If any applications submitted to the Department for Transport Cycle Safety 
Fund 2018/19 were successful, scheme delivery would be led by the relevant 
partner councils. Programme Management resource to oversee delivery is 
already in place through the wider CityConnect programme.

6 External Consultees

6.1 Officers from partner councils have been involved in the drafting of this report

7 Recommendations

7.1 Transport Committee is recommended to note the progress on implementation 
of Public Bike Sharing schemes in West Yorkshire

38



7.2 Transport Committee is recommended to support Leeds City Council in the 
implementation of a Public Bike Sharing scheme in the city.

7.3 Transport Committee is recommended to endorse the submission of an 
application to participate in Sustrans' Bike Life 2018-22 programme

7.4 Transport Committee is recommended to note and endorse the submission of 
funding applications for the Rochdale Canal Towpath Improvement 
(Todmorden to Hebden Bridge) and A653 Dewsbury Road, Leeds schemes.to 
the Department for Transport's Cycle Safety Fund 2018/19

8 Background Documents

Leeds City Council Executive Board Report
http://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s170944/Cycling%20Starts%20Her
e%20Cover%20Report%20Appendix%201%20260118.pdf   

Bike Plus Public Bike Share Users Survey Results 2017 
https://www.carplusbikeplus.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Public-Bike-
Share-User-Survey-2017-A4-WEB-1.pdf 

9 Appendices

None. 

39

http://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s170944/Cycling%20Starts%20Here%20Cover%20Report%20Appendix%201%20260118.pdf
http://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s170944/Cycling%20Starts%20Here%20Cover%20Report%20Appendix%201%20260118.pdf
https://www.carplusbikeplus.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Public-Bike-Share-User-Survey-2017-A4-WEB-1.pdf
https://www.carplusbikeplus.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Public-Bike-Share-User-Survey-2017-A4-WEB-1.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Transport Committee

Date:  16 March 2018

Subject:  Mobility As A Service

Director: Liz Hunter, Interim Director, Policy and Strategy 

Author(s): Kate Gifford, Alistair Ryder

Is this a key decision? ☐ Yes     ☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? ☒ Yes     ☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or 
appendices? ☐ Yes     ☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local Government 
Act 1972, Part 1:

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 To provide the Transport Committee with an update on strategy work 
undertaken to date and to request endorsement of the proposed forward work 
plan on Mobility as a Service. 

2 Information

Definition of Mobility as a Service

2.1 In order for the Combined Authority to deliver the agreed savings against the 
current financial levy spend, it is essential that new and innovative ways of 
providing transport services, payment and journey planning are explored 
which will allow both supported and commercial transport services to be 
provided at a lower cost than is currently possible. The development of 
Mobility as a Service (MaaS) is one of the important components of this future 
transport provision. 

2.2 MaaS is the provision of integrated travel options, linking all modes together 
to make an easy alternative to the private car. This service is usually provided 
through a user interface (either an app or a website) that allows users to plan, 
book and pay for their travel through a single mobility account. This app would 

41

Agenda Item 8



help to improve access to existing transport modes but in order to make this 
possible it will require some changes to our service provision.

2.3 In the future, users will also be able to purchase ‘bundles’ of different travel 
services, from their home (via the web) or on the go (via their smartphone). 
Users will be able to select a package of different transport options in a similar 
way to how subscription television services are currently offered. This might 
include bus and rail services, taxi, car club and cycle hire, for example.

2.4 MaaS harnesses the technologies of live travel information and user interface 
(smartphone, tablet) to offer a reliable and flexible transport service that 
dynamically adjusts to user needs and traffic conditions. It also potentially 
creates capital and revenue efficiencies for the operator/funder. MaaS also 
has the ability to help support the budget savings required to the tendered bus 
service budget up to 2021, as set out in the January report to Transport 
Committee on Business Planning.  It will be important to consider new and 
innovative ways in which these services can be delivered to those who need 
it, including through the aggregation of transport services via an app.

2.5 Over the coming decade, the ways in which transport services are provided 
will change. This will be driven by innovations in vehicle technology including 
autonomous vehicles (AVs), payment technologies including contactless and 
new forms of delivering transport services through mobile apps such as Uber 
and Ofo. These innovations will change and will disrupt established patterns 
of demand for transport and the traditional business models that support it.

2.6 The development of a MaaS app will also enable the aggregation of demand 
for transport services which might in some locations enable transport to be 
provided by more innovative means. For example if sufficient people register 
a need to travel from A to B this could stimulate a provider to operate a “crowd 
funded” bus service. 

Policy Context

2.7 The MaaS sector is developing at a fast pace and other Cities and public 
authorities both in the UK and Europe are starting to develop pilots to test 
different ways of delivering MaaS. The UK Government is currently 
developing its policy on MaaS and has recently opened an Inquiry and call for 
evidence1 to gather global experiences on MaaS to date and to understand 
the barriers to implementation of MaaS and how these can be addressed. 
This evidence will help to shape the Government’s role in the development of 
MaaS going forwards. The Combined Authority plans to submit written 
evidence to the Inquiry in due course and this will be presented to the 
Committee at a future meeting. 

1 https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/transport-
committee/inquiries/parliament-2017/mobility-as-a-service-17-19/ 

42

https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/transport-committee/inquiries/parliament-2017/mobility-as-a-service-17-19/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/transport-committee/inquiries/parliament-2017/mobility-as-a-service-17-19/


  2.8 Officers are also actively engaged in dialogue with other cities to understand 
current best practice and plan to bring a summary of experiences from 
elsewhere to a future Transport Committee meeting.

2.9 The development of a MaaS offer that enables customers to purchase travel 
through a mobility account is one of the commitments set out in the West 
Yorkshire Transport Strategy2.  The emerging Local Inclusive Industrial 
Strategy has inclusive growth at its core and MaaS could play an important 
role in delivering this objective. 

2.10 The strategic priorities outlined in the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) could be 
supported by MaaS – particularly the ‘growing business’ and ‘infrastructure for 
growth’ objectives. In addition, MaaS can also help to deliver the following 
policy priorities: 

a) Delivering agreed savings against current financial levy spend3 - 
MaaS has the potential to help achieve committed financial savings 
particularly for tendered bus services by helping to aggregate demand 
and ensure that best use is being made of existing vehicle assets.

b) Improving connectivity - MaaS can help to improve transport 
connectivity by enabling the planning of multi-modal journeys and also 
payment through a single mobility account. One of the key themes in 
the SEP is improving access to jobs – the development of MaaS would 
work alongside plans to develop M Card usage and promote transport 
options for job seekers. Delivery of MaaS is also seen as an essential 
component of the Leeds City Region HS2 Connectivity Strategy4. 

c) Delivering inclusive growth – The application of MaaS to improving 
access to employment for rural or disadvantaged communities can help 
to deliver transport services in new or innovative ways. This can help to 
achieve the inclusive growth ambitions set out in the emerging Local 
Inclusive Industrial Strategy and the West Yorkshire Transport 
Strategy5. 

d) Incentivising sustainable travel behaviour - A MaaS application 
could help to incentivise sustainable travel behaviour – contributing to 
improved health and quality of life as outlined in the SEP’s 
Transformative Vision “to be a globally recognised economy where 
good growth delivers high levels of prosperity, jobs and quality of life 
for everyone6” 

e) Improve levels of bus usage - MaaS will help to tackle the challenges 
customers face in making complex journeys in West Yorkshire’s de-
regulated bus market, which can be difficult given the complex ticketing 

2 Page 47 (policy 52)
3 See the January 2018 report “2018/19 Revenue Budget Implications for Service Delivery”
4 Leeds City Region HS2 Connectivity Strategy – draft January 2018 (pg. 15)
5 Page 31 (policies 1 – 4 and 5)
6 West Yorkshire Transport Strategy 2040 pg. 49

43



system.  It can help to ensure that customers can purchase the most 
appropriate ticket for their journey and also can assist customers in 
understanding unfamiliar route options. MaaS may also have a role in 
developing a more efficient means of maintaining local accessibility to 
the current subsidised bus provision.

f) Partnership working with new technology – Uber and similar 
services have become popular because they are responsive to 
customer needs. However the additional traffic congestion which could 
arise from their continued growth would suggest that a MaaS offer 
which integrates all modes of transport would be more effective in 
meeting the Combined Authority’s strategic objectives.

g) Providing services to communities that are hard to reach – MaaS 
and the provision of on demand services that aggregate demand can 
help to provide bus and other demand responsive services for 
communities where it is difficult to make the case for providing 
scheduled bus services.

Progress to Date

2.11 There are a number of components that need to be developed in order to 
achieve the vision of providing an integrated user interface for MaaS. 
Progress achieved to date is described below.

Smart Ticketing

2.12 The continued development of the smart multi modal MCard ticketing scheme 
has largely been card based.  Recent MCard achievements are outlined in the 
box below. The recent launch of the MCard android app has resulted in a 
move by customers to use their phones to top up their cards. Bus operators 
have launched mobile phone ticketing in the last 18 months and are reporting 
a growing migration from cash to pre purchased mobile phone ticketing. 
However, there will always be a proportion of the population who do not have 
access to smartphones (15% of the population in 20177). MCard use is 
particularly strong amongst under 19s who are unlikely to have contactless 
bank cards.  MCard products are already being integrated into mobile apps 
and would offer a key component to MaaS.

MCard key achievements

- 200,000 different smartcard customers per week travelling on MCard

- £30m of products are sold on MCard per year, including day, week, month, term and 
annual tickets.

7 Smartphone penetration by age group – Deloitte Global Mobile Consumer Survey, 2017 
https://www.deloitte.co.uk/mobileuk/  

44

https://www.deloitte.co.uk/mobileuk/


- Customers “tap” their smartcards 1.2 million times a week in West Yorkshire, they 
are accepted on all bus and rail operators, making it the most extensive and well used 
smartcard system outside of London. 

- Job Centre Plus issue £500,000 worth of MCards to jobseekers every year8.

The MCard android app is first of its kind to enable smartcard top up. In less than six 
months, customers have spent in excess of £500,000 topping up their cards and more 
than 7% of all sales have been placed via the app.

Development of MaaS app

2.13 The Combined Authority along with O2 and First have been partners in the 
development of an Innovate UK funded app called trav.ly. Trav.ly has already 
undertaken a closed trial which was used as proof of concept and enabled a 
small user group to sign up and purchase park and ride tickets via the app 
(see screenshot below). Initially trav.ly is aimed at the occasional public 
transport user who would make an “impulse” ticket purchase when they make 
a journey enquiry. There is potential to expand the available ticket products on 
the app to enable customers to pre purchase bundles of day tickets or season 
tickets. 

Screenshot of the Trav.ly app

2.14 Whilst trav.ly offers opportunities to develop an embryonic MaaS offer, it will 
join a competitive market. There is already a proliferation of travel apps 
offered by transport providers such as First and Arriva and independent app 

8 Funded by Job Centre Plus with a reduction offered on these tickets by TICCO

45



developers. Bus operators are investing in apps to maintain market share 
whilst the commercial case for app developers is in the commission charged 
in selling the product. West Yorkshire Ticketing Company will review sales of 
tickets through trav.ly and will look at the potential to incorporate the MCard 
app into it. 

Transport for the North Account Based Ticketing

2.15 Transport for the North (TfN) is currently delivering a smart ticketing 
programme over the next four years as outlined in its Strategic Transport 
Plan9. This work will include the roll out of smartcard ticketing for rail travel, 
followed by further phases of work to introduce real time customer information 
(including disruption messaging) and the implementation of a ‘back office’. 
This will enable customers to use contactless bank cards to travel across 
multiple modes of transport across the north and pre or post pay or charge 
travel to an account that will then be charged at the end of the day or week. It 
will ensure that customers pay the best price for their travel on public 
transport. 

2.16 The creation of customer accounts would be a key component of MaaS if 
those accounts could also offer payment for other modes such as car clubs, 
taxis, cycle hire etc. The TfN project is creating a back office however the 
customer relationship would be with the transport provider or ticketing 
company i.e. the customer registers with the most appropriate provider that 
meets their needs and is supported by the TfN back office. It is likely that 
MCard would be one such provider.

Personalised Transport

2.17 The initiatives described above are largely innovations in ticketing on 
established modes of public transport and will support the retention and 
growth in customers using these modes. For MaaS to support bookable 
personalised transport, it will need to offer a booking and scheduling 
functionality. Private hire apps including Uber do this by matching customer 
requests with available vehicles using mapping tools. The Combined Authority 
uses software with this functionality to support its AccessBus service and will 
shortly extend this into education transport services. At present this is not 
customer facing however the suppliers are able to develop app functionality 
available for use on pilot projects. 

Next Steps

2.18 The key next steps are as follows:

Continue to work with TfN to develop an account based offer to customers in 
the City Region. 

9 Strategic Transport Plan – draft for public consultation, Transport for the North 2018 (pg. 58)

46



2.19 The CA will continue to work closely with TfN and other partners to ensure 
that wherever possible proposed developments are integrated with both the 
MCard and Trav.ly. Where relevant, the introduction of additional ticketing 
products onto the MCard will be considered.

Develop existing booking and scheduling software to support personalised 
transport pilot projects with a view to integrate this into a MaaS offer

2.20 In order to examine how MaaS can help achieve efficiencies in provision of 
transport services and improvements to the user experience, a series of small 
scale pilot projects are planned for 2018. Specifications for these projects are 
still being developed but these might include testing out alternative methods 
of delivering bus services in areas where commercial services are not 
currently viable; aggregating demand for Access Bus and other on demand 
services through a central point to enable community transport vehicles to 
achieve better utilisation throughout the day; and development of a 
partnership between community transport operators and car club operators to 
enable community transport vehicles to be booked online and accessed using 
a smartcard. There is some funding within the Leeds Public Transport 
Improvement Programme that could be used to fund a suitable pilot as part of 
the Connecting Communities project in Leeds. Engagement will take place on 
the proposed pilots so that there is an opportunity for discussion and approval 
on the options available.

2.21 Other funding opportunities for further pilots will be identified, particularly over 
the next six months, through both existing projects and external funding 
competitions. 

Support the development of Trav.ly as mobile ticketing platform for MCard 
and explore potential to integrate other modes

2.22 Trav.ly app will launch to the public on android and iphone in March/April 
2018, with MCard bus day saver tickets being offered in addition to park and 
ride tickets. In the future there will be opportunities to add modes to the trav.ly 
app – this might include Ofo cycle hire and taxi. Car club vehicles are already 
shown on the map on Trav.ly but there is potential for increased integration to 
be developed in the future. 

Develop and grow the MCard customer base as a key market for MaaS 
product development

2.23 The West Yorkshire Ticketing Company of which the Combined Authority is a 
partner will continue to develop and grow the MCard.  The feasibility of 
extending the MCard app to the IPhone is under consideration. Under the Bus 
18 initiative, steps are being taken to integrate bus operator only tickets onto 
the MCard to ensure there is only one smart ticketing platform in the region.

47



Keeping up to date with MaaS

2.24 The CA will start to engage more actively with existing stakeholder groups (for 
example Bus 18) and consult with industry experts over the coming months as 
the MaaS work programme becomes more developed. The Committee will be 
kept up to date with these developments. We ask the Committee to endorse 
this approach.

3 Financial Implications

3.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report.

4 Legal Implications

4.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.

5 Staffing Implications

5.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report.

6 External Consultees

6.1 External consultees are to be developed as the project progresses. These will 
include (but not be limited to): Transport for the North, bus, car club and rail 
operators, West Yorkshire Districts. 

7 Recommendations

7.1 The Committee is recommended to endorse the next steps outlined in section 
five.

8 Background Documents

None. 

9 Appendices

None. 

48



Report to: Transport Committee

Date:  16 March 2018

Subject:  East Coast Main Line: Franchise and infrastructure update, 
including proposed response to route study

Director: Liz Hunter, Interim Director Policy and Strategy

Author(s): Richard Crabtree, Mick Sasse

Is this a key decision? ☐ Yes    ☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? ☒ Yes    ☐ No
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or 
appendices? ☐ Yes    ☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local Government 
Act 1972, Part 1:

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 This report provides an update on a number of matters relating to the East 
Coast Main Line (ECML). It sets out the Combined Authority’s positon on 
these matters, and seeks endorsement of the proposed response to the 
consultation draft ECML Route Study.

1.2 The matters are:

 an update on the proposed termination of the InterCity East Coast 
franchise, the potential implications for the Leeds City Region, and actions 
to address these implications;

 an update on Network Rail’s infrastructure enhancements programme for 
the ECML; and

 the proposed response to the Network Rail ECML Route Study.

49

Agenda Item 9



2 Information

Background

The East Coast Main Line
2.1 The importance of the ECML to the Leeds City Region is hard to overstate.  

Until the advent of HS2, it is the City Region’s primary rail link to London, and 
indirectly the South-East, Lincolnshire, Cambridgeshire, East Anglia and the 
Home Counties, as well as mainland Europe.  It is also the basis of rail links to 
Scotland, the north east, Teesside and North Yorkshire, a role which will 
continue and intensify beyond the delivery of HS2 and, it is hoped, Northern 
Powerhouse Rail (NPR).

2.2 Research commissioned by the Consortium of East Coast Main Line 
Authorities1  confirms that the ECML connects economies that already 
contribute over £300bn each year to the UK economy.  This research also 
identified that the delivery of the services proposed as the basis for the Virgin 
Trains East Coast (VTEC) franchise (including the necessary enabling 
infrastructure) would realise £154m of economic benefits per year.  The same 
research also identifies the compelling case for further investment in the 
medium term, with £9billion of potential benefits attached to investment of 
£3bn in the line.

2.3 Section 1 of Appendix 1 sets out further background to the route.

The InterCity East Coast Franchise

2.4 The current InterCity East Coast franchise was awarded in November 2014 
and commenced on 1 March 2015.  It was intended to run to 31 March 2023 
(eight years), with the option for a one-year extension to 31 March 2024 at 
DfT’s discretion.  Further information on the franchise is set out in section 2 of 
Appendix 1, including the details of proposed timetable changes and new 
trains.

2.5 The franchise includes provision for more frequent through trains to and from 
London and Horsforth / Harrogate and Shipley / Bradford, together with a new 
Monday to Friday daily through service to Dewsbury and Huddersfield from 
May 2019.  In addition, more frequent services on the core route to Leeds and 
York are due from the same date. These improvements compared to the 
current timetable are summarised in Table 2.1, and set out in detail at 
Appendix 2.

1 Investing for Economic Growth, ECMA Research 2016, available at www.investineastcoast.co.uk

50

http://www.investineastcoast.co.uk/


Table 2.1 Summary of minimum service levels from May 2019 as specified 
Mondays to Fridays in current InterCity East Coast franchise

Current timetable Minimum franchise requirement 
from May 2019

To London From London To London From London

Leeds 32 33 37 37

York 37 37 46 44

Dewsbury - - 1 1

Huddersfield - - 1 1

Shipley 2 1 8 7

Bradford F Sq. 1 1 7 7

Horsforth 1 - 6 6

Harrogate 1 1 6 6

2.6 No change in the number of through services to Keighley, Skipton and Selby 
is proposed. 

2.7 In addition to the extra trains, weekday journey times are due to be 
accelerated.  The franchise agreement requires faster Leeds to London 
journey times from May 2020; the promise trailed by DfT when the franchise 
was awarded was for “regular journey times of 2 hours” between Leeds and 
London.  This compares to regular weekday journey times in the region of 2 
hours 13 minutes at present.  It is understood that this reduction in journey 
times was to be achieved through a combination of the enhanced performance 
of the new trains (operating in electric mode) and infrastructure improvements, 
plus changes to stopping patterns.

East Coast Main Line Infrastructure

2.8 The enhanced timetables from May 2019 and May 2020 are based on 
assumptions at the time the franchise was let about the availability of 
additional trains and extra capacity on the ECML that would become available 
as a result of proposed infrastructure works.

2.9 A package of infrastructure works identified as the ‘East Coast Connectivity 
Fund’ was proposed for delivery between 2014 and 2019.  These had the 
objective of increasing capacity and reducing journey times on the ECML.  
The works include, amongst others, four-tracking the railway between 
Woodwalton (south of Peterborough) and Huntingdon, grade-separating 
Werrington junction (north of Peterborough), and Northallerton to Newcastle 
freight loops.  A new Platform 0 at Doncaster has been delivered.

2.10 Letters exchanged between the Chair of the Commons Transport Select 
Committee and Virgin Trains and Network Rail2 in January 2018 confirm that 
the necessary infrastructure works to enable the enhanced timetables will not 

2 2 Letters available at the Commons Transport Select Committee website: 
http://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/transport-committee/

51

http://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/transport-committee/


be complete until May 2021 at best.  The new trains are now under 
construction.  Although nothing has been confirmed in writing, it is understood 
that the new trains marginally delayed, but this is not expected to be a major 
issue.

2.11 For the City Region, the delayed infrastructure is primarily an issue for the 
additional services to and from York and the north (particularly 
Middlesbrough).  The additional through services via Leeds into West and 
North Yorkshire are based mainly on extending the existing basic half-hourly 
Leeds – London services.  The main enabler for extending the services 
beyond Leeds is the availability of additional trains.

2.12 The Network Rail Strategic Business Plan for 2019-2024 (Control Period 6) 
was published in February 2018.  This makes it clear that Network Rail does 
not believe that it will be in a position to meet the performance (reliability) 
commitments required by the franchisees, including VTEC.  In particular, the 
Strategic Business Plan recognises that much of the ECML infrastructure is 
becoming ‘life expired’.  Track and power asset reliability is forecast to 
deteriorate in Control Period 6 without a commitment to additional renewals 
funding beyond that assumed to be available.  In response, Network Rail has 
produced an East Coast Supplementary Plan which has shown that there is a 
potential Value for Money Case for additional renewals investment of up to 
£1.4-£1.5 billion.

2.13 Failure of the current franchise and implications for the City Region

2.14 The background to and events leading up to the most recent announcement 
about the franchise are set out in section 3 of Appendix 1.

2.15 Section 4 of Appendix 1 sets out an analysis of the main issues and 
implications for the City Region that arise.  In summary, it has become clear 
that:

 The infrastructure necessary to accommodate the proposed May 2019 
timetable required in the current franchise will not be available until at least 
May 2021, and even then subject to final investment decisions by DfT.  
The specific implications of this for the City Region are currently unclear, 
but it will impact on the proposed enhancement to service frequencies 
between London and York and north thereof.

 Additional through services to and from London via Leeds serving 
Horsforth, Harrogate, Shipley and Bradford Forster Square should remain 
achievable.  These are extensions of existing services, and depend on the 
availability of additional trains, currently being delivered (although 
understood to be marginally behind schedule).

 Doubts appear to be cast over the new through service to Dewsbury and 
Huddersfield, but nothing has been confirmed in writing.  The main issue 
here relates to the previous assumption that this service could be operated 
by high-performance electric trains.

52



 It appears unlikely that the promised journey time improvements between 
Leeds and London from May 2020 will be achieved by that date.

 There is currently a funding shortfall for the required scale of asset 
renewals on the line identified in the Strategic Business Plan for CP6 – 
unless this addressed then performance (reliability) of services on the 
route is likely to continue to deteriorate.

 DfT will become directly responsible for the operation of InterCity East 
Coast services, including all revenue risks, in the short term, either 
through a management contract with VTEC remaining the operator, or 
through appointing its own body as ‘operator of last resort’.

 DfT is likely to commence procurement of a new private sector partner to 
operate InterCity East Coast rail services in 2019.  There is an opportunity 
through 2018 to influence the structure of the new Partnership (assuming 
this option is progressed) and to set out service priorities for InterCity East 
Coast services.

2.16 The Chair of the Combined Authority and Chair of the Transport Committee 
wrote a joint letter to the Secretary of State for Transport on 20 February 
2018.  This letter sought written reassurance about the May 2019 service 
commitments set out in the franchise agreement.  A copy of this letter is 
included at Appendix 3.  At the time of writing, a response had not yet been 
received.

East Coast Main Line Route Study

2.17 As part of its Long-Term Planning Process, Network Rail is currently 
consulting on its proposed ECML Route Study.  This was published during the 
Christmas break as a draft ‘Railway Investment Choices’ document, reflecting 
a change in the way railway enhancements are to be funded in future.  It is 
this document that is subject to consultation.  Combined Authority officers 
have been engaged with Network Rail throughout 2017 in activities leading up 
to the production of this draft.

2.18 Consultation responses are due on 16 March 2018, but Network Rail has 
agreed to allow the Combined Authority until 30 March to submit its response, 
in order that Transport Committee can give the matter proper scrutiny.  A copy 
of the proposed full response has been previously circulated to Committee 
members.

2.19 A thorough response to the consultation is proposed, reflecting the importance 
of the ECML to the City Region and to address the areas of concern.

2.20 The principal main areas of concern are:

a) The document lacks any clear, explicit objectives about what Network 
Rail wants the ECML to achieve, and as a result lacks a coherent 
strategy to meet them. There are however prioritisations that imply a 
narrow set of objectives in relation to rail industry revenue and to a 

53



narrow view of economic growth that does not clearly address social 
inclusion or environmental sustainability have been applied.

b) Geographic focus: there appears to be an emerging tendency to 
favour further investment in the southern end of the route.

c) The Study is intended to offer investment choices, although in many 
cases the consultation document fails to set out options to meet 
identified problems, together with a summary of the pros and cons of 
each.  The proposals that are set out are not always robustly and 
systematically supported with a business case for example.  In some 
cases these are not the proposals that the Combined Authority would 
anticipate, and it is difficult to discern why this is the case.

2.21 The consultation draft identifies a number of the ‘East Coast Connectivity 
Fund’ enhancement schemes as investment choices, reflecting the new way 
that investment decisions on rail infrastructure enhancements are now to be 
taken.  DfT will ultimately be responsible for agreeing these individual 
investment decisions.  These schemes were previously regarded as 
committed for delivery in Control Period 5 (2014 to 2019), and are essential to 
enable the service commitments of the InterCity East Coast and TransPennine 
Express franchises to be delivered.  This underlines the ongoing need to make 
a strong case for investment in the ECML.

2.22 Against this background, the proposed response:

a) Sets out the Combined Authority’s objectives for inclusive growth in 
the context of strategic rail planning, and the implications in terms of 
unlocking opportunities, improving the region’s strategic connectivity to 
other centres, and achieving modal shift for passengers and freight.

b) Underlines the important roles played by the ECML to the Leeds City 
Region.

c) Emphasises the importance of completing the delivery of ECML 
schemes that were previously regarded as committed.

d) Discusses the need for the Route Study to address the case for the 
types of investment that evidence shows are necessary now and in 
the future to provide the capacity and network capability the City 
Region needs.  This includes providing sufficient peak commuting 
capacity, improving journey times, enabling improved frequencies on 
regional services, providing network robustness and resilience, and 
accommodating Northern Powerhouse Rail as well as High Speed 2, 
without compromising the ability of rail freight to grow.

e) Translates this into interventions at specific locations, such as 
Wakefield – Doncaster four-tracking, improvements at Doncaster, 
Newark flat crossing, York station and approaches, and capacity 
northwards towards Newcastle.

54



f) Challenges Network Rail’s proposal for compromising long-distance 
intercity services in advance of HS2 by inserting additional stops at the 
southern end of the route to provide additional London commuting 
capacity.

g) Highlights the need for the major connecting nodes along the ECML 
(such as York, Doncaster and Peterborough) to work better for 
passengers, which implies providing sufficient network capacity and 
resilience for reliable interchange.

h) Emphasises the need in particular for Northern Powerhouse Rail to be 
considered in much more detail than at present.

i) Sets out specific examples of future direct connectivity which the 
ECML needs to accommodate, including for example Leeds – 
Doncaster – Lincoln and between the Leeds City Region and 
Cambridge.

j) Considers the case for faster running on the ECML, in particular the 
balance of where it could offer clear benefits in a post-HS2 and NPR 
scenario (such as running up to 140mph north of York);

k) Reiterates the Combined Authority’s support for rail freight, including 
modal shift and supporting the industries of the future.

l) Highlights the need for Network Rail and the wider industry to improve 
their delivery of major enhancements to make them affordable and 
reduce disruption and uncertainty.

2.23 The proposed response also enters into a number of specific points of detail, 
in line with the above principles.  In conclusion, it invites Network Rail to re-
think its approach to the Route Study, and to offer the Combined Authority’s 
assistance in helping the industry to develop a better Route Study that fully 
addresses the strategic questions the ECML faces, and better sets out the 
potential routes to the future to inform stakeholders and funders.

Advocacy activity through the Consortium of East Coast Main Line Authorities

2.24 The issues raised in this paper make clear the ongoing importance of making 
a strong case for investment in the ECML, and in shaping the proposed new 
East Coast Partnership and the rail services it will provide.

2.25 The Consortium of East Coast Main Line Authorities (ECMA) comprises local 
authorities and Scottish Regional Transport Partnerships along the route 
served by the InterCity East Coast franchise.  The objective of ECMA is to 
secure investment in the ECML to improve the passenger experience, improve 
capacity and reliability and shorten journey times.

2.26 ECMA is hosted and co-ordinated by City of York Council.  The Combined 
Authority represents the five district councils at Consortium meetings.  The 

55



Combined Authority’s current ECMA representative is Councillor Firth.  Further 
background was set out in the paper presented to Transport Committee on 9 
December 2016.  The ECMA agenda for 2018/19 was due to be set at a 
Consortium meeting on 28 February in York.  This was postponed due to 
travel disruption caused by heavy snow, but it is due to be rescheduled.

2.27 A new East Coast Main Line All Party Parliamentary Group (APPG) is due to 
be launched on 20 March 2018.  This group will help to advocate the ECML 
investment case within Parliament. It is proposed that EMCA will offer 
secretariat and policy support to the APPG.

2.28 Recognising the strong degree of alignment between the objectives of ECMA 
and the HS2 East advocacy group, the decision was taken to better co-
ordinate the activity of these two groups.  There is already a strong degree of 
alignment in the technical evidence base. Importantly, the arrangement 
respects that a distinct role for each group remains, particularly south of 
Yorkshire.  Five common principles have been agreed to frame future activity 
across the two groups.

2.29 The City of York Council, as ECMA host authority, has initially suggested that 
each local authority commits £2,000 per financial year for 2018/19 and 
2019/20 with a target of establishing a meaningful fund to sustain advocacy 
activity and research, as well as offer support to the APPG.  The Combined 
Authority represents the five West Yorkshire authorities in this context (City of 
York is represented in its own right). It is therefore proposed to commit 
£10,000 per year in the 2018/19 and 2019/20 financial years.  In addition the 
Combined Authority will continue to offer greater support in the form of officer 
time.

3 Financial Implications

3.1 Recognising the importance of the East Coast Main Line and the InterCity 
East Coast franchise to the City Region, and as set out, it is proposed to 
commit £10,000 per annum in the 2018/19 and 2019/20 financial years to 
support the activity of the Consortium of East Coast Main Line Authorities.

4 Legal Implications

4.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.

5 Staffing Implications

5.1 Recognising the importance of the East Coast Main Line and the InterCity 
East Coast franchise to the City Region, the Combined Authority is supporting 
City of York Council with officer time to facilitate the work of the Consortium of 
East Coast Mainline Authorities.  It is proposed that continues during the 
2018/19 financial year.

56



6 External Consultees

6.1 No formal external consultations have been undertaken at this stage.  The 
Combined Authority anticipates working with other stakeholders such as the 
Chambers of Commerce and partners through the ECMA in further developing 
its advocacy case for investment into the ECML.  In addition, informal 
consultation has taken place with Districts and with neighbouring authorities 
with regard to the proposed response to the ECML Route Study consultation

7 Recommendations

7.1 Members are asked to:

 Note the background to the report, and the likelihood that additional 
information about the collapse of the current franchise, proposals for 
interim delivery of rail services, and delivery of infrastructure 
enhancements on the ECML is likely to emerge ahead of the Transport 
Committee meeting and in the weeks that follow as various inquiries 
progress.

 Endorse the importance attached to realising the franchise commitments 
set out in the existing InterCity East Coast franchise as the baseline for the 
future requirements of both the interim management arrangements and 
future proposed East Coast Partnership.

 Endorse the proposed consultation response to the draft East Coast Route 
Study Railway Investment Choices document, and the need to continue to 
make a strong and compelling case for investment in both renewal and 
enhancement of the infrastructure on the ECML.

 Agree the Combined Authority’s proposed contribution of £10,000 per 
annum in the 2018/19 and 2019/20 financial years to support the activity of 
the Consortium of East Coast Main Line Authorities, together with the 
ongoing offer of officer support.

8 Background Documents

East Coast Main Line Priorities.  Paper to Transport Committee, 9 December 
2016.

9 Appendices

Appendix 1 - Background to the East Coast Main Line and Intercity East 
Coast Franchise

Appendix 2 - Current Intercity East Coast Franchise : Summary of Train 
Service Requirements from May 2019 for Leeds City Region

Appendix 3 - Letter from Chair of the Combined Authority and Chair of the 
Transport Committee to Secretary of State for Transport

57



This page is intentionally left blank



BACKGROUND TO THE EAST COAST MAIN LINE AND INTERCITY EAST 
COAST FRANCHISE

1 The East Coast Main Line

1.1 The East Coast Main Line (ECML) is one of two high-capacity north-south 
trunk routes that run between Scotland and London.  Whilst not formally 
defined, it is broadly accepted as being the rail line from Edinburgh 
southwards via Newcastle, York, Doncaster, and Peterborough to London 
Kings Cross.  The mainline from Leeds to Doncaster via Wakefield Westgate 
(often referred to the West Riding section) is also regarded as part of the East 
Coast Main Line.

1.2 Whilst the route serves an important function for long-distance Anglo-Scottish 
inter-city passenger trains, the InterCity East Coast franchise operates fewer 
than half the trains on the route.  It is a multi-functional railway, 
accommodating many other local and regional services, together with freight 
traffic along various parts of its length.  For the City Region this includes:

 TransPennine Express services on the route north of York to 
Middlesbrough, Newcastle, and in future, Edinburgh;

 InterCity Cross Country services north of York to the north east and 
Scotland, and also south of York and Leeds towards Sheffield, the 
midlands and south west;

 open access operators:
 Grand Central services between West Yorkshire, Doncaster and 

London;
 Grand Central services between the north east, York and London
 Hull Trains services between Hull, Selby, Doncaster and London.
 Local services between Leeds and Doncaster / Sheffield via Wakefield 

Westgate.

1.3 The route’s role in the “heavy-lifting” of commuter traffic into Leeds itself, and 
increasingly into Wakefield, Doncaster and York too, is vital to the economic 
success of the region, and to providing socially inclusive and sustainable 
access to work and education opportunities.

1.4 The last significant overall investment in the East Coast Main Line was 
electrification in the 1980s.  However, this project included some network 
rationalisation that failed to anticipate the scale of growth that has since been 
experienced in both commuter and long-distance rail travel.  This project 
included a new fleet of electric rolling stock, which remains the mainstay of the 
long-distance passenger services provided by the InterCity East Coast 
franchise today.

1.5 A number of incremental investments in the route have since secured capacity 
enhancements with a focus on segregating conflicting moves between long-

59

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



distance high-speed trains and local, inter-regional and freight services.  
These include the Leeds 1st project (2002), Allington Chord (2005), Kings 
Cross Platform 0 (2010), Hitchin Flyover (2013), upgrade of the parallel rail 
route between Doncaster and Peterborough (via Spalding and Lincoln) for 
freight traffic, Peterborough station remodelling and Doncaster North Chord 
(2014).  These investments have accommodated continuing traffic growth, but 
have been trailing growing demand, rather than pro-actively planning for it.

1.6 A further package of infrastructure enhancements was proposed for delivery 
as part of the Network Rail Control Period 5 (CP5) programme from 2014 to 
2019, collectively known as the ‘East Cost Connectivity Fund’. Of these, only 
Doncaster Platform 0 has so far been delivered.

1.7 These infrastructure investments, together with others to accommodate the 
new Intercity Express Programme rolling stock, were a specified baseline for 
the operation of the current InterCity East Coast franchise from 2015, and 
underpin the minimum service requirements it contains.

1.8 These enhancements were (broadly) to allow the operation of six InterCity 
East Coast franchise services per hour on the ECML in and out of King’s 
Cross in each direction from May 2019, and 13 InterCity East Coast train 
services every two hours from May 2020.  This compares to the current 
baseline timetable of five InterCity East Coast services on the ECML per hour 
in each direction.  In considering these figures, it is important to recognise the 
wide range of other services also accommodated on the route, including 
intercity open access operations and an increasingly high density of commuter 
services at the southern end of the route which are part of the Thameslink 
upgrades.

1.9 Accommodating future growth in rail traffic, and particularly reconciling the 
competing needs of intercity services with local, inter-regional and freight 
traffic remains a challenge.  HS2 is part of the strategic response to dealing 
with this on the southern part of the route, although it will intensify the 
demands on the route north of York.  It is evident that there is appetite to run 
more services on the route than there is planned capacity to accommodate.  
This is underlined by the various competing open access applications that 
have been made in recent years.  Northern Powerhouse Rail, as well as HS2 
Phase 2b, will further intensify pressure on the route north of York.

2 The InterCity East Coast franchise

2.1 The InterCity East Coast franchise provides long-distance inter-city services 
from London King’s Cross on the ECML.  The current franchise is operated by 
Inter City Railways Ltd, which is owned by Stagecoach (90%) and Virgin 
Group (10%), trading as Virgin Trains East Coast (VTEC).  The franchise was 
awarded in November 2014 and commenced on 1 March 2015, with an 
intended term running to 31 March 2023 (eight years), with the option for a 
one-year extension to 31 March 2024 at DfT’s discretion.

60



Figure 2.1 InterCity East Coast Franchise: Plan of proposed services 
(Mondays to Fridays) from May 2020

Source: Department for Transport

2.2 The franchise includes some through-trains beyond the core route from 
London to Lincoln, Hull, Bradford Forster Square, Skipton, Harrogate, 
Sunderland, Glasgow Central, Inverness and Aberdeen.  More frequent 
through services to some of these locations are anticipated from May 2019, 
together with a new through service to and from Dewsbury and Huddersfield.  
New through services to Thornaby and Middlesbrough are anticipated from 
May 2020.  Figure 2.1 shows a map of the services planned from May 2020.

2.3 The franchise is based on a specification put together by DfT in consultation 
with stakeholders, which also specified the use of new InterCity Express 

61



Programme (IEP) trains procured by DfT.  These trains have since been 
branded as ‘Azuma’ by VTEC.

VTEC’s commitments in context

2.4 The train service improvements required by the franchise are set out in the 
body of the report.  The extended timetable from May 2019 is enabled by the 
fact there will be additional trains, as well as anticipated upgrades to the 
infrastructure.

2.5 The existing rolling stock is summarised in Table 2.1, and the new rolling stock 
in Table 2.2, noting that not all trains are planned to be in service every day to 
accommodate routine maintenance and breakdowns.  All the InterCity 125 
diesel trains are currently expected to be withdrawn by 2020, with around six 
shortened InterCity 225 electric trains retained to operate fast London – 
Edinburgh services, although the scope of retained rolling stock could vary.

Table 2.1 Existing rolling stock in InterCity East Coast franchise
Train type Configuration Number of 

train sets
Carriages

InterCity 125 
(HST)

9-coach diesel train (x14)
8-coach diesel train (x1)

15 134

InterCity 225 
(Class 91)

9-coach electric train 30 270

TOTAL 45 404

Table 2.2 Anticipated rolling stock for InterCity East Coast franchise from 
2020

Train type
(all IEP)

Configuration Number of 
train sets

Carriages

Class 800/1 9-car bi-mode diesel / electric 13 117

Class 800/2 5-car bi-mode diesel / electric 10 50

Class 801/1 5-car electric 12 60

Class 801/2 9-car electric 30 270

InterCity 225 
(Class 91)

8-car electric (assumed) 6 48

TOTAL 71 497

2.6 The new rolling stock represents a significant increase in the total number of 
trains and number of carriages available to the franchise compared with the 
existing rolling stock.  The additional trains create the opportunity to run more 
services and also to extend existing services beyond the core network with 
greater frequency.

2.7 The new rolling stock is already under test across the route and is expected to 
enter passenger service initially between Leeds and London from December 
2018.  Without either extensive modification or a derogation from the 

62



regulations and requirements (relating to persons of restricted mobility, slam 
doors and controlled emission toilets) then the InterCity 125 stock will need to 
be withdrawn by 2020.  It should be noted that the rolling-stock plans may well 
change, including as a result of doubts over whether Network Rail will provide 
upgraded electric power supplies in time.

2.8 A range of other improvements are written into the franchise, including 
(amongst others) enhancement and refurbishment to existing rolling stock 
(completed), enhancements to station facilities (ongoing) and improvements to 
online ticketing and passenger information.  Some of these have already been 
delivered. 

3 Background to the failure of the current franchise

3.1 The current franchise was awarded following a period of over five years 
operation by Directly Operated Railways, a subsidiary of the DfT.  This was 
preceded by the failure of the earlier franchises let to GNER (failed 2006) and 
National Express East Coast (failed 2009).  In summer 2017 Stagecoach 
confirmed as part of its preliminary results announcement that it was facing 
financial difficulties with the franchise, and that it was in discussions with the 
DfT regarding the terms of its continued operation.

3.2 As reported to Transport Committee on 12 January 2018, the Secretary of 
State for Transport made a statement to Parliament on 29 November that a 
new ‘East Coast Partnership’ would replace the current InterCity East Coast 
franchise from 2020.  Whilst not explicit in the statement, it was clear based on 
statements made by Stagecoach that the balance of the franchise (until 2020) 
would be the subject of renegotiation with the DfT.

3.3 The Secretary of State for Transport made a further statement to Parliament 
on 5 February 2018 updating the position on rail franchising.  This statement 
made clear the current franchisee had “overbid” for the franchise, and that the 
scale of losses to the operator would mean that the franchise will be 
terminated in ‘a short number of months’.  Industry sources indicate that 
ridership and revenue on the franchise have not risen at the high rates that 
VTEC’s bid had assumed they would achieve.

3.4 The statement on 5 February 2018 further clarified that an interim 
management arrangement will be put in place comprising either a zero-profit 
management contract with VTEC or taking the franchise back ‘in-house’ under 
the DfT’s statutory ‘operator of last resort’ powers, as happened following the 
collapse of the National Express East Coast operator.

3.5 As set out to Transport Committee on 12 January 2018, DfT proposes to 
replace the InterCity East Coast franchise with a new ‘East Coast Partnership’ 
from 2020.  This was described in November 2017 as a long-term regional 
partnership between the public and private sectors, operated by a single 
management, under a single brand and overseen by a single leader covering 
passenger services and the network infrastructure.  DfT anticipates procuring 
a private partner that will have a leading role in defining future plans for route 
infrastructure as well as delivery of intercity passenger rail services.

63



3.6 At the time of writing, DfT has not set out any further information on the likely 
structure of the proposed East Coast Partnership.  There is now the 
opportunity to work with and through the Consortium of East Coast Main Line 
Authorities to seek to influence the potential shape of the new Partnership, 
with the objective of ensuring it meets the needs of the communities it serves.

3.7 Later in 2018 the Combined Authority can expect to be formally consulted on 
the structure of the Partnership and the services it will provide. 

3.8 The collapse of the current franchise and the associated issues are subject to 
a series of investigations, including:

 Commons Transport Select Committee inquiry into rail infrastructure 
investment, announced on 10 November 2017;

 National Audit Office investigation into the InterCity East Coast franchise, 
announced on 25 January 2018;

 Commons Public Accounts Committee inquiry into Rail Franchising in the 
UK (examining the East Coast and Thameslink, Southern and Great 
Northern franchises) announced on 8 February 2018; and

 Commons Transport Select Committee inquiry into the InterCity East 
Coast rail franchise, announced on 12 February 2018.

3.9 It is anticipated that these investigations will properly analyse the background 
to current situation and main lessons to be learned.  The Combined Authority’s 
focus therefore needs to be on what it wants to secure from the route and 
services in future.

4 Implications for Leeds City Region

4.1 The repeated failures of the private-sector franchises and consequent interim 
arrangements distracts managerial and stakeholder attention from the need to 
develop and implement a consistent long-term service strategy for the ECML.  
This is an ongoing concern, which the Combined Authority is addressing by 
stepping-up its engagement with and support for the Consortium of East Coast 
Main Line Authorities (ECMA). It also frames the proposed response to the 
East Coast Route Study.  However, there are a number of short-term 
implications that arise for the City Region.

4.2 It is now widely acknowledged, including by the Secretary of State for 
Transport, that Stagecoach and Virgin overbid for the franchise, and this, 
rather than delays in infrastructure delivery, is the primary reason for the 
imminent failure.  However, the intense media and political interest of recent 
months has also brought focus to the fact that many of the service 
enhancements expected from May 2019 and May 2020 will not be realised 
due to delayed delivery of anticipated infrastructure enhancements.

4.3 In light of the difficulty of piecing together a coherent picture of the issues, the 
Chair of the House of Commons Transport Committee wrote to each of VTEC 

64



and Network Rail to seek clarity on this situation on 15 January 2018.  The 
responses to these letters have since been published on the Transport 
Committee’s website.

4.4 The VTEC response highlights that it had bid in accordance with the timetable 
and infrastructure requirements that were specified as a baseline for delivery 
to achieve the May 2019 and May 2020 timetables.  This includes the majority 
of the schemes highlighted as part of the East Coast Connectivity Fund.  
VTEC states that (at best) it does not anticipate the infrastructure to 
accommodate additional services will be available until May 2021.

4.5 Notably, VTEC also identifies that it was an assumption at the time of the 
franchise bid that the route between Leeds and Huddersfield via Dewsbury 
would be electrified by the end of 2018, enabling the use of electric trains for 
the new through-service to and from Dewsbury and Huddersfield from May 
2019.  There is currently no clear date for when the railway between 
Huddersfield and Leeds will be electrified (if at all), subject to the Secretary of 
State’s determination on the Trans-Pennine Route Upgrade, expected at the 
end of 2018.

4.6 It is possible to operate this service with the new IEP bi-mode electro-diesel 
trains using diesel power between Leeds and Huddersfield, although this will 
come at an opportunity cost of using these for another service off the core 
electric network elsewhere.  However, the performance of these trains in 
diesel mode is inferior to their performance in electric mode (i.e. slower) and 
even to that of existing diesels, implying that running the service will take up 
more capacity on an already highly-constrained and busy part of the City 
Region rail network as a consequence. Confirmation of the position is awaited, 
but there is a risk that the trains may not ‘fit’ unless others (such as Trans-
Pennine Express services) were withdrawn.

4.7 Vigilance about the structure of the proposed East Coast Partnership is 
required.  As presented, it appears that it will bind the operator of the current 
InterCity East Coast passenger operation to the management of the 
infrastructure.  Whilst this principle may appear sound at first glance, the fact 
that the ECML serves such a wide range of roles and operators will need to be 
carefully managed.

4.8 There are very few sections of the ECML where InterCity East Coast runs the 
majority of trains, let alone all of them.  It is therefore difficult to see how this 
arrangement can work in practice, without the InterCity East Coast operator 
seeking to advantage itself at the cost of others such as Northern, Cross-
Country and Trans-Pennine Express (in the case of Leeds City Region), plus 
freight and the open access operators like Grand Central who are in direct 
competition with InterCity East Coast.  Conflicts of interest appear inevitable.  
This is a particular issue for Leeds City Region between Leeds and Doncaster, 
and also on the route north of York, but closer to London it also appears 
problematic given that London suburban services like Thameslink make up the 
majority of trains.

65



This page is intentionally left blank



CURRENT INTERCITY EAST COAST FRANCHISE: SUMMARY OF TRAIN SERVICE REQUIREMENTS FROM MAY 2019 FOR LEEDS CITY REGION

Based on franchise agreement of December 2014

To
 L

on
do

n 
Ki

ng
s 

C
ro

ss

Fr
om

 L
on

do
n 

Ki
ng

 C
ro

ss

To
 L

on
do

n 
Ki

ng
s 

C
ro

ss

Fr
om

 L
on

do
n 

Ki
ng

 C
ro

ss

To
 L

on
do

n 
Ki

ng
s 

C
ro

ss

Fr
om

 L
on

do
n 

Ki
ng

 C
ro

ss

To
 L

on
do

n 
Ki

ng
s 

C
ro

ss

Fr
om

 L
on

do
n 

Ki
ng

 C
ro

ss

To
 L

on
do

n 
Ki

ng
s 

C
ro

ss

Fr
om

 L
on

do
n 

Ki
ng

 C
ro

ss

To
 L

on
do

n 
Ki

ng
s 

C
ro

ss

Fr
om

 L
on

do
n 

Ki
ng

 C
ro

ss

To
 L

on
do

n 
Ki

ng
s 

C
ro

ss

Fr
om

 L
on

do
n 

Ki
ng

 C
ro

ss

To
 L

on
do

n 
Ki

ng
s 

C
ro

ss

Fr
om

 L
on

do
n 

Ki
ng

 C
ro

ss

To
 L

on
do

n 
Ki

ng
s 

C
ro

ss

Fr
om

 L
on

do
n 

Ki
ng

 C
ro

ss

 Wakefield W'gte 32 32 32 32 32 32 18 18 31 32 18 18 17 18 19 20 17 18
 Leeds 32 33 32 33 37 37 20 19 32 32 29 28 17 19 19 21 26 25

Dewsbury - - - - 1 1 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Huddersfield - - - - 1 1 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Shipley 2 1 2 1 8 7 2 1 2 1 2 1 - - - - - -
Bradford FS 1 1 1 1 7 7 1 1 1 1 1 1 - - - - - -
Keighley 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 - 1 - 1 - 1
Skipton 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 - 1 - 1 - 1
Horsforth 1 - 1 - 6 6 - - - - 6 6 - - - - 6 6
Harrogate 1 1 1 1 6 6 1 1 1 1 6 6 1 1 1 1 6 6

 Selby 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 - 1 - 1 - 1
 York 36 36 37 37 46 44 28 28 35 34 28 28 31 28 34 31 36 39

Notes:
1

2 Bold figures in red mark service improvements over current actual timetable.
3

4 Grand Central and Hull Trains (open access operators) also provide additional services between Wakefield Kirkgate and London, and Selby and London.
5

6 Based on franchise agreement of December 2014.

Additional InterCity East Coast services between Leeds and Horsforth / Harrogate are planned to displace a semi-fast Northern services at the times they run. The benefit will therefore be the 
increased availability of through-services comprised of higher-capacity rolling stock, rather than additional trains between Leeds and Horsforth / Harrogate.  The new Northern semi-fast Leeds to 
Harrogate trains were due to be introduced from December 2017, now anticipated to be introduced in May 2018.

Sunday
December 2017

(Minimum 
requirement)

Dec 2017
(Actual timetable)

May 2019
(Minimum 

requirement)

Train Service Requirements (TSRs) are a minimum to be provided by the franchisee, but it is free to deliver services in excess of the requirements, which happens in the case of the core Saturday 
services to Wakefield / Leeds and York.

Monday - Friday Saturday
December 2017

(Minimum 
requirement)

Dec 2017
(Actual timetable)

May 2019
(Minimum 

requirement)

December 2017
(Min requirement)

May 2019
(Minimum 

requirement)

December 2017
(Actual timetable)

There are some additional minimum service requirements from May 2020, which primarily relate to faster average weekday journey times between Leeds and London Kings Cross, and additional 
services to destinations north of York.

67

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix 2



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Rt. Hon. Chris Grayling MP  
Secretary of State for Transport  
Great Minster House   
33 Horseferry Road   
London   
SW1P 4DR  
  
 
20 February 2018  
 
  
Dear Secretary of State,  
 
 
I write further to your statement to the House of Commons on 5 February regarding the 
future of the InterCity East Coast franchise currently held by Virgin Trains East Coast, 
where you make it clear that the existing franchise agreement will be terminated.  
 
As you will know, the current Inter City East Coast franchise contains a number of 
important service commitments for the Leeds City Region due for delivery from the May 
2019 timetable change. The commitment for a significant increase in the number of 
through-trains to and from London to places beyond Leeds was particularly welcome, 
and supports our inclusive economic growth agenda, as well as providing additional 
much-needed capacity between centres within the City Region.  
 
Attached as an appendix are the minimum service requirements for trains to and from 
London in the current franchise from May 2019, tabled together with the services 
provided in the current timetable. This comparison highlights the substantial 
improvements the franchise is set to deliver, for example the significant increase to 
trains servicing Shipley – London and Horsforth – London, improvements that residents 
are anticipating.  
 
These May 2019 service improvement commitments together with the commitment to 
reduce average weekday journey times between Leeds and London from May 2020, 
are extremely important to us.    
 
I would therefore welcome your written reassurance that the current commitments will 
be honoured and if there are any proposed changes that will impact on local people, 
there will be appropriate consultation with the Combined Authority and West Yorkshire 
Leaders.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

69

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 3



 

I look forward to hearing from you on this matter.  
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Cllr Susan Hinchcliffe       Cllr Keith Wakefield   
Chair, West Yorkshire Combined Authority Chair, West Yorkshire Combined 

Authority, Transport Committee 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

70



 

APPENDIX  
 
Table 1 sets out the minimum service requirements for trains to and from London on 
weekdays in the current franchise from May 2019:  
 
Table 1: Monday to Friday service commitments in existing franchise 

(direct services per day) 

 Current timetable Minimum franchise 
requirement from May 2019 

 To London From London To London From London 

Leeds 32 33 37 37 

York 37 37 46 44 

Dewsbury - - 1 1 

Huddersfield - - 1 1 

Shipley 2 1 8 7 

Bradford Forster 
Square 

1 1 7 7 

Horsforth 1 - 6 6 

Harrogate 1 1 6 6 

 
The increase in London services to and from Harrogate and Horsforth is also a 
requirement on Saturdays from May 2019. 
 
Table 2 below sets out the enhanced service commitments on a Sunday from May 
2019:  
 
Table 2: Sunday service commitments in existing franchise 

(direct services per day) 

 Current timetable Minimum franchise 
requirement from May 2019 

 To London From London To London From London 

Leeds 19 21 26 25 

York 34 31 36 39 

Horsforth - - 6 6 

Harrogate 1 1 6 6 

 
 

71



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Transport Committee

Date:  16 March 2018

Subject:  Consultation Replies on Highways Related Matters

Director: Liz Hunter, Interim Director of Policy and Strategy

Author(s): Steve Heckley

Is this a key decision? ☐ Yes    ☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? ☒ Yes    ☐ No
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or 
appendices? ☐ Yes    ☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local Government 
Act 1972, Part 1:

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 To provide Transport Committee with an update on government consultations 
on highways related matters.

1.2 To seek Transport Committee endorsement of key themes to shape the 
Combined Authority’s response to the consultation on government proposals 
for the creation of a Major Road Network

2 Information

2.1 There have been a number of government consultations on highways related 
matters in recent months that are relevant to the Combined Authority as the 
Local Transport Authority, and to the five West Yorkshire District Councils as 
the local Highway Authorities. This report summarises consultations for:    

 Department for Transport (DfT) consultation on Shaping The Future Of 
England’s Strategic Roads (RIS2); 

 Department for Transport (DfT) consultation on Proposals for the Creation 
of a Major Road Network;  

73

Agenda Item 10



 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 
consultation on Fair Funding Review; 

DfT Consultation - Shaping the Future of England’s Strategic Roads 
(RIS2)

2.2 The DfT published this consultation on 13 December 2017 with a closing date 
for responses of 7 February 2018. The consultation is in respect of the 
Strategic Road Network (SRN), the national network made up of motorways 
and trunk roads (the most significant ‘A’ roads). Highways England manages 
this network. This network totals 4,400 miles and represents 2% of all roads in 
England by length, but it carries a third of all traffic by mileage.  

2.3 The government in order to set investment in the SRN publishes a multi-year 
‘Road Investment Strategy’ (RIS). The first RIS period (RIS1) covers the five 
financial years 2015/16 to 2019/20 and has been delivering improvements 
including e.g. Smart Motorway improvements to the M1 and M62. The 
consultation is in respect of the second RIS period (RIS2) for 2020/21 to 
2024/25, and aims to inform the approach to RIS2. The focus of the 
consultation was Highways England’s simultaneous publication of its Strategic 
Road Network Initial Report which sets out their assessment of the current 
state of the SRN and its potential future needs and proposed priorities for 
delivery in the RIS2 period. The DfT described the Initial Report as the first 
step in the process for setting RIS2. The consultation asked for responses to 
Highways England’s Initial Report proposals as well as the DfT’s own 
analytical approach for developing RIS2.

2.4 From the start of the RIS2 period the SRN will be funded from a new National 
Roads Fund (NPF) financed directly from Vehicle Excise Duty, which is 
proposed also to be directed in part to provide funding for the most important 
local roads - a topic developed in the DfT consultation of their Proposals for 
the Creation of a Major Road Network (and considered in para 2.9 below).

2.5 The effective functioning of the motorways is considered crucial for the 
economic performance and resilience of West Yorkshire. Local Plan 
Examinations in West Yorkshire have also demonstrated the government view 
on the importance of the SRN to bringing forward district’s growth ambitions 
for job and housing allocations.

2.6 A draft response collated from the input of the West Yorkshire partners was 
circulated to Transport Committee members for comment and then finalised 
and submitted by the Combined Authority on behalf of all the West Yorkshire 
District Councils to the DfT to their 7 February 2018 deadline. The final 
response of the Combined Authority and its partners is attached as Appendix 
1. 

2.7 The Combined Authority and the West Yorkshire partners are broadly 
supportive of Highways England’s proposals set out in their Initial Report. 
Overall the report provides an encouraging strategic overview of future road 
investment and a common sense approach to managing the SRN, which 

74



aligns with the Combined Authority’s and its partner’s vision and requirements 
for the SRN. The Initial Report is however high level and flexible in nature and 
greater clarity is required on proposals.   

2.8 The Combined Authority and its partners particularly welcome the proposal to 
fund the Road Investment Strategy with a new National Roads Fund, which is 
envisaged will create longer term funding which will give greater certainty for 
pipeline projects. The consultation response also highlights agreement to the 
proposal that the RIS may invest in the local road network and the creation of 
a Major Road Network to help define investment priorities away from the 
Strategic Road Network, but the response highlights concern that the extent of 
the MRN may not match West Yorkshire’s need. The Combined Authority 
points the DfT to the Transport for the North work to define a more extensive 
MRN for the North, and asks for clarity on how funding priorities will be 
considered and delivered in the development of the next RIS period. The 
consultation response emphasises from a local perspective the strategic 
importance of the M62 and the desire to see schemes in this region (e.g. 
M62/M606 Chain Bar) delivered in the RIS2 period.

DfT consultation - Proposals for the Creation of a Major Road Network   
 
2.9 The DfT published this consultation on the 23 December 2017 with a closing 

date for responses of 19 March 2018. As part of its Transport Investment 
Strategy, the government committed to creating a Major Road Network (MRN) 
as a new middle tier of our busiest and most economically important local 
authority ‘A’ roads. The government identifies certain local roads as being 
crucial to delivering its central policy objectives to: Reduce Congestion; 
Support Economic Growth and Re-balancing; Support Housing Delivery; 
Support all road users; and Support the SRN. A key theme of the 
government’s proposals is that delays on ‘A’ roads can be longer than on the 
Strategic Road Network and equally damaging to economic performance. 

2.10 The DfT’s consultation report can be accessed at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/
670527/major-road-network-consultation.pdf. The consultation is seeking 
views on the DfT’s proposals for the creation of a Major Road Network, and 
specifically: How to define the MRN; The role that local, regional & national 
bodies will play in the MRN investment programme; and Which schemes will 
be eligible for MRN funding. 

2.11 This consultation is not directly linked to the RIS2 consultation (identified in 
para. 2.2 above), but it can see be seen as a companion piece with shared 
themes. The MRN consultation identifies that the MRN will receive dedicated 
funding from the new National Roads Fund to improve standards and 
performance and that their approach will provide for a more consistent 
network across England, benefitting from more coordinated investment 
planning and programmes with clear local, regional and national roles. The 
DfT’s emphasis is on enhancement and major renewals including 
strengthened links with the Strategic Road Network. Other key features of the 
DfT’s proposals are: 

75

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/670527/major-road-network-consultation.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/670527/major-road-network-consultation.pdf


Defining the Network 

 The MRN is proposed to cover a similar mileage as the SRN i.e. an 
additional 2% of all roads by length. The DfT propose to include within this 
MRN all previously de-trunked roads. The DfT includes a map of an 
indicative MRN in the consultation material; 

Investment planning  

 A strong regional focus with the role of Strategic Transport Bodies 
recognised in informing investment decisions;

 No change to Local Highway Authority responsibilities in respect of the 
operational management of local roads, and no government proposal to 
replace existing funding streams e.g. Integrated Transport and Highways 
Maintenance Block;

 The importance of a regional evidence base with assessment of overall 
condition of the network and its performance - with the MRN evidence 
base and programme to be reviewed every 5 years; 

 An approach based on the identification of network wide issues and 
priorities and analysis of region wide solutions and interventions; 

Eligibility and Investment Assessment Criteria 

 Principally use of quantitative criteria with a focus on traffic flows to identify 
eligible roads for inclusion, then tested against qualitative criteria to ensure 
a coherent network e.g. adding links to join up roads;

 A focus on Linking Economic Centres including all towns / cities with a 
population greater than 50,000, also connecting all major ports, airports 
and key transport hubs;

 The DfT will only consider proposals for schemes in excess of £20M and 
up to £50M (with a maximum funding threshold of £100M for exceptional 
cases), with local or third party contributions suggested; 

 Types of schemes that are eligible would include: Bypasses; Missing links 
between existing sections of SRN and MRN; Widening the MRN; Major 
structural renewals; Major junction improvements; Variable Message 
Signs;  Traffic Management, Smart Technology and data and Packages of 
improvements;

 Types of schemes that would be excluded are: Schemes off the MRN; 
Schemes on the SRN; Public Transport interventions (unless part of a 
wider package supporting MRN objectives); and none specific / area wide 
funding bids.

2.12 The proposed key themes of the Combined Authority’s response to the 
consultation are to:

76



 Broadly welcome the creation of a Major Road Network and the allocation of 
the National Road Fund to the MRN to provide a long term funding stream 
supporting a pipeline of investments;

 Emphasise that the MRN should not be defined by quantitative criteria alone, 
with any threshold likely to be arbitrary and result in some economically 
important roads missing the cut for consideration. The Combined Authority 
and its partners recommend that each road should be considered individually 
against a combination of quantitative and qualitative criteria, with the 
consultation response to highlight reservations regarding the blanket inclusion 
of all de-trunked roads as this may lead to inappropriate inclusions in the 
MRN; 

 Identify concern with the proposed scale of the MRN with the DfT’s indicative 
map excluding a number of major roads within our West Yorkshire urban 
areas, with the response recommending instead that the MRN should be 
based on the work of Transport for the North (TfN) to define a more extensive 
MRN for the North. The West Yorkshire partners have inputted to TfN’s work 
along with other Combined Authorities and Highways Authorities across the 
North. TfN place greater emphasis on the economic role of roads as opposed 
to analysis of traffic flow/other traffic metrics, with their starting point being the 
identification of 200 current and future Important Economic Centres in the 
North (i.e. towns, cities, ports, airports, enterprise zones, universities and 
other key employment sites) to enable identifying the strategic, pan-northern 
links between these centres. The TfN proposal totals 3,389 miles and approx. 
7% of the total road network of the North, significantly larger that the DfT 
consultation proposal for a Major Road Network;

 Disagree with the cost thresholds for eligible schemes as being too narrow 
and unrealistic, and also with the exclusion of public transport schemes from 
MRN funding eligibility;

 Highlight the potential implications for maintenance funding that will be 
required in respect of road condition and traffic management systems and also 
funding requirements for the operational management of the network to cope 
with incidents and weather conditions to ensure greater resilience - with the 
response to emphasise a requirements for local authorities to be able to 
secure appropriate and balanced funding (i.e. capital and revenue) to deliver 
the raised expectations that the MRN will bring. 

2.13 A draft consultation response has been collated from the input of the West 
Yorkshire Districts Councils to provide elaboration on the themes identified in 
paragraph 2.12 above, and has been circulated separately to Transport 
Committee members for comment. The draft response will be finalised with the 
comments of Transport Committee and submitted to the DfT to their deadline 
of 19 March 2018.  

MHCLG consultation - Fair Funding Review

2.14 The MHCLG published this consultation on 19 December 2017 with a closing 
date for responses of 12 March 2018. This is a technical consultation in 
relation with relevance to the future revenue funding for local authorities, and 

77



covers a wide ranging review of the metrics used to allocate funds including 
proposals for how transport elements such as highway maintenance and 
gritting should be accounted for in the formula for assessing need. MHCLG 
has identified that it is keen to hear from transport authorities on these matters

2.15 The consultation report can be accessed at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/fair-funding-review-a-review-of-
relative-needs-and-resources. The highways elements of the consultation are 
identified in paragraph 4.3.9

2.16 Each of the West Yorkshire Districts is expected to respond to the consultation 
individually. A consistent response on the highways questions has been 
drafted by West Yorkshire District Asset Managers and shared with the 
Districts to include in their responses. The consistent response of the West 
Yorkshire District Councils to the highways questions is as follows:  

 
Question 13a): Do you agree that these are the key cost drivers affecting 
routine highways maintenance and concessionary travel services? 

The severity of winter also contributes to the day-to-day cost of maintaining 
roads over and above the cost of the winter service itself. Road condition 
deteriorates markedly in a severe winter. The day-to-day cost of road 
maintenance is also directly related to the overall condition of the roads in 
each local authority but the West Yorkshire partners appreciate that the use of 
a condition indicator in a funding formula can lead to a perverse incentive. An 
emerging and increasing road maintenance cost is resulting from the growing 
appreciation of the impact of poorly maintained road drainage on 
communities.  There is a greater pressure on road drainage maintenance in 
authorities with increasing rainfall patterns and with topography that leads to 
localised flooding.

Question 13b): Do you have views on what the most suitable data sets are to 
measure these or other key cost drivers affecting routine highways 
maintenance or concessionary travel services?

Road length and road condition is readily available in annual Department for 
Transport returns. Most authorities have independently provided weather 
stations that can supply road frost frequencies. Regional rainfall data is 
available from national weather providers. The number of road gullies 
requiring maintenance should be available from asset management systems 
within authorities. 
Whilst passenger boardings is the key indicator of demand for concessionary 
travel, the cost of the service is also determined by local factors relating to 
fares, average journey length and operating costs which are key inputs into 
the Department for Transport methodology for calculating reimbursement. Any 
review of funding mechanisms must reflect this methodology. 

 Question 14a): Do you have views on what the most suitable cost drivers for 
local bus support are?

78

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/fair-funding-review-a-review-of-relative-needs-and-resources
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/fair-funding-review-a-review-of-relative-needs-and-resources


The need for bus service support is a function of the local economy and 
geography together with the recent history in terms of commercial bus 
service provision. The cost of local bus service contracts is largely driven by 
operating costs and the degree of competition for tenders. The CA currently 
uses subsidy per passenger journey as its primary indicator of value for 
money. 

Question 14b): Do you have views on what the most suitable data sets are to 
measure the cost drivers for local bus support?

Typical industry operating costs per mile/ Km could provide a data set which 
could inform input costs. Authorities will have data on current supported 
mileage and patronage. 

3 Financial Implications

3.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report.

4 Legal Implications

4.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.

5 Staffing Implications

5.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report.

6 External Consultees

6.1 No external consultations have been undertaken.

7 Recommendations

7.1 That Transport Committee endorses the Combined Authority’s response to the 
DfT consultation on Shaping the Future of England’s Strategic Roads (RIS2).

7.2 That subject to the comments at this meeting, Transport Committee agrees 
the recommended key themes identified in paragraph 2.12 as forming the 
basis of the response of the Combined Authority to the DfT consultation on its 
Proposals for the Creation of a Major Road Network.

7.3 That Transport Committee notes the consistent response of the West 
Yorkshire District Councils identified in paragraph 2.16 to the highway 
questions contained in the MHCLG consultation on its Fair Funding Review, 
proposed to be included in individual West Yorkshire District responses.

79



8 Background Documents

The DfT’s consultation report on its Proposals for the Creation of a Major 
Road Network can be accessed at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/
670527/major-road-network-consultation.pdf. 

The MHCLG consultation report on its Fair Funding Review can be accessed 
at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/fair-funding-review-a-review-of-
relative-needs-and-resources.  

9 Appendices

Appendix 1 - The West Yorkshire Combined Authority’s final response to the 
DfT consultation on Shaping the future of England’s Strategic Roads (RIS2)

80

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/670527/major-road-network-consultation.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/670527/major-road-network-consultation.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/fair-funding-review-a-review-of-relative-needs-and-resources
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/fair-funding-review-a-review-of-relative-needs-and-resources


Appendix 1 - WYCA response to the DfT consultation Shaping the future of 
England’s Strategic Roads (RIS2):

SHAPING THE FUTURE OF ENGLAND’S STRATEGIC ROADS - DEPARTMENT 
FOR TRANSPORT (DfT) CONSULTATION ON HIGHWAYS ENGLAND’S 
STRATEGIC ROAD NETWORK INITIAL REPORT 

This is the collated response of the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and the five 
West Yorkshire Local Authorities of Bradford, Calderdale, Kirklees, Leeds and 
Wakefield. The Combined Authority and its partners welcomes the opportunity to 
respond to this consultation from the DfT. 

West Yorkshire Combined Authority is also a partner within Transport for the North 
(TfN). TfN has responded separately to this consultation on behalf of all of its 19 
Local Transport Authority partners and 11 Local Enterprise Partners. 

Our comments are informed by review of the following documents:-

 DfT’s ‘Shaping the Future of England’s Strategic Roads’ Consultation on 
Highways England’s Initial Report and DfT Analysis to inform RIS2; 

 Highways England’s Strategic Road Network Initial Report and Highways 
England’s analytical methods to inform proposals for the second Road Period 
(2020-25) 

OUR RESPONSE

1. Do you think Highways England’s proposals will deliver what users of the 
SRN want? If no, what could be done differently?

Overall the consultation documents provide an encouraging strategic overview of 
future road investment and a common sense approach to managing the SRN, which 
aligns with the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and its partner’s vision and 
requirements of modern, high performing transport connections that will deliver 
economic growth and a thriving North of England.

The Initial Report provides a high-level understanding of Highways England’s 
ambitions. The broad aspirations of the Initial Report support the West Yorkshire 
Transport Strategy 2040’s aspirations to see investment to improve performance on 
the Strategic Road Network (and also on the local road network) to add capacity 
where needed to improve journey times, reliability and resilience and also to deliver 
improvements in journey quality and safety, and information to aid journey planning. 
The policies contained in the West Yorkshire Transport Strategy were informed by 
two rounds of public and stakeholder consultation and identified a wide range of 
SRN users including drivers and passengers in cars, but also vans, lorries, coaches, 
buses taxis and motorcycles - and pedestrians and cyclists which interact with the 
SRN.   

The West Yorkshire partners are encouraged that the role of Strategic Transport 
Bodies (such as TfN) is recognised and by the statement of intent to work closer with 
partners to jointly agree priorities and investment for roads. The Initial Report 
proposals align with TfN’s long-term transformational planning. TfN Strategic 

81

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1



Transport Plan is currently out to consultation (to 17 April 2018) and in it TfN makes 
the case for transformational and sustained investment in the North’s transport 
connectivity as being critical, both between and within the cities of the North. The 
STP will provide a pan-northern statement of investment priorities and the benefits 
sought in the form of Conditional Output performance indicators for the Strategic 
Road Network (SRN) and a Major Road Network (MRN). 

We are positive that the creation of a National Road Fund to create long term 
funding for major roads will give greater certainty of pipeline and assurance to the 
supply chain. We note that hypothecated funding from Vehicle Excise Duty to fund 
improvements to the SRN and MRN could lead to those road users using or affected 
by these networks but not subject to VED (including, pedestrians, cyclists, 
equestrians and owners of zero-emissions vehicles) having less influence or input 
into investment delivered by the National Roads Fund. 

Furthermore, levels of VED income in the longer term seem subject to uncertainty 
given the increase of electric vehicles as a proportion of the overall fleet - with some 
forecasts for zero-emission/electric vehicles to form more than half of all new car 
registrations by 2027 (Go Ultra Low, 2016). We suggest that the design of the 
National Roads Fund and the communications around its implementation are 
carefully planned, in recognition of these sort of unintended consequences.

The SRN Initial Report succeeds in clearly identifying the wide range of users 
benefitting or affected by the SRN, but this is not matched by the DfT Consultation 
document which identifies road users as being those that are liable for VED. In our 
view all users, whether subject to VED or not, should have equal opportunities to 
engage with future investment decisions. This is consistent with our Transport 
Strategy which seeks to balance the needs of all road users. 

We welcome the recognition that Highways England’s future Road Investment 
Strategy (RIS) may commit to investment in the local road network, or other transport 
modes, where it is anticipated that doing so would have a positive impact on the 
operation of the SRN - but we ask for clarity on how this will be considered and 
delivered in the development of the next RIS period (RIS2).

We welcome the reference to the benefits of establishing a Major Road Network. 
Detailed West Yorkshire comments will be provided separately as part of the 
response of the Combined Authority and its partners to the DfT consultation on its 
Proposals for the Creation of a Major Road Network - but a key theme of our 
response is expected to be the disparity between the extent of the indicative MRN 
shown in the DfT MRN consultation material and the more comprehensive MRN for 
the North proposed by TfN which has been developed with the input of northern 
partners - and the implications that this may have for the scale and nature of funding 
of improvements away from the Strategic Road Networks. 

The Initial Report understandably adopts a flexible approach to identifying 
investment priorities at this stage, but to answer this question fully it would have 
been helpful to be given clearer indications of the proportion of any given funding 
that each proposal would receive. There is a lack of clarity on which elements 
Highways England will prioritise for delivery and when.  Similarly the Initial Report 

82



identifies seven key challenges but it would be useful to see an action plan on how 
these are to be addressed. 

Further detail on the integration of the SRN with Public Transport could have been 
provided. Public Transport is a key issue for our adopted WY Transport Strategy and 
we are keen to support the sustainable delivery of this provision via alignment with 
SRN enhancements  Additionally, questions arising from growth in Mobility as a 
Service are not well dealt with. 

The West Yorkshire partners are aware that the National Audit Office’s report: 
“Progress with the Road Investment Strategy”, (March 2017) has had some far 
reaching implications in terms of Highways England’s capacity to deliver the 
ambitious number and complexity of improvement schemes set out in RIS1. We are 
encouraged by the ORR’s “Benchmarking Highways England” report of December 
2017 that shows Highways England making good progress in identifying and 
implementing efficiency improvements.

The findings from the Nichols Report: “Sample based review of Highways England’s 
major schemes” (March 2017) show that there are certain elements that need to be 
addressed when delivering a programme major schemes, in particular:

 There is an apparent culture of over-emphasis on delivery to timescales
 Baseline costs set at too early a stage in development
 An apparent insufficient definition and specificity of project requirements and RIS 

performance metrics that are effectively applied at a project and option level.

The West Yorkshire partners would like to see evidence that these issues will be 
addressed in RIS2 and that there is certainty of the benefits, costs and deliverability 
of the programme.

From a local perspective we wish to see a firm commitment to delivering the 
schemes that were either rescheduled or identified as needing further development 
work to achieve an acceptable return on investment in the Supplementary Delivery 
Plan published on the 19th October 2017. For our region this is ensuring that the 
further work required for the M62/M606 Chain Bar scheme is progressed as a matter 
of urgency and is delivered within the RIS2 period.

2. Do you think Highways England’s proposals will deliver what businesses 
want? If no, what could be done differently?

Congestion is costly for businesses and freight operators.  By investing in the 
proposals set out in the Initial Report, Highways England can make a tangible 
difference to the running of businesses, improving their efficiency and productivity.

Congestion on the M1 and M62 is especially critical for business operations in West 
Yorkshire and the Leeds city Region given the location of the SRN within a dense 
and extensive urban area with multiple centres. Movement along these corridors is 
critical for moving goods, people and services. Our Leeds City Region Strategic 
Economic Plan (SEP) identifies a range of Spatial Priority Areas for growth across 
the City Region. Many of these Spatial Priority Areas rely on connectivity with the 
M62 corridor particularly to provide access to labour and markets. This specifically 

83



includes our Enterprise Zone sites in the West Yorkshire districts of Bradford (via the 
M606), Calderdale, Kirklees, Leeds and Wakefield (via the M1). Enhancing road 
connectivity is also key for our emerging residential/mixed use sites e.g. North 
Kirklees Growth Zone, Bradford Land and East Leeds Extension. For sites of this 
scale, suitable highway and SRN access can be key to unlocking growth, whilst also 
enhancing market/developer confidence when making strategic and long term 
investment decisions. To support development of these strategic sites we would 
welcome recognition that delivery in these locations will often span multiple 5-year 
investment periods e.g. 15 years + in some cases. Therefore a longer term view and 
certainty is required. TfN’s 30 year investment programme is expected to have a 
positive impact for long term spatial planning in pursuit of economic objectives.  

Recent Local Plan Examinations in West Yorkshire have demonstrated the 
Government-appointed Inspectors views on the importance of the SRN to bringing 
forward district’s growth ambitions in terms of employment and housing allocations. 
This has been illustrated than in recent infrastructure discussions around the 
importance of the M62/M606 Chain Bar improvements. This is a recognised location 
of existing congestion and it is critically important to find a solution to the problem 
now as well as ensuring that the economic aspirations of the local District authorities 
and the wider region are met by ensuring the safe and efficient passage of vehicles 
through this junction.

More detail could have been provided on personalised travel information e.g. how 
and when it will be made available for individuals, business and freight operators for 
both pre and in-journey information – this could make significant improvements for 
more reliable and resilient end to end journeys

Easy access to reliable information will be particularly helpful for freight haulers, 
enabling them to reduce their journey times and meet deadlines. Much improved 
driver facilities on or close to the SRN have also been highlighted by the Freight 
industry through our West Yorkshire Transport Strategy engagement as necessary 
to support the growth, resilience and efficient operation of the industry. The Initial 
Report could however provide more detail on changing requirements for the 
movement of goods and how the SRN can adapt to those changes.  

We welcome the review of current diversionary routes. It is vitally important that work 
to develop the RIS2 programme (and parallel work to define and enhance a Major 
Road Network) includes work to establish and improve the most suitable diversion 
routes and proactively advertise these routes. The importance of this will only 
increase as the need for roadworks increases and it will be central to ensuring 
customer satisfaction. 

The reliance on the M62 as the main trans-Pennine east-west route is an issue that 
needs to be resolved in consultation with stakeholders and partners.  As the highest 
motorway in the country this heavily trafficked route is subject to severe weather 
related and traffic incidents. Frequent minor incidents (e.g. breakdowns) cause 
delays on local roads, with major incidents and closures causing gridlock for many 
hours before these roads can return to normal operating conditions. This situation 
has a significant impact on the operation of businesses, communities and partner 
agencies to deliver vital services. Alternative routes on local roads including the 

84



Emergency diversion routes are unable to cope with the volume of traffic and are 
unsuitable (with low bridges and narrow roads) through towns and villages. 

The integration of the SRN with local roads is a key consideration. The quality of the 
connections between these two networks can make all the difference for business 
movements and for realising development opportunities. Nationally the SRN makes 
up just 2% of the road network. Within West Yorkshire there are 100 miles of 
motorway and 6,000 miles of local roads managed by the five West Yorkshire Local 
Authorities. Accessing and making best use of the SRN requires a fit for purpose 
local road network providing appropriate capacity and performance in the right 
places.  The Combined Authority and the West Yorkshire Local Authorities have 
adopted a 400m local Key Route Network supported by collaborative working 
practices to enhance our relationship with the SRN and Highways England, and the 
West Yorkshire partners are working with TfN to identify and establish a Major Road 
Network that includes the most important elements of this network that support pan-
northern movements between our important Economic centres. Our view is that the 
MRN should receive significant investment to provide a network that better connects 
with and compliments the SRN. The Initial Report doesn’t provide a clear sense of 
how the better integration of the SRN and MRN could work.

Continued upgrades of key motorways to smart motorways should also have a 
positive impact on businesses in the North. Recently completed RIS1 Smart 
Motorways operation to the M62 has been largely beneficial. However there is need 
to address the impact that this is having on junctions where bottlenecks are 
becoming evident. 

All lane running has gained some extra capacity however relatively minor incidents 
such as breakdowns are causing significant impact as lane capacity is reduced 
causing disproportionate delays on the motorway and local road network. The use of 
rapid intervention to deal with incidents and return the SRN to normal operating 
conditions is now more imperative. Collaboration with local highways authorities 
working together to manage incidents on our respective networks and the provision 
of real time information for road users has also become more imperative. We would 
welcome greater clarity about how this will be achieved.

The Combined Authority and its partners are also supportive of proposals to future-
proofing investments in respect of new technologies (connected and autonomous 
vehicles) as it will open more development and employment opportunities for 
residents in the North. We need however need to understand the impact and risk this 
will have on managing our respective road networks and we would welcome more 
clarity and understanding of the policy/strategy and operational impact of applying 
these advances in technology.

3. Do you think Highways England’s proposals meet the needs of people 
affected by the presence of the Strategic Road Network? If no, what could 
be done differently?

The West Yorkshire partners welcome the environmental ambition included in the 
Initial Report and comments about enhancing the environment. Highways England 

85



should seek to go beyond mitigation of impacts to an active role in enhancing the 
environment in which the SRN exists.

With respect to air quality, we welcome the report’s recognition of the impact that 
that traffic on the SRN has on local air quality and the role of the Highways England. 
Poor air quality is not simply generated on local authority roads and solely a 
responsibility devolved to them for appropriate action, and Highways England should 
support and lead on activities to create cleaner, healthier environments.  We endorse 
the establishment of an air quality monitoring network to monitor air quality, however 
there needs to be greater consideration of HE’s role in improving air quality, 
especially for urban sections of the SRN which pass through densely populated 
areas. Emissions generated on the SRN will have an impact on the West Yorkshire 
partners’ ability to deliver the policies within the West Yorkshire Transport Strategy 
2040, and the objectives of the West Yorkshire Low Emission Strategy – as well as 
local authorities’ ability to mitigate against poor air quality within declared Air Quality 
Management Areas. The Designated Fund offers an important opportunity to 
mitigate against air quality impacts, but further discussion will be required with Local 
Authorities to identify the locations of greatest concern. Highways England should 
use experience and measures gained through the current pilot studies to inform 
discussions around mitigation.

We welcome the Highways England target of ensuring 95% of the SRN will have a 
charging point within 20 miles however there is a significant risk in ensuring the 
equipment supports the proposed significant uptake of ULEVs by 2020 through 
greater rollout of PAYG rapid charging infrastructure. To mitigate against significant 
capital costs for electrical upgrades, smart technology should be used to balance 
charging between users, dependent on their stopping duration. 

Range anxiety and perceived barriers to charge point use are seen as some of the 
key barriers to mass EV uptake. A PAYG network will ensure that these barriers are 
removed for longer journeys undertaken by EV drivers on the SRN through open and 
easy access to a nationwide charge point network. 

Delivery of new or upgraded highway infrastructure provides a significant opportunity 
to deliver a range of environmental enhancements, specifically in relation to Green 
Infrastructure/biodiversity, air quality management and water management/flood 
protection. Many of our existing projects and programmes in West Yorkshire are 
funded from multiple sources and we regularly co-develop or fund schemes with 
government agencies e.g. Environment Agency. WYCA and our partners would 
welcome the ability to consider the how opportunities in this area could be identified, 
funded and delivered in the future. 

The Leeds City Region Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy sets out the 
ambitions for supporting ‘good growth’ in the region by ‘ensuring everybody in the 
city region is within easy reach of an outstanding and well used network of green and 
blue infrastructure that reduces flood risks and supports health, the economy, the 
environment and a superb quality of life.’ The Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy 
sets out commitments that include ‘making quality GBI a defining feature of the way 
we do development and developing 1000 miles of GBI rich corridors, including 

86



canals, rail, road, and a city region cycle route network’. The West Yorkshire 
Transport Strategy recognises the benefits of Green and Blue infrastructure to 
enhance transport scheme delivery and includes policies to ‘protect and where 
possible enhance our Green Infrastructure and Townscapes’ through the projects we 
deliver. 

Our Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy includes support for a proposed White 
Rose Forest, which support delivery of the wider Northern Forest announced by The 
Woodland Trust in January 2018. We would like to see greater recognition that 
‘green strategic corridors’ could have in developing the Northern Forest and the 
positive impacts that tree planting would have on reducing noise, improvements in 
biodiversity and supporting improvement in air quality. The latter is a key issue for 
WYCA and our partners, specifically notes the role of air quality in the context of 
inclusive growth, environmental performance and health and wellbeing. 

WYCA and its partners supports the continuation of Designated Funds and the 
proposals for the provision of Designated Funds in RIS2 period (contained in Section 
5.4) are encouraging. We support the widening of scope for the proposed Wellbeing 
and Environment and Connecting Communities Funds. These funds, along with the 
Innovation Fund will be critical to ensure that schemes can go beyond mitigation of 
impacts towards delivering a step change in quality of environment for communities 
affected by the presence of the SRN.As such the scale of funding must match the 
statement of ambition and stakeholders’ expectations, enabling delivery at the scale 
and quality of intervention required. For example the need to address severance 
caused by the SRN will require significant levels of funding within the Connecting 
Communities fund in excess for the £100m available within the current Cycling Fund.

Whilst Designated Funds allow delivery of schemes to mitigate impacts caused by 
the existing network, the proposals in the Initial Report to enhance the SRN in the 
RIS2 period with ambitious schemes to  provide capacity on SRN (for example the 
delivery of new expressways, or upgrades to existing junctions) must include high 
quality mitigation against impacts on other users and communities within project 
budgets and scope – including environmental impact, severance and social cohesion 
and movement and safety of non-motorised users. Existing guidance such as 
Highways England’s own Interim Advice Note 195/16 “Cycle Traffic and the Strategic 
Road Network” should be adhered to within design of all new schemes, as well as 
due attention being paid to any other best practice or guidance relating to green 
infrastructure, pedestrian facilities and other considerations.

The priorities for maintaining the asset also offer the means to mitigate some 
impacts – but this needs to be recognised as a key part of the approach towards 
maintaining asset condition. Improvements to road surfaces should seek to reduce 
noise and tyre wear as well as reducing whole life costs. The impact of road surface 
on traffic noise from the SRN is particularly important as even though the proportion 
of zero-emission vehicles within the vehicle fleet is expected to increase, resulting in 
noise benefits through reduced engine noise – these are likely to be smaller on the 
SRN  where traffic speeds are higher and engine noise becomes a significant 
contributor to traffic noise.

87



The preferred approach to asset condition of soft estate should be strengthened in 
its ambition to restore estate condition and increase biodiversity – a net gain in 
biodiversity should be achieved much earlier than 2040, and the aim should be to 
reduce the length of time needed to provide sufficient habitat to achieve a net gain 
following scheme delivery in RIS2. 

4. Do you agree with Highways England’s proposals for:-

Four categories of road and the development of Expressways (Initial Report 
sections 4.4.3 and 5.3.6)

The Combined Authority and its partners broadly agree with the four categories of 
road. High standards of maintenance and the smooth operation of the SRN is 
essential to the vision of WYCA and its partners. With four distinct categories of 
road, Highways England can ensure appropriate standards across the SRN, suited 
to the traffic demand of the location/type. The breakdown of roads will also allow 
Highways England to prioritise their investments and develop the network according 
to capacity needs. 

The development of expressways will need to ensure that quality and safety of 
provision for non-motorised users is not reduced by the increase in capacity for 
vehicular traffic – the aim should be to enhance provision rather than provide “some” 
provision as suggested in 5.3.6, especially expressways are developed in phases 3 
and 4. For example, for cycle traffic the level of provision identified in Interim Advice 
Note IAN 195/16 should be applied.

The West Yorkshire partners would welcome an opportunity to discuss with 
Highways England opportunities for the delivery of Expressways in the region (e.g. 
Kirklees Council highlights the potential for the A628 between junction 4 of the M67 
and the M1 to become an Expressway, in line with the outcomes of the 
Transpennine Tunnel and the North of England Wider Transport Connectivity 
strategic studies being undertaken).

Operational priorities (Initial Report section 5.1) 

There is a need for the SRN and local roads to function effectively together with 
seamless interaction - this requires good collaboration, effective operational 
procedures and interfaces between control and information systems of the 
respective managing authorities. The West Yorkshire authorities would welcome 
closer working with Highways England for the benefit of road users (e.g. We would 
support and strongly encourage further collaboration with local authorities, and 
implementation of co-ordinated traffic management systems, linking Highways 
England’s UTMC with the planned West Yorkshire Key Route Network joint UTMC 
system). A similar point is made with regard to the planning, management and co-
ordination of roadworks across the SRN and local networks. Whilst the early 
involvement of the local Highway Authorities is increasingly prevalent, there is scope 
to explore further how coordinated operations can be more effectively achieved 
whilst minimising delay and disruption on our respective networks. 

The West Yorkshire partners highlight an investment priority in improving the 
resilience of the SRN against the risk of severe weather. The high Pennine routes 

88



(M62 and A628) are the main east- west routes across the north. The M62 is the 
route of ‘last resort’ in winter weather which if closed causes major disruption to the 
region.  

Infrastructure priorities (Initial Report section 5.2)

The West Yorkshire partners would support the combination of replacing assets and 
extending their current lifecycles with minor upgrades as this would allow Highways 
England to deal with asset management in a gradual and measured approach – 
rather than put pressure on resources and operational efficiency of the network.

We welcome that whole life costing will be used as part of the decision making for 
asset management investment.

A local priorities fund (Initial Report section 5.3.8)

It would be useful to provide details of how many smaller schemes have been 
implemented through the Local Priorities Fund, their location and nature – 
nevertheless the West Yorkshire partners welcome the re-establishment of this fund 
and opportunities for Highways England to support Combined and Local Authorities 
with provide much-needed congestion relief. We would strongly support a ‘single pot’ 
approach to any new funding opportunity. Thus reducing the need for detailed bids to 
be produced by local/combined authorities. 

We see opportunity to build on work already undertaken with local area Highways 
England Officers to identify and embed local priority schemes in Local Plan 
Infrastructure delivery planning. The West Yorkshire partners are aware that a lot of 
good work is undertaken at a local level when assessing the impacts of districts local 
plan aspirations on the SRN. This work is often carried out by the land use planning 
section of Highways England but does not appear to always inform the longer-term 
network planning of the SRN. West Yorkshire would like to seek through the RIS 
scheme definition process greater links with schemes identified through the land use 
planning process.

We would also welcome an opportunity for schemes on the West Yorkshire Key 
Route Network (KRN) to be considered within context of this proposed fund. This is 
noting the role the KRN plays is supporting connectivity to/from the SRN. 

Future studies (Initial Report section 5.3.11)

WYCA would expect TfN to be an equal partner and co-client in the prioritisation 
scoping and commissioning of future studies in the North.

The free-flow connections at key junctions would be beneficial to the whole network 
as it would reduce congestion and increase reliability but the improvements also 
need to be delivered to the Local Road Networks to ensure free flow of traffic after it 
leaves the SRN. 

The integration hubs are essential, and WYCA and partners would be fully support 
further studies to deliver an efficient and integrated transport network that delivers 
transformational economic growth for the North and England.

89



TfN is carrying out an assessment of key routes already via its Strategic 
Development Corridor studies, with the input of DfT, Highways England, Combined 
and Local Authorities and other transport providers. The work on the SDC’s will put 
TfN and its partners in a good position to prioritise road investment proposals and 
TfN’s multi-modal assessments will be able to give a long term, strategic and holistic 
understanding of what is required on the transport network e.g. in some locations 
railways may deliver a higher level of productivity than the local motorways and 
expressways. As such, the prioritisation of investments for the SRN may change. 
(The West Yorkshire partners are looking to both the TfN work and RIS Local 
Studies to inform the RIS process e.g. Kirklees Council interest in understanding the 
wider economic benefits of a scheme at Junction 24a on the M62). 

Designated funds (Initial Report section 5.4) 

The West Yorkshire partners welcome the continuation of Designated Funds and 
broadly support the proposals for the provision of Designated Funds in the RIS2 
period – but clarity is required on the criteria and application of these funds, including 
the making of collective bids across different funds. 

Generally, the West Yorkshire partners believe there needs to be a more flexible 
approach when looking at the potential for scheme inclusion in all the designated 
funds and Highways England should be empowered to make decisions without the 
need for referral/clarification to and from the Department.

The experience of Designated Funds in RIS1 was at times frustrating. The current 
five Designated Funds generally proved difficult to access/influence and some of 
these funds feature significant underspend on the part of Highways England. There 
was a lack of clarity in guidance and consistency in approach to the Funds – for 
example a formal invitation to LEPs was issued for the Growth and Housing Fund, 
but this approach was not replicated for the other funds e.g. the Cycling Fund. 
Furthermore the nature of some of the Funds, involving competitive bidding 
competitions are time consuming and costly exercises for bidders and do not aid 
strategic or long term planning. Providing funds on a thematic basis also undermined 
opportunities for collaborative working and the investigation and delivery of more 
imaginative, collective approaches that seek to address a number of issues in a 
location. 

Careful thought must be given how Designated Funds are accessed and applied in 
RIS2 to provide consistency of approach, communication and liaison with 
stakeholders. Combined and Local Authorities should be recognised as key partners 
in terms of providing local intelligence on impacts on local communities from the 
SRN, and opportunities to reduce these, linked to local plans and priorities (e.g, local 
growth aspirations, local cycling and walking networks etc.) Early engagement with 
stakeholders including Combined and Local Authorities will help maximise the 
number of potential schemes identified for consideration. In this respect the 
approach taken for the Growth and Housing Fund should be replicated, with a formal 
launch and invitation to collaborate issued, and clear criteria identified. For some 
funds, for example Connecting Communities, the use of stakeholder workshops 
might provide the best way to bring together stakeholders representing different 
groups to identify common issues and solutions.

90



Delivery of the Designated Funds in RIS1 should be used to inform RIS2, and 
provide Highways England and stakeholders with examples and case studies of 
schemes delivered, lessons learnt and any evaluation carried out.

The Growth and Housing Fund is supported in that it should help improve access to 
the SRN and unlock growth locations. However, from our West Yorkshire experience 
the scoring mechanism used in RIS1 had an undue focus and weighting in favour of 
large scale strategic sites (circa 5,000 homes). At the current time the West 
Yorkshire partners have a number of these sites emerging through the plan making 
process and they are recognised in our SEP as strategic priorities e.g. North Kirklees 
Growth Zone, East Leeds Extension, Leeds South Bank and Bradley Park (Kirklees). 
However, none of these locations met the Fund’s criteria for outline/full planning 
approval and were therefore ineligible. Many of these locations require significant 
highway interventions to unlock their delivery but they are unlikely to progress to 
outline or full planning approval without a commitment from public sector partner to 
support strategic infrastructure delivery, such as highway access. The early (i.e. pre-
planning approval) support for highway access should be considered in future 
iterations of this Fund. A more flexible approach might be taken in RIS2 to 
demonstrating how a scheme might bring forward potential allocations or just as 
importantly further improve the operation of the SRN where existing allocations have 
already been brought forward.

We support the widening of scope for the proposed Wellbeing and Environment and 
Connecting Communities Funds, and these funds along with the Innovation Fund will 
be critical to ensure that schemes can go beyond mitigation of impacts towards 
delivering a step change in quality of environment for communities affected by the 
presence of the SRN - as such the scale of funding must match the statement of 
ambition, and to  stakeholders’ expectations and to create the scale and quality of 
intervention required. For example the need to address severance caused by the 
SRN will require significant levels of funding within the Connecting Communities fund 
in excess for the £100m available within the current Cycling Fund.

We welcome the reports’ recognition of the role that all road transport and the SRN 
has on improving UK air quality. Poor air quality is not simply generated on local 
authority roads and solely a responsibility devolved to them for appropriate action, 
and Highways England should support and lead on activities to create cleaner, 
healthier environments.  We endorse the establishment of an air quality monitoring 
network to monitor air quality, however there needs to be greater consideration of 
HE’s role in improving air quality, especially for urban sections of the SRN which 
pass through densely populated areas. The Designated Fund offers an important 
opportunity to mitigate against air quality impacts, but further discussion will be 
required with Local Authorities to identify the locations of greatest concern. Highways 
England should use experience and measures gained in the current Fund delivery to 
inform discussions around mitigation. 

Roadside facilities are welcome in potentially providing enhancements to the quality 
of using the SRN and we welcome the recognition in the Initial Report of the 
particular need for these facilities experienced by HGV drivers, which is an issue that 
has been raised through our local liaison with the Freight Transport Association. 

91



Performance measures and targets (Initial Report section 6.3)

The West Yorkshire partners strongly support Highways England taking the 
opportunity to collaborate with other infrastructure owners and operators. This would 
enable Highways England to have performance targets that reflect the increasing 
demand for a better integrated multi-modal transport network. 

Having fewer performance measures, that are more relevant to the road users, could 
provide Highways England with clarification on how to meet and exceed customer 
expectations. 

Clarity is required on how Local Highway Authorities and STBs (e.g. TfN) could 
influence and monitor the performance measures and targets. 

5. Are there any other proposals in the Initial Report that you do not agree 
with? If so, which ones and what could be done differently?

No response

6. Do you agree with Highways England’s assessment of the future needs of 
the strategic road network? If no, how would you change the assessment?

Accurately understanding future trends is essential to ensure the transport system in 
the North is future-proofed. 

Future needs are shaped by the identification of nine trends across three core areas: 

 Demand;
 infrastructure; and
 Vehicles.

The West Yorkshire partners welcome this trend identification and the subsequent 
“Potential Future Scenarios” section. However the West Yorkshire partners feel there 
needs to be a better connection between the Department for Transport’s Road 
Traffic Forecasts and growth scenarios, which are well documented, and the work 
Highways England has carried out. Whilst it is clear how the RIS2 programme is 
developed using the suite of analytical tools described in the “,Highways England’s 
analytical methods to inform our proposals for the second Road Period, there seems 
to be no firm conclusion drawn from the nine trends identified in the Connecting the 
country: Planning for the long term document. This is particularly evident in the 
seemingly lack of supporting evidence is identifying how the Expressway concept 
has been arrived at, making it seem more of a policy decision that an analytical one.

TfN’s multi-modal Northern Transport Demand Model, as part of its Analytical 
Framework, which incorporates Highways England’s regional traffic models, will be 
indispensable in determining the future trends of movement for the North’s residents, 
businesses, and goods. It will estimate how changes in employment, population and 
the transport network affect travel patterns across the North and forecast demands 
on the road and rail networks in 2050, using the findings of the Northern Powerhouse 
Independent Economic Review. 

92

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/666877/Highways_England_s_analytical_methods_to_inform_our_proposals_for_the_second_Road_Period.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/666877/Highways_England_s_analytical_methods_to_inform_our_proposals_for_the_second_Road_Period.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/666876/Connecting_the_country_Planning_for_the_long_term.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/666876/Connecting_the_country_Planning_for_the_long_term.pdf


7. How far does the initial report meet the government’s aims of: (Rate 1-7, 
1=doesn’t meet aim at all, 7= completely meets aim) (described in paragraph 
2.3)

 Economy 5

 Network Capability 5

 Safety 4

 Integration 3

 Environment 4

Which aims could Highways England do more to meet and how? 

Network Capability

As the Initial Report repeatedly demonstrates there is a growing need for a fully 
integrated and multi-modal transport network. Whilst TfN, WYCA and its partners 
support investment in building new roads and improving current roads, we are 
seeking to revolutionise the rail system of the North, adding capacity and reliability 
that will allow more people and more goods to be transported by rail rather than 
road. 

The proposed allocation of funding for an MRN can’t be restricted simply to 
roadbuilding schemes. The nature of the routes through town and village centres 
means that additional capacity can’t simply be built in and we need to explore better 
ways to manage traffic flows either through active traffic management along the 
routes or perhaps looking at ways to intercept traffic flows earlier and disperse them 
across a wider choice of emergency diversion routes if the motorway is closed.

For freight, we are also considering ways to maximise use of the North’s rail network 
and also potentially inland waterways (- in West Yorkshire the Aire & Calder 
Navigation. These investments could have a profound impact on the network 
capability of the SRN - so we suggest that these potential shifts in transport usage 
are reflected in Highways England’s future forecast of the network capabilities.

More information could have been provided on the approach to innovation applied to 
network capability and operations. Should for example opportunities to treat modes 
differently, using policy incentives to influence the journeys so that the SRN road 
space could be used more efficiently. 

Safety

With safety now as the top priority at Highways England the RIS 1, safety 
improvements have been significant for both road users and Highways England staff 
and consultants e.g. reducing the accident frequency rate by 27-33%. However, 
instead of meeting the annual performance target of a 40% reduction of KSIs on the 

93



network by the end of 2020, Highways England noted a 6.1% increase in 2017’s KSI 
numbers. Further clarity is required on how improved safety will be delivered. 

Further information on who is more vulnerable on the SRN may provide more focus 
when providing safety improvements, especially if these improvements target 
behavioural changes

With the establishment of the Major Road Network, TfN and its partners will be able 
to support Highways England in their efforts to improve safety in the North by 
promoting relevant policies and interventions. Through influencing travel behaviours 
and appropriate safety upgrades, TfN and Highways England can work together to 
meet the challenge of reducing the number of KSIs in the North.

Integration

The Initial Report could be more explicit on the relationship of the SRN and MRM 
and the role that strengthened MRN connections (in West Yorkshire, particularly 
east-west connections) could have on improving access to economic assets and at 
same time releasing capacity on the SRN (e.g. M62) to improve the reliability for 
users.
The Initial Report could be more explicit on how the Initial Report will assist multi-
modal journeys. A greater focus needs to be given on how the SRN can play its role 
in providing seamless journeys for citizens, business and freight. This could be links 
to HS2 or Northern Powerhouse Rail stations, new strategic park and ride sites or 
other opportunities for interchange.
8. Do you think there should be any change in the roads included in the SRN? 
If so, which roads would you propose are added to or removed from the SRN, 
and why?

The SRN will continue to provide an integral link to economic centres, urban areas, 
international hubs, as well across the borders to Scotland and Wales. TfN’s Major 
Road Network will ‘fill the gaps’ that will enable the North to achieve transformational 
economic growth and other benefits as identified in the NPIER. 

As evidenced in the Initial Major Roads Report, the SRN consists of mainly north-
south connections in the North while there are few high-speed connections from East 
to West, other than the M62. Is there an over reliance on the M62 to achieve this 
east west connectively; a route which is subject to severe weather conditions and 
significant details resulting from incidents resulting in major delays on local roads. 
TfN and its partners are seeks to strengthen these connections with Highways 
England and local authorities so we can provide the necessary access to the North’s 
economic assets. This could also release further capacity on the SRN such as on the 
M62, and improve the reliability of the SRN for customers. 

Further analysis and consultation would need to be carried out with partners before a 
fuller answer could be given.

9. Is there anything else we need to consider when making decisions about 
investment in the SRN?  If so, what other factors do you want considered? 
Please provide links to any published information that you consider 
relevant. 

94



 The Initial Report could be more explicit on how the Initial Report will assist 
multi-modal journeys. A greater focus needs to be given on how the SRN can 
play its role in providing seamless journeys for citizens, business and freight. 
This could be links to HS2 or Northern Powerhouse Rail stations, new strategic 
park and ride sites or other opportunities for interchange.

 There is no recognition of the role that higher speed and improved capacity inter-
urban rail transport could play in releasing capacity and improving resilience of 
the SRN. The modelling work that TfN is currently developing will assist TfN, DfT 
and HE in identify the cumulative road and rail benefits of Northern Powerhouse 
Rail and TfN’s Long Term Rail Strategy.

 Addressing key hotspots on the SRN is important - but it is disappointing that 
packaging of different types of schemes to provide corridor solutions, rather than 
looking at hotspots in isolation is not recognised with greater priority to unlock 
and transform the economy. Better corridor connectivity would assist in creating 
greater agglomeration amongst important economic centres across the North.

 More needs to be made of the role of transport in the roll-out of high speed 
digital connectivity, specifically full fibre networks and 5G roll out. DCLG and 
DCMS are leading a variety of work in this area at the moment, with DCMS 
funding Network Rail’s fibre infrastructure roll out along the TransPennine rail 
route between Leeds, York and Manchester. Across Leeds City Region three 
bids were submitted in January to DCMS’s Local Full Fibre Networks Challenge 
Fund to support delivery of fibre infrastructure and associated ducting. One of 
the bid relates to delivery of fibre-ready ducting along 60km of road within the 
660km West Yorkshire Key Route Network (KRN) on the basis that this will 
provide inter-connectivity with our existing Urban Traffic Control network. The 
produced fibre network will also provide a framework to support follow on 
investment in 5G connectivity for transport, economic and community based 
applications. 

 Within the Leeds City Region conversations have already been held with 
Network Rail to align our respective fibre programmes and opportunities to 
provide enhanced digital resilience both locally and nationally. We’d welcome a 
similar conversation with DfT and Highways England in relation to future 
investment in the SRN.

 Do the travel models take the future changes in PT demands into account?

 If Public Transport and Mobility as a Service demand increases, the SRN travel 
demand may skew towards freight – would this change the future planning of the 
SRN? e.g. A stronger focus on connected and autonomous vehicles?

 Should the impact of Brexit be considered in respect of how it impact on travel 
demand - is this suitably reflected in the future economic models?

10. Does the analytical approach taken (chapter 6 and the strategy document 
accompanying this consultation) have the right balance between ambition, 
robustness and proportionality? If no, what do you suggest we do 
differently?

Overall, it appears that good progress has been made on the analytical approach 
since RIS1 portfolio development. Especially, the introduction of economy and output 

95



models are steps in the right direction. A good emphasis has been placed on the 
importance on analytical assurance and development of tools and processes for 
modelling and appraisal. There are however some issues listed below which the 
West Yorkshire partners believe should be considered:

Economy Model

It is encouraging to see alongside welfare benefits, economic impacts of road 
schemes such as jobs and GVA impacts will be accounted for via a new economy 
model - however, there needs to be further clarity on several issues.

• It has not been made clear how robust the economy model is, what scrutiny has 
taken place and what was the outcome, and how the model will be checked in 
the future to test model forecasts;

• It is unclear how the economy model will be used with Regional Transport 
Models (RTM). Economic performance has impact on transport demand and it 
has not been made clear whether there will be feedback loops with RTM 
demand models to account for change in demand due to economic performance 
and to develop sensitivity/alternative scenarios and the impacts on such 
scenarios on demand. 

• It is unclear what scenarios will be modelled in economy models. It is also 
unclear how big shocks such as exiting from the European Union and single 
market will be explicitly modelled and used in demand forecasting and 
assessment of economic impact of road schemes; 

• It has been suggested that economy model will be able to provide outputs on 
both economic activity and social welfare – but it is unclear how some of the 
common elements of GDP and welfare impacts will be untangled. It is also 
unclear whether the social welfare impacts will be admissible in VfM appraisal;

• It is unclear for what type of schemes economy models can be and will be used. 
How to define the ‘transformational’ schemes has also not been made clear (e.g. 
based on value of the scheme or direct impact on housing or businesses etc);

• It is unclear whether the net national impact approach advocated by HMT and 
DfT will have any bearing on prioritising investments on road schemes. It is of a 
concern that including economic benefit for ‘transformational schemes’ may 
unduly benefit schemes in the regions with already better performing economic 
activities rather than the regions with need for further investments;

• To maintain consistency in appraising economic impact of investing in SRN and 
local roads, the economy model should be made available for local and regional 
authorities. It should also be noted that building and maintaining economy model 
requires significant resource and specialist skills, much of that is not available to 
most authorities. 

Regional Transport Models

• It is unclear how robustly the multi-modal approach of appraisal of solutions to a 
transport problem will be considered. It has been suggested that RTM has a 
simple rail model. Given the importance and growing popularity of rail usage, rail 

96



improvements will need to be part of the solution for a transport problem. 
Significant rail improvements are being considered as part of the Transport for 
the North’s (TfN) portfolio development. It is unclear how planned rail 
improvements and potential rail schemes as a corridor solution to a transport 
problem will be appraised and with what level of robustness to have confidence 
on the optioneering and VfM assessment at optioneering; 

• Road journey do not start or end on Strategic Road Network (SRN). It has not 
been made clear how well RTMs model the local road network and takes 
account of the potential impact of Highways England’s road schemes on such 
roads. All economic, social and environmental impacts on local roads should 
also be taken into consideration and clearly presented in the decision making 
process.

• It is commendable to see approaches are being considered to tackle 
uncertainties in the forecasting by modelling various scenarios. However, it is 
unclear how these scenarios were developed, what assumptions have been 
made and how it will impact on the demand forecasting. Also how robustly 
change in car ownership trends and the impact of Autonomous Vehicles on trip 
generation and distribution etc will be modelled is unclear, but this could have a 
significant impact on forecasting and appraisal;

• How technological advancements such as real time traffic information and 
advancements in Mobility as a Service offerings will affect modelling travel 
behaviour is also unclear.

• As RIS2 schemes navigates through the various development phases, the age 
of data used for RTM development may become outside the recommended 
guideline. It has not been made clear how RTM, and indeed other modelling and 
appraisal tools, will be kept up to date in a way that is robust, proportionate and 
has less risk of external challenge.

Output Model

• It is encouraging to see output models are being developed to better aid 
appraisal and decision making.

• It has been suggested that national-level environmental models have been 
developed to better assess environmental impacts. Environmental impacts are 
more acute for urban areas and it is unclear how robustly the environmental 
output models will be able to assess the impacts in dense urban areas. It is 
noted that majority of the SRN is in rural areas.

Consistency

• It is good to see emphasis has been placed on consistency in appraisal - 
however, one key issue is to have a single Do-Minimum development scenario 
based on a sound uncertainty log for all schemes to maintain consistency. It has 
not been made clear whether and how this will be done. Collaboration with 
planning authorities in development of an uncertainty log is of utmost 
importance.

97



Evaluation

• Evaluation is key in developing evidence base on what works and where 
investments should be prioritised – but despite emphasis on modelling economic 
impacts and use in appraisal, it has not been made clear how the evaluation will 
be carried out to ascertain the impact against forecast;

• POPE has a well established method of re-establishing the VfM based on re-
forecasting done on observed traffic change at Five Year After evaluation period. 
RTMs will play a crucial role in this assessment and will provide an assessment 
on how well RTM has forecasted change, but it is unclear how the economy 
model will be used to check the validity of a model forecast and how the VfM 
verdict may have changed as a result.  

98



Report to: Transport Committee

Date:  16 March 2018

Subject:  Consultation Reply for Transport for the North’s Strategic 
Transport Plan

Director: Liz Hunter, Interim Director of Policy and Strategy

Author(s): Steve Heckley

Is this a key decision? ☐ Yes    ☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? ☒ Yes    ☐ No
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or 
appendices? ☐ Yes    ☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local Government 
Act 1972, Part 1:

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 To inform Transport Committee of the Transport for the North consultation on 
its draft Strategic Transport Plan, and to agree key themes to form the basis of 
the Combined Authority’s response to the consultation.  

2 Information

2.1 Transport for the North (TfN) published a draft Strategic Transport Plan (STP) 
for the North on 16 January 2018, and commenced a formal public and 
stakeholder consultation which will run for 13 weeks from 16 January to 17 
April 2018. 

2.2 TfN was created as a pan-Northern Partnership Board of civic and business 
leaders working to develop the case for transformational investment in 
transport in the North. In April 2018 TfN will become the first Sub-National 
Transport Body in England tasked with making recommendations on behalf of 
the North to Highways England, Network Rail, High Speed 2 (HS2) Ltd and 
the Department for Transport in respect of requirements for the pan-Northern 
transport network.     

99

Agenda Item 11



2.3 The draft STP is TfN’s flagship policy document setting out its plans for 
investment in strategic transport in the north in the 30 year period up to 2050. 
The STP can be accessed from the TfN website at: 
https://transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/TfN-Strategic-
Plan_draft_lr.pdf. 

2.4 The STP was produced by TfN in collaboration with the 11 Local Enterprise 
Partnerships and the 19 Local Transport Authority partners in the North, which 
includes the West Yorkshire Combined Authority. The West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority contributed to the drafting of the STP. The STP will be 
finalised following the consultation exercise and is expected to be published 
by TfN in September 2018.

2.5 The STP sets out TfN’s proposals for transforming the North’s connections to 
help drive economic growth. The STP explains the need for investment in 
transport and identifies the priority areas for improved connectivity. TfN 
present the need for change based on an underachieving northern economy 
where the economic value per person in the North (measured by GVA) is 25% 
below England’s average, and income per person is £7,500 per annum less. 
To bridge the productivity gap, and see a transformational £100bn increase in 
GVA and the creation of 850,000 additional jobs above business as usual, TfN 
sets out four high level objectives to:

 Increase efficiency, reliability and resilience in the transport system;
 Transform economic performance;
 Improve access to opportunities across the North;
 Promote and support the built and natural environment. 

2.6 The STP identifies four key components of its strategy to deliver its objectives:

Rail 

 Northern Powerhouse Rail - with ambitious plans to provide rapid, reliable 
and resilient rail links between the North’s major towns and cities, with a 
picture of what that network could look like; 

 Long Term Rail Strategy - an updated rail strategy is being published 
alongside the STP to identify investment in the wider rail network of lines, 
stations, services and franchises to deliver greater connectivity, capacity 
and cost effectiveness;

Road 

 Major Road Network - TfN has identified the roads across the North that 
are vital for economic growth and most requiring of improvement to 
provide faster, and more reliability of journey times and greater resilience 
in the network;

100

https://transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/TfN-Strategic-Plan_draft_lr.pdf
https://transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/TfN-Strategic-Plan_draft_lr.pdf


Integrated and Smart Travel 

 To support a new era of simple and seamless public transport journeys 
across the North - with multi-modal contactless payments system 
supported by the provision of consistent, integrated travel information.       

2.7 The draft STP is a high level statement of policy and strategy. The detailed 
investment programme is still to be developed, but the STP does introduce 
TfN’s approach to the identification of Strategic Development Corridors (SDC) 
as corridors of ‘opportunity’, which are proposed to provide a focus for 
improving transport infrastructure. The SDC will be used to frame investment 
priorities in support of a pipeline of projects going forward, for delivery in the 
short term (up to 2025), medium term (2026-2035) and long term (2036-2050). 
The SDC link important “prime capability” assets and important economic 
centres to provide the focus for improving connectivity. The seven corridors 
are:

 Multi-Modal (Rail and Road) - (A) Connecting the Energy Coast, (B) 
Central Pennines, (C) Southern Pennines, (D) West and Wales 

 Rail - (E) East coast to Scotland, (F) North West to Sheffield City Region

 Road - (G) Yorkshire to Scotland  

2.8 Each of the Strategic Development Corridors have relevance to West 
Yorkshire and the Leeds City Region, but the Central and Southern Pennines 
SDC have the greatest local geographic significance. The Central Pennines 
SDC covers a broad area from Liverpool and Blackpool on the west coast 
through to Scarborough and Hull on the east coast and includes Leeds, 
Bradford, Calderdale, Kirklees, Wakefield Districts and York as well as 
Preston and Warrington. The Southern Pennines SDC covers Liverpool to 
Grimsby and includes Manchester, Sheffield, Doncaster and Scunthorpe and 
well as southern parts of West Yorkshire, notably Kirklees. 

2.9 The Central Pennines is the focus of a current TfN commissioned study to 
investigate in detail the needs and options for transport investment in the 
study area. The first phase of the Central Pennines study, to March 2018, 
involves information gathering to understand problems. The second stage to 
autumn 2018 will involve sifting, modelling and appraising a long list of 
potential interventions, towards the publication of a report and Strategic 
Outline Case in autumn 2018. A Southern Pennines SDC study will 
commence in April 2018. Both these corridors have a strong focus on east-
west connectivity and the inadequacy of current routes and the constraints on 
movement. TfN stress that proposals for investment will cover not only 
building new transport infrastructure but also getting the best and most 
consistent performance out of existing infrastructure. The Combined Authority 
is a partner in these studies.  

2.10 TfN identify their headline costs for the full period of the Plan at around £70bn 
over the 30 years of the plan. This assumes £39-43bn of current levels of 
spend associated with committed schemes through existing road and rail 

101



processes being continued through the lifetime of the plan, supplemented by 
an additional £21-27bn which would provide the additionality and 
transformational impacts. This level of spend equates to less than £150 per 
northern citizen per year, or £2-£2.3billion per year in total. There is an 
assumption of reliance on the government for a large part of this investment, 
but also a recognition of the need to address other innovative ways to 
generate investment.    

Consultation

2.11 The STP consultation is predominately held on-line, hosted on the TfN website 
at: https://surveys.ipsosinteractive.com/mrIWeb/mrIWeb.dll

2.12 TfN is inviting stakeholders, businesses, transport users, the public and other 
interested parties to provide their views. TfN is also seeking the formal 
feedback of its partners such as the Combined Authority. 

2.13 TfN is simultaneously consulting on the Integrated Sustainability Appraisal 
undertaken on the STP to test the social and environmental sustainability of 
the proposals.

2.14 It is proposed that the Combined Authority responds on behalf of all the West 
Yorkshire District Councils. A draft consultation response will be shared with 
Transport Committee Members for comment, prior to submitting a response to 
TfN to its deadline of 17 April. 

2.15 It is proposed that the key themes of the Combined Authority’s consultation 
response are:  

 The Combined Authority and its partners welcome the draft STP as a high 
level statement of policy and strategy, and support the vision and 
proposition for transformational investment in transport in the North to 
deliver sustained economic growth;

 The Combined Authority is keen to see the STP and its investment 
programmes reflect the strategic transport priorities of the Combined 
Authority and its partners, and whilst we are happy that the contents of the 
STP broadly corresponds with those priorities, we will be looking for TfN 
to:

o Set out a strong message on the economic and wider benefits of 
Northern Powerhouse Rail connecting Manchester and Leeds via 
Bradford city centre, and Leeds to Newcastle via York;

o Re-affirm the requirement for the timely implementation of HS2 Phase 
2b to Yorkshire, including the junctions required to allow NPR services 
to make use of the HS2 and classic rail networks;

o Provide a strong statement on our other prioritised rail investment 
requirements, with a focus on ambitious route upgrades that enable 
improvements to all passenger and freight services on the Trans-
Pennine and Calder Valley Line routes, alongside investment in NPR. 

102



Given the considerable uncertainty about the future of the East Coast 
Main Line, its services and investment, as set out in agenda item 9, 
we will be looking for the STP to set out a clear requirement for 
ambitious plans to address this; 

o Provide a commitment to working with the Combined Authority to 
further develop and implement the Leeds Integrated Station 
Masterplan, including addressing rail infrastructure capacity 
requirements at and around Leeds Station to help maximise 
opportunities arising from HS2;

 The Combined Authority and its partners welcome the proposals for the 
identification and funding of a Major Road Network for the North and the 
approach to treating the Major Road Network and Strategic Road Network 
as a coherent entity, and the Combined Authority will also be seeking TfN 
support for our priorities in respect of the Strategic Roads Network 
particularly in respect of strengthening the performance and resilience of 
the M62 motorway, with the inclusion of schemes for the M62 and 
connecting parts of the Major Road Network in TfN’s short, medium and 
long term investment programmes;

 The Combined Authority welcomes the proposals for Integrated ticketing 
and Smart Travel, and will be looking for TfN to work with the Combined 
Authority to help develop and integrate ticketing and information products 
developed through our Mobility as a Service programme (identified in a 
separate report, item 7, to this meeting);

 The Combined Authority will seek to work with TfN to ensure the STP 
aligns with and will help deliver the policies and plans set out in the 
Combined Authority’s policy framework and particularly help to maximise 
opportunities arising from the Leeds City Region Growth Strategy and the 
Connectivity Study work currently underway to develop inclusive growth 
corridors, as well as helping to deliver the local growth and regeneration 
aspirations identified in District Local Plans. The STP in focussing on 
longer distance, pan-northern movements currently lacks detail in respect 
of connectivity with local networks and especially interchange between 
transport modes, which could be strengthened. 

STP engagement events

2.16 TfN hosted five simultaneous launch events for the STP across the north 
(including Leeds) on 16 January, and are now supporting the consultation with 
a total of 33 engagement events across the North. The programme of 
engagement includes four events in West Yorkshire:

 Halifax - Thursday 15 February, Dean Clough, 3pm-7pm - Completed.

 Bradford - Wednesday 21 February, Bradford College ATC, 3pm-7pm - 
Completed.

 Leeds - Monday 5 March, The Tetley, 3pm - 7pm - Completed. (The 
Leeds event also featured a separate two hour session, 1pm to 3pm, 
focussed on the Central Pennines Strategic Development Corridor study).

103



 Huddersfield - Wednesday 28 March, Huddersfield Town Hall, 4pm - 
7pm. The Huddersfield event will feature a Members briefing session from 
3.15-3.45pm.

2.17 The engagement events are open to members of the public and organisational 
stakeholders, with details accessed at https://transportforthenorth.com/stp/. 
The events have also been publicised through the Combined Authority, West 
Yorkshire District Councils and local Chambers of Commerce.

3 Financial Implications

3.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report.

4 Legal Implications

4.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.

5 Staffing Implications

5.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report.

6 External Consultees

6.1 No external consultations have been undertaken.

7 Recommendations

7.1 That Transport Committee notes the Transport for the North consultation on its 
draft Strategic Transport Plan.  

7.2 That subject to comments at this meeting, the Transport Committee agrees 
the recommended key themes identified in paragraph 2.15 as forming the 
basis of the Combined Authority’s response to TfN’s Strategic Transport Plan 
consultation.

8 Background Documents

TfN Strategic Transport Plan
https://transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/TfN-Strategic-
Plan_draft_lr.pdf

9 Appendices

None. 

104

https://transportforthenorth.com/stp/
https://transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/TfN-Strategic-Plan_draft_lr.pdf
https://transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/TfN-Strategic-Plan_draft_lr.pdf


Report to: Transport Committee

Date:  16 March 2018

Subject:  Transport Research Innovation Fund - Research activities

Director: Liz Hunter, Interim Director of Policy and Strategy

Author(s): Steve Heckley

Is this a key decision? ☐ Yes    ☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? ☒ Yes    ☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or 
appendices? ☐ Yes    ☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local Government 
Act 1972, Part 1:

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 To provide an update on the Transport Research Innovation Fund (TRIF) 
collaboration and seek comment on the dissemination of TRIF projects.

1.2 To seek approval for expenditure on the next phase of the TRIF Transport and 
Land Value Uplift project.

1.3 To inform Transport Committee of the proposed research activities of the 
Urban Transport Group. 

2 Information

2.1 The West Yorkshire Combined Authority meeting of 31 July 2015 agreed to 
the Combined Authority entering into an agreement with Leeds University 
Institute of Transport Studies (ITS) to fund collaborative research. A decision 
on the funding contribution was delegated to the then Acting Director of 
Transport in conjunction with the Director of Resources.  

2.2 The Transport Research Innovation Fund (TRIF) is significant for bringing 
together the Combined Authority and ITS in a unique collaboration. The 

105

Agenda Item 12



Combined Authority has the ambition for everyone in the region to benefit from 
a strong, successful economy and a modern, accessible transport system, and 
ITS is a leading international centre for transport research. 

2.3 The Combined Authority and ITS have jointly committing resources to a 
£200,000 TRIF funding pot. The Combined Authority agreed a financial 
contribution of £100,000 from Integrated Transport block funding. ITS agreed 
a £100,000 commitment to match that financial resource with research staff 
time and secondments. The TRIF was established in February 2016 as a 
three year programme, and has completed its second year. 

2.4 The creation of the TRIF provides the opportunity to support the development 
and translation of applied research towards achieving a modern, accessible 
transport system in West Yorkshire. The aims of TRIF were agreed as:

 Improve the evaluative evidence base for policies and interventions to 
strengthen the case for future priorities and investment;

 Develop a stronger understanding of behavioural factors and decision 
making;

 Make effective use of existing and new data sets to improve the 
effectiveness of the design, development and delivery of transport in the 
region;

 Ensure that the region is at the forefront of innovative transport 
technologies and applications, attracting major national and international 
funding support;

 Achieve joint capacity building across the research-practitioner interface to 
be a world leading venue for research, increasing skills in the city region 
and developing export opportunities for valuable professional services and 
thought leadership;

 Use the fund to achieve a multiplier effect and grow resources for the 
partners engaged in the fund.

2.5 The £200,000 pot was seen as an initial investment to demonstrate the value 
of the fund. Additional external resources are expected to add to what can be 
achieved with the pot. The vision is for a long-term partnership that 
demonstrates its value for money, research interest and impact and therefore 
becomes a critical part of how the Combined Authority and ITS works. 

2.6 An officer working group with representatives of the Combined Authority, West 
Yorkshire District Councils and ITS is overseeing the use of the TRIF, 
receiving applications for funding support, ranking and prioritising bids and 
approving spend on projects within the agreed budget. Each individual 
research project requires a Combined Authority and ITS lead and project brief, 
project plan and approved budget. From the outset it was anticipated that 
ideas for research projects would be of different types:

 Evidence reviews to assist future funding bid development;

 Requests for funding input to leverage PhD studentship funds;

106



 Analysis and algorithm development of new data sources;

 Funding for model development to answer new questions;

 Funding to support the deployment of a research tool to an existing 
Combined Authority process;

 Match funding commitments as part of larger funding bids.

2.7 The TRIF also anticipates on-going engagement around capacity building to 
generate:

 Integrated design projects which provide initial suggestions and analysis 
for real-world problems;

 Masters dissertation projects which are more closely linked to on-going 
work streams;

 PhD studentship topics which can use Combined Authority data and 
potentially incorporate secondment;

 Developing graduates with a better knowledge of the Combined Authority 
and career paths available.

2.8 As the TRIF research portfolio grows and projects deliver outputs, it is 
intended to disseminate information on activities through a TRIF webpage 
(hosted either by the Combined Authority or ITS), individual research project 
reports, TRIF Annual Reports and press releases.

TRIF research projects to-date

2.9 Three areas of research activity have been funded by the TRIF to-date:
1. Transport and Land Value Uplift (Phase 1) - Research to investigate the 

potential for methodological improvements to the quantification of land 
value uplift in transport appraisal. The first phase of this project was 
completed by December 2017. The Phase 1 outputs have generated 
interest with Transport for the North, the Department for Transport, 
National Infrastructure Commission, other Combined Authorities and 
property companies. A second phase proposal has been developed to 
expand the scope of the research and progress work streams identified in 
Phase 1 - this is identified below (from para. 2.13);   

2. Youth Mobility and Access to Economic Opportunity - Research to 
examine the extent to which young people’s poor employment outcomes 
in the UK and mainland Europe are partially caused by poor job 
accessibility and adverse conditions associated with deprived 
neighbourhoods. The research involves a comparative study of West 
Yorkshire and the Rotterdam-Randstad region of the Netherlands. This 
PhD research project commenced in 2017 and is on-going. The research 
is expected to influence the Combined Authority’s approach to bus 
services review and the development of Mobility as a Service proposal 
(which is reported as a separate item 8 to this meeting); 

107



3. Understanding Wellbeing in Transport Policy - Research to understand 
the relationships between transport interventions and changes in well-
being (as understood by stakeholders) to provide input to assist the 
development and delivery of projects aimed at delivering inclusive growth. 
The research commenced in February 2017 with a Final Report published 
in December 2017 which has already influenced the development of the 
West Yorkshire Transport Strategy 2040 and the proposed performance 
management framework of indicators and targets for the strategy (which is 
reported in the separate item 5 to this meeting) 

2.10 A draft fact sheet has been produced for each research project. The fact 
sheets are attached to this report as Appendix 1, 2 and 3. The fact sheets 
provide an explanation of the background to the project, research aims and 
questions, methodology, outputs and key findings. It is propose to develop 
these draft fact sheets for publication to help disseminate the findings of the 
research and to promote the fund. Transport Committee is asked to comment 
on the usefulness of the fact sheets and the desirability of developing a web 
resource to make available full details of the TRIF research projects.  

2.11 The TRIF has committed exactly 50% of its £200,000 pot to the first three 
projects. The outputs from these projects suggests the collaboration is 
demonstrating its value. 

2.12 A review workshop was held with the TRIF partners in November 2017. It 
looked at the first three projects and generated ideas for a forward programme 
of research. The recommendation is that the TRIF be targeted to addressing 
questions raised by the policies of the West Yorkshire Transport Strategy 
2040 that require further development and also current national economic 
priorities such as the focus on productivity. The topics recommended to be 
considered further are:

 Mobility as a Service - to research mechanisms to determine the most 
appropriate technologies for a particular locality/socio-geographic context 
and how MaaS could reduce cost of travel and improve access to jobs;

 Transport emissions and health outcomes - including developing 
methods for the appraisal of deliverability, and understanding the extent to 
which the health benefits of active commuting positively impact on 
productivity and how this can be appraised for inclusion in business case 
development for active travel projects;

 Productivity - including considering the role of transport apps in 
improving access to jobs/services in areas of high unemployment, 
research to support development of a freight strategy and interventions 
including determining investment priorities, proposals to develop a toolkit 
to appraise the impact of public realm schemes and/or active travel 
measures on land values to inform scheme business case development, 
and research into appropriate policy proposals to mitigate adverse social 
impacts of increases in land value, supporting inclusive growth policy;

 Evaluation of the long term wider benefits of major investment 
programmes in a regional context (- linked to HS2) with a review of local 

108



determinants/factors (e.g. underemployment, agglomeration, labour 
market effects) towards developing a toolkit to aid consideration of ‘wider 
benefits’ in business case development;

   
Transport and Land Value Uplift (Phase 2) proposal

2.13 The design of the phase 2 project has flowed directly from the findings of the 
initial TRIF research (identified in para. 2.9 above and Appendix 1) which 
established that:

 Current academic and applied approaches to land value uplift mean that it 
is now possible to build models which accurately describe the property 
market benefits which flow from investment in transport infrastructure;

 The development of a Northern Land Value Model has significant potential 
to shape and influence the government’s approach to how wider economic 
benefits are quantified in transport case appraisal, with the development of 
the model used to support the outline business case for Northern 
Powerhouse Rail (NPR).

2.14 The Phase 2 project would be used to set out clearly how quantified property 
market benefits could be used in the economic case elements of transport 
scheme appraisal, leading to a step change in DfT’s Webtag approach in this 
area.

2.15 The design of the TRIF was always intended to leverage the benefits of the 
initial investment made by the Combined Authority and ITS. Projects that were 
funded had to be scalable and have the potential to drive step changes in 
transport policy areas or technology. The phase 1 Transport and Land Value 
Uplift project invested £24,000 in research. The Phase 2 proposal 
demonstrates the leverage which the TRIF can have beyond the initial 
investment. Phase 2 has led to substantial additional funding totalling 
£216,000, with contributions from Transport for the North (£112,000), 
Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (£27,000) and 
University of Leeds ITS (£77,000).

2.16 As the phase 2 work scales up to its national footprint in terms of impact and 
influence, additional investment will be required from the Combined Authority. 
This will ensure that the Combined Authority can maximise the benefits of the 
project for West Yorkshire and ensure that the development of the model (and 
its testing and application in the Northern Powerhouse Rail Outline Business 
Case) is based on local need and priority and supports our strategic priorities 
(such as enhancing the case for the benefits of an NPR stop in Bradford).

2.17 The scale of the Combined Authority’s further potential investment in the 
Transport and Land Value Uplift project reflects the wider strategic and 
commercial benefits which could accrue to the organisation and West 
Yorkshire. As part of its 2018/2019 budget provision a Combined Authority 
investment of up to £50,000 has been defined within the overall revenue 
budget for the Strategy and Policy Directorate, this would be subject to 

109



approval by the Transport Committee. This funding allocation would be 
separate to the TRIF pot identified in paragraph 2.3. 

2.18 The agreement for the Phase 2 work potentially allows for future commercial 
receipts from the sale of the model to be shared across the funding 
organisations.

Urban Transport Group research projects

2.19 The Urban Transport Group (UTG) is the UK network of urban transport 
authorities consisting of Merseytravel, Nexus, South Yorkshire PTE, Transport 
for Greater Manchester, Transport for London, Transport for the West 
Midlands, and the West Yorkshire Combined Authority. UTG also has 
associate members (- Bristol and West of England, Tees Valley Combined 
Authority, Nottingham City Council and Strathclyde Partnership for Transport). 
The West Yorkshire Combined Authority contributes funding to UTG.

2.20 UTG represents and supports the work of its members through: 

 Making the case for urban transport - such as the funding and powers 
its members need to plan and deliver transport networks to support 
inclusive and sustainable growth; 

 Providing thought leadership for the urban transport sector - by 
looking ahead at the future challenges its members face and making 
connections between transport and other sectors to identify synergies and 
savings. 

 Providing professional networks - to accelerate the take up of best 
practice through sharing experience and co-commissioning.

2.21 Key UTG’s activities include the production of reports exploring transport 
issues and options informed by research. The UTG Business Plan for 2018/19, 
which can be accessed from the UTG website at:  
http://www.urbantransportgroup.org/resources/types/documents/201819-
business-plan, describes UTG’s work programme for the coming year 
identifying proposed and possible research activities e.g. on the theme of 
buses UTG identify a research project on the causes and implications of bus 
decline and potential responses.   

2.22 It is intended to align the TRIF research programme with UTG research 
proposals, to avoid duplication, but also to share outputs and insight and 
assist the dissemination of research to transport and local authorities to 
accelerate the take up of new, innovative ideas and improved ways of 
working. 

3 Financial Implications

3.1 The financial request in respect of funding phase 2 of the Transport and Land 
Value Uplift project is set out in paragraph 2.17 above

110

http://www.urbantransportgroup.org/resources/types/documents/201819-business-plan
http://www.urbantransportgroup.org/resources/types/documents/201819-business-plan


4 Legal Implications

4.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.

5 Staffing Implications

5.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report.

6 External Consultees

6.1 No external consultations have been undertaken.

7 Recommendations

7.1 That Transport Committee notes the progress in developing and delivering the 
Transport Research Innovation Fund collaboration and provides comment on 
the draft TRIF fact sheets and their potential publication.

7.2 That Transport Committee agrees up to £50,000 funding for the Phase 2 
Transport and Land Value Uplift research.

7.3 That Transport Committee notes the Urban Transport Group’s Business Plan, 
including its research programme. 

8 Background Documents

UTG Business Plan for 2018/19 - accessed from the UTG website at:  
http://www.urbantransportgroup.org/resources/types/documents/201819-
business-plan

9 Appendices

Appendix 1 - TRIF Fact Sheet 1 - Transport and Land Value Uplift (DRAFT) 

Appendix 2 - TRIF Fact Sheet 2 - Youth Mobility and Access to Economic 
Opportunities (DRAFT) 

Appendix 3 - TRIF Fact Sheet 3 - Understanding Wellbeing (DRAFT) 

111



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 - TRIF Fact Sheet 1 (DRAFT v1) 

TRANSPORT & LAND VALUE UPLIFT - Evidence and implications for Appraisal, Modelling and 
Strategy.
Research aims 

The study was designed to investigate the potential for methodological improvements to the 
quantification of land value uplift in transport appraisal (especially in the context of current Webtag 
appraisal guidance on treatment of land values effects within transport appraisal). 

The study specifically addressed how 
a more coherent approach to the 
modelling of property market effects 
and transport accessibility could be 
developed. 

The researchers undertook a 
theoretical review, examined current 
models, explored data availability 
and developed a prototype model 
framework.

Throughout the research project the 
aim was to clarify the links between accessibility, land and property values, social welfare and project 
funding.

The final step was to identify what research would be helpful to fill knowledge gaps and provide more 
useful tools for decision-makers in future.

Background

The work was funded by the West Yorkshire Transport Research Innovation Fund (TRIF), and carried 
out in the second half of 2016. A consultation and research dissemination workshop was held in 
December 2016 with a range of national (government), Northern and local partners to present the key 
research findings and consider next steps.

The phase 1 study outputs led to the development of a phase 2 study project (to be funded beyond 
the initial TRIF phase 1 research and outside of the TRIF budget) designed to:

 Assist in developing land value capture (LVC) strategy as part of the project business case for 
Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR) and other interventions, by producing quantitative estimates of 
land & property value impact;

 Enhance the economic appraisal of transport investments: to estimate the benefits that can be 
included in the Benefit: Cost Ratio (BCR) in the Economic Case as a result of the changing pattern 
of accessibility and economic activity, as well as the implications of value capture for the cost to 
the broad transport budget and other public budgets; 

 Describe and clearly summarise distributional effects: by spatial area; income groups; and for 
renters versus owners of residential property;

 Improve the temporal treatment of transport investments in traditional economic appraisals: 
bringing investments forward / optimising timing, given time lags involved in economic impact. 

Research questions

Phase 1 research project

The research questions addressed through the phase 1 TRIF funded work focused on:

113

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 1



APPENDIX 1 - TRIF Fact Sheet 1 (DRAFT v1) 

The research concluded that it would be feasible to build a more coherent modelling approach to 
forecasting property and land value uplifts which could be applied directly in the economic case 
elements of transport appraisal, whilst simultaneously incorporating and modelling the effects of 
accessibility and place quality (these effects relative to land value uplift vary significantly across the 
UK at local level due the very different local property market supply and demand relationships at 
work).

The central question the research wanted to address was could these very different local property 
market effects be captured in a coherent way and could they be incorporated into economic appraisal 
– the answer was that methodologically this could be addressed within current theory and practice 
and recognising improvements in key data required to support such modelling.

The Phase 1 study and stakeholder workshop held on 14 December 2016 identified that there is need 
for a capability to predict the land value change arising from transport, accessibility and place quality 
changes. There seems to be widespread agreement that any predictive model should be grounded in 
evidence of land value relationships up to the present, and that there is interest in ex post evaluation 
of past / recent improvements in its own right.

Methodology

A mixture of theory and evidence review combined with technical proof of concept testing (in the 
development of a land value forecasting model) was pursued by the research team (based on their 
experience developed on similar work in London) headed up by Dr John Nellthorp Senior Research 
Fellow at the Institute for Transport Studies at Leeds University.

The detailed phase 1 report funded through the WYTRIF explored a range of modelling approaches 
looking at the relationship between improvements in transport accessibility and property market 
effects and recommended the development of a model which estimates property prices as a function 
of changes in the typical hedonic characteristics (property, neighbourhood, accessibility, amenity) 
over time and space. The model would also employ a Geographically Weighted Regression (GWR)-
based approach. This provides a way of accommodating the local geography of residential property 
values-transport relationships.

Phase 2 research

The phase project proposal which flowed from the research findings and recommendations of the TRIF 
funded research is designed to:

 Fast track the development of Northern Property Market Model (including model build and 
testing) within the envelope of the development of the Strategic Outline Business Case (SOBC) for 
Northern Powerhouse Rail (which is being led by Transport for the North);

 Innovating and evolving transport business cases under the “5 Cases” approach exploring and 
recommending approaches that could be used to integrate property market effects directly with 
the economic and financial case elements.

 The theory and evidence around land value uplift and transport investment

 The modelling approaches and techniques which can be used to predict and model land value 
uplift.

 Considering land value modelling improvements in the context of transport strategy 
development and transport appraisal

114



APPENDIX 1 - TRIF Fact Sheet 1 (DRAFT v1) 

Meanwhile the academic goals of the phase 2 project are to develop and publish innovative modelling 
and appraisal methods in the following areas (identified in Phase 1 as important gaps):

 Land value modelling to include transport & accessibility measures and place quality as 
explanatory variables;

 Incorporating property market supply-demand conditions into the models, to address the wide 
range of different local property markets found in the North of England (and elsewhere);

 Addressing the time dimension, so that property market dynamics – including the time lags 
between infrastructure opening and land value changes – are captured;

 Measuring welfare change as well as value growth in the property market, and GVA impacts;

 Describing the distributional effects: by spatial area; income groups; and for renters versus owners 
of residential property;

 Connecting the potential land value uplift to specific Value Capture mechanisms and reporting the 
potential financial flows.

115



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 - TRIF Fact Sheet 2 (DRAFT v1)

YOUTH MOBILITY AND ACCESS TO ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITIES 

Research aims 

This 3 year study aims to explore the 
extent to which young people’s poor 
employment outcomes in the UK and 
mainland Europe are partially caused by 
poor job accessibility and adverse 
conditions associated with deprived 
neighbourhoods - with a comparative 
study of West Yorkshire (UK) and the 
Rotterdam-Randstad region 
(Netherlands). 

The research will add to the empirical 
evidence base in a highly relevant but 
relatively unexplored area. 

The research is part of the study programme of Jeroen Bastiaanssen, who is a PhD research 
candidate at the Institute for Transport Studies. The findings will be used to inform public transport 
policies in West Yorkshire and the Randstad region through close collaboration with local policy 
stakeholders. The research commenced in 2017 and is on-going.

Background

In recent years, young people have experienced significant increases in both unemployment and 
underemployment, in particular in the UK and the Netherlands. Whilst their poor employment 
outcomes to a large extent result from changes in the macroeconomic context and labour market 
reforms, they may also be partially caused by poor public transport accessibility to jobs. Prior UK studies 
found that poor public transport accessibility, both in terms of travel times and costs, significantly 
decreases young people’s access to employment and training opportunities. Public transport services 
are mainly concentrated in the city centres of West Yorkshire and the Rotterdam-Randstad region, with 
often very poor connections between (deprived) peripheral residential areas and jobs locations such as 
business plots, especially outside of peak operating hours.

Both regions have recently adopted a new (public) transport strategy, in which they clearly emphasise 
the importance of transport services as a precondition for access to employment opportunities and, 
thus, the social inclusion of local residents - However, in both regions, little is known about potential 
accessibility to jobs and the (transport) problems of young people, or how to better tailor transport and 
land-use policy strategies that could improve their employment outcomes.

The main focus of the collaboration (placement periods) will be on the assessment and analysis of 
national and local transport datasets held by the two local authorities.  The research will be a partly 
iterative process, as we develop an understanding of information needs and the analytical potential of 
the available datasets.

As well as informing future policies and investment by WYCA and Rotterdam Transport Authority in 
public transport, the project will also provide a better understanding of the value of national and local 
transport data in this kind of analytical setting, providing an indication of how local data collection and 
systems can be further developed to meet requirements.

The subjects of the research are young people 16-24 years old who are actively looking for work, 
including those of 16-18 years who are allowed to be employed as 'young workers’ or engage in 
apprenticeships, as they are likely to be dependent on public transport for access to jobs.

117

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 2



Appendix 2 - TRIF Fact Sheet 2 (DRAFT v1)

Research questions

This research explores the hypothesis that young people’s poor employment outcomes in the UK 
and mainland Europe, are partially caused by land use and transportation supply mismatches, as well 
as the adverse conditions associated with deprived neighbourhoods (e.g. low employment 
opportunities and low and unsuitable skills and educational levels). 

This translates into the following research question:

The main research question is addressed by the following four sub questions:

Methodology

There are four key elements which are 
linked to the four research sub questions. 

The research adopts a mixed methods 
approach and a sequential explanatory 
survey design, consisting of a quantitative 
phase primarily based on desk-based 
analysis of national and local secondary 
datasets at the micro scale, followed by a 
qualitative phase of in-depth interviews 
with key policy stakeholders in the 
transport and employment sectors and 
young jobseekers to gain an understanding 
of their accessibility to jobs and potential 
transport problems 

(1) Accessibility analysis - To measure and visualise young people’s accessibility to employment 
opportunities in the two regions, and examine spatial and temporal variations using exploratory 
(spatial) data analyses. An understanding of levels of job accessibility helps identifying 
neighbourhoods where land use and transportation supply mismatches may limit young 
people’s ability to reach and obtain better quality jobs;

(2) Econometric analysis - To estimate a set of spatial regression models using the accessibility 
data and labour market microdata to examine the strength of the associations between young 
people’s employment outcomes and their levels of accessibility and exposure to deprived 
neighbourhoods in both regions;

 ‘To what extent are young people’s poor employment outcomes partially caused by poor job 
accessibility and adverse conditions associated with deprived neighbourhoods?’

1. To what extent does poor accessibility limit young people’s employment opportunities?
2. What is the impact of poor accessibility and deprived neighbourhoods on young people’s employment 

outcomes?
3. Are young people’s perceptions of employment opportunities affected by poor accessibility and deprived 

neighbourhoods?
4. How do the different urban and transport contexts of West Yorkshire and the Randstad region affect 

employment outcomes of young people?

118



Appendix 2 - TRIF Fact Sheet 2 (DRAFT v1)

(3 & 4) Interviews with key stakeholders and young people - Informant interviews with key policy 
stakeholders from the transport and employment sectors in the two regions to capture the top-
down (policymakers) perspective on youth unemployment, after which in-depth interviews with 
young job seekers in West Yorkshire will be conducted to gain their bottom-up perception of 
accessibility to employment, and the extent to which both perspectives match; 

(5) Cross-case comparison of the findings in West Yorkshire and the Randstad region will be 
conducted to understand and explain how different urban and transport contexts affect young 
people’s employment outcomes, and how to better tailor transport and land-use policy 
strategies to their specific contexts to improve the employment outcomes of young people.

Intended original scientific contributions:

 Understanding of the causal relationship between transport and employment outcomes;

 Understanding combined impact of poor job accessibility and deprived neighbourhoods on 
employment outcomes of young people, within the context of underemployment.

 Understanding of how young people’s perceptions of employment opportunities are affected by 
poor accessibility and deprived neighbourhoods.

 Understanding of how different urban and transport contexts affect young people’s 
employment outcomes.

 Extending the existing (predominantly US-based) knowledge in two relatively unexplored 
countries, i.e. Britain and the Netherlands.

Intended societal impact:

 Collaboration with local policy makers to enhance the understanding of accessibility on young 
people, and the effectiveness of public transport and employment policies.

 Research output as a basis to identify transport and land use strategies, and a practical 
roadmap for socially inclusive transport policy and projects.

119



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 - TRIF Fact Sheet 3 (DRAFT v1) 

UNDERSTANDING WELLBEING IN TRANSPORT POLICY

Research aims 

To research aims to understand the relationships between 
transport interventions and changes in wellbeing, to provide 
input to assist the development and operationalization of 
wellbeing within the West Yorkshire Transport Strategy.

Wellbeing has entered the policy discourse and is supported as a 
policy aim at national and local government levels - but it remains 
a relatively new policy agenda with a lack of institutional 
knowledge amongst policy makers as to how to operationalize 
wellbeing in practice and, in turn, improve policy outcomes. 
Moreover, wellbeing is a woolly term, meaning different things in 
different policy areas, bringing added complexity.

The research commenced in February 2017. A final Report will be published in December 2017.

Background

In 2017 West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) adopted a new Transport Strategy for the 
period up to 2040. ‘Transport Strategy 2040’ was developed over 18 months with work overseen by 
WYCA Members and was subject to two rounds of public and stakeholder consultation. 

Transport Strategy 2040 is a delivery plan for the Strategic Economic Plan, which aims to achieve 
‘good growth’ for the region. Transport Strategy 2040 is constructed around 6 core themes 
containing 67 policies that describe the actions to be taken by WYCA, Local District Councils and 
partner organisations to transform transport in pursuit of economic, environmental and social 
objectives. A core theme is ‘Inclusive Growth, Environment, Health and Well-being’ - the ambition is 
to connect people to better living standards and higher earning jobs, and to significantly improve the 
health, overall wellbeing and environment of the people living and working in West Yorkshire.

Research questions

To help make wellbeing meaningful in policy terms the project answered 3 research questions:

Methodology

The research was undertaken in 3 stages

1. Interview: To understand how wellbeing is understood by stakeholders in the region (RQ1) and 
the governance challenges and gaps relating to wellbeing in policy (RQ3). 14 semi-structured elite 
interviews were undertaken with policymakers from WYCA and the local authorities (from transport, 
planning, public health, environment and economic policy) and with 3rd sector stakeholders and 
charitable organisations; 

2. Desk-based research: To determine the links between transport and wellbeing as understood in 
existing policy and academic literature (RQ2). A workshop was also held with 25 policymakers from 
the Stage 1 organisations and academics from the University of Leeds ITS and School of Earth and 
Environment, to gain further insights into understandings of wellbeing (RQ1) and barriers, 
opportunities and ways to operationalise wellbeing into policy in the region (RQ3), and to raise the 
profile of wellbeing as a policy agenda and highlight the state of the art in terms of evidence (RQ2);   

(RQ1) What do key stakeholders in the region think wellbeing means and what do they think would be 
effective means of improving wellbeing? 

(RQ2) What does the evidence base tell us about the relationships between transport and wellbeing?

(RQ3) What are the gaps in the region’s policy approach for improving wellbeing and what can be done 
to address this?  

121

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



Appendix 3 - TRIF Fact Sheet 3 (DRAFT v1) 

3. Gap Analysis: Drawing evidence together from stages 1 and 2 to provide a gap analysis of how the 
region is performing in terms of working towards wellbeing and what can be done to advance 
wellbeing up the agenda. 

Findings

The research found that wellbeing is on local authority policy agendas and is understood by 
stakeholder to link to three other agendas: Place-shaping, Public Health, and Air Quality - with good 
examples of partnership working in each of these areas. 

KEY THEMES - Four key themes emerged from respondents relating to their understanding of how 
wellbeing relates to transport policy

      

KEY LINKS between transport and wellbeing were highlighted by the evidence base

Improving 
physical & 

mental health
 e.g. through walking 

& cycling

Air quality: Poor air quality increases onset of respiratory disease and exposure to 
higher Nitrogen Oxide levels lead to lower levels of life satisfaction
Noise: Exposure to higher levels of noise lead to increased stress and annoyance
Greenspace: Rates of anxiety, depression and self-reported mental distress are 
greater in areas with lower levels of local greenspace
Safety: As well as physical and mental distress caused by road accidents, the 
perception of danger affects mode choice, typically away from active travel
Social Capital: Ability to take part in wider community activity is linked to higher 
levels of wellbeing. Volume of traffic also affects levels of social interaction
Social Exclusion: Those at the greatest risk of social exclusion travel less often and 
have less access to travel options
Physical Activity: Those who drive for the commute are more likely to be obese or 
overweight than non-car users. Physical activity increases levels of life satisfaction.
Travel Experience: Those with longer commute times report lower levels of life 
satisfaction 

4

8

5

Facilitating 
access to a range 
of opportunities 
e.g. a choice of mode 
options, investing in 

infrastructure 

Creating a better 
environment to 

be in
e.g.  Place-shaping, 

Green infrastructure, 
access to green space

Facilitating a 
sense of 

community 
e.g. improving public 
realm, engagement 

in policy process

122



Appendix 3 - TRIF Fact Sheet 3 (DRAFT v1) 

KEY BARRIERS to embedding wellbeing in policy were identified

RECOMMENDATIONS - The research provides eight recommendations to shape and inform the further 
development and operationalization of wellbeing in transport policy, strategy and implementation plans

Scientific contribution:

 Enhanced understanding of how wellbeing is understood by local government stakeholders, and the 
governance challenges and gaps relating to operationalising wellbeing - with recommendations as to 
what can be done to advance wellbeing up the agenda; specifically in relation to transport policy.

Societal impact:

 Policy development - The research informed the shape and high level content (objectives and 
policies) of the WYCA Transport Strategy 2040. 

 Performance management - The research is shaping on-going work to develop the performance 
management framework of indicators and targets for the Transport Strategy 2040.

 Collaboration - The research has provided a focus for WYCA engagement on wellbeing with delivery 
partners.

8

123



Appendix 3 - TRIF Fact Sheet 3 (DRAFT v1) 

 The research provides an opportunity for WYCA to be a thought leader with the ability to shape 
the agenda going forward. The end product reflects the place where WYCA was coming from - the 
approach to wellbeing is still embryonic and the potential of this research is not fully exploited. 
Further research is required to develop and embed strategy. Remaining questions include:

 Can changes in wellbeing be attributed with certainty to transport interventions 

 What interventions are likely to have the greatest positive impact on wellbeing?

 How would wellbeing-informed changes to the policymaking process affect decision making 
and choice of policy intervention?

 How can characteristics of different places and communities be utilised to inform transport 
priorities based on wellbeing?

 How can existing data be drawn upon to create a composite wellbeing indicator for West 
Yorkshire?

124



Report to: Transport Committee

Date:  16 March 2018

Subject:  Local Transport Plan Integrated Transport Programme Scheme 
Approvals

Director: Dave Pearson, Director Transport Services
Melanie Corcoran, Director Delivery

Author(s): David Dufton, Asif Abed

Is this a key decision? ☐ Yes    ☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? ☐ Yes    ☒ No
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or 
appendices? ☐ Yes    ☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local Government 
Act 1972, Part 1:

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 To approve expenditure from the Local Transport Plan Integrated Transport 
Programme on schemes to address health and safety issues at bus stations 
and to reduce costs and increase income from bus shelters

1.2 To approve an amendment to a scheme to improve pedestrian safety at 
Bradford Interchange.

2 Information

2.1 The Local Transport Plan Integrated Transport (IT) Programme is available to 
fund smaller scale improvements to transport networks and facilities. The 
Transport Committee on 24 February 2017 endorsed an Implementation Plan 
2017/22 for the programme which was subsequently approved by the 
Combined Authority on 6 April 2017.  The Transport Committee has been 
delegated to approve expenditure of up to £3 million from the IP Programme.

2.2 Included within the Programme are two Asset Management schemes to be 
spent by the end of year 2 of the programme in 2019; 
 

125

Agenda Item 13



H & S works at Bus 
Stations 

       
£500,000

A programme of works at bus 
stations to provide barriers, widened 
footways, warning lights and other 
improvements to improve pedestrian 
safety and to address issues 
emerging from. risk assessments 
and evacuation plans

Bus Shelter Invest to 
Save programme 

       
£700,000

A programme to replace fluorescent 
lighting with LED to reduce electricity 
costs and investments to maximise 
income from the CA’s advertising 
contract with Clear Channel.           

2.3 The Committee are requested to approve expenditure on these programmes. 
The programmes will be managed within the Combined Authority’s Assurance 
Process which will ensure compliance with all relevant elements of 
programme control and value for money. 

Bradford Interchange Access Improvements

2.4 An improvement project to the main pedestrian access at Bradford 
Interchange was approved by the Transport Committee on 7 July 2017 to 
revise the pick-up and drop off arrangements improving pedestrian safety. The 
scheme is funded from the NPIF Programme. The City of Bradford 
Metropolitan District Council’s (CBMDC) detailed estimate for carrying out 
services to design and deliver the works was higher than the initial funding 
approval of £100,000 by £70,000. 

2.5 Transport Committee is recommended to approve the increased total project 
capital to £170,000 for the Bradford Interchange Access Improvements 
Project, with the additional £70,000 to be funded from the funds allocated in 
the LTP Programme for Bus Station Health and Safety. Also included within 
the scope of the project are some essential repair and maintenance works at 
the Interchange.

2.6 This will reduce the available funds for the remainder of the Health and Safety 
Programme to £430,000. 

2.7 A funding agreement will be entered into with CBMDC to cover the value of 
this scheme together with £40,000 of planned maintenance works at the 
Interchange which will be delivered concurrently to this scheme.

Bus Hotspots Programme

2.8 The Bus Hotspot ‘Punctuality & Reliability’ programme is a programme of 
works to key junctions to improve bus punctuality. The programme of total 
value of £1.037m was approved by Transport Committee on 7 July 2017.  The 
programme is funded by the National Productivity Investment Fund (£600k) 
and the Local Transport Plan (£437k).

126



2.9 The following table indicates the current status of the programme. 

Transport Committee July 2017 Programme Review
District Schemes Cost Schemes Cost
Bradford 14 £571,500 10 £285,300
Wakefield 8 £147,000 8 £129,000
Kirklees 5 £143,000 5 £143,000
Calderdale 1 £20,000 1 £164,450

28 £881,500 24 £721,750
Contingency/ project 
management

£155,100 Contingency/ project 
management £209,043

Total £1,036,600 £930,793

2.10 The above changes to the schemes have been developed with officers of 
each District Council. Some schemes in Bradford and Wakefield were 
subsequently found not be deliverable within the timescales required and have 
been substituted for other schemes which meet the objectives of the 
programme to reduce overall bus journey times. 

2.11 The most notable change is in Calderdale where the initial scheme in Hebden 
Bridge will be incorporated into a wider project seeking support under the 
West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund Corridor Improvement Programme. An 
alternative scheme in Mytholmroyd is being developed for funding under the 
hotpots programme.

2.12 The programme is being managed within the Combined Authority’s Assurance 
Process and is currently at activity 6 (delivery) in the process and is operating 
within the protocols and programme tolerances set.  All scheme revisions 
have been subject to appraisal to ensure the objectives of the Programme 
continue to be met.  The revised programme is planned for completion by 
March 2019 and is forecast to cost £106,000 less than the original estimate. 
The Committee is recommended to endorse the amendments to the 
programme as described above.

3 Financial Implications

3.1 The additional costs of the Bradford Interchange Scheme can be met from the 
funds allocated in the LTP Programme for Bus Station Health and Safety.

4 Legal Implications

4.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.

5 Staffing Implications

5.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report.

6 External Consultees

6.1 No external consultations have been undertaken.

127



7 Recommendations

7.1 That the Committee approves expenditure on the Bus Station Health and 
Safety programme and Bus Shelter Invest To Save Programme.

7.2 That the amendment to the Bradford Interchange Access Improvement 
scheme is approved.

7.3 That the amendment to the Bus Hotspots Programme is supported. 

8 Background Documents

Local Transport Plan Integrated Transport (IT) Programme endorsed by the 
Committee on 24 February 2017 and approved by the Combined Authority on 
6 April.

9 Appendices

None.

128



Report to: Transport Committee

Date:  16 March 2018

Subject:  City Region Transport Update

Director: Dave Pearson, Director, Transport Services

Author(s): Dave Pearson Liz Hunter, Steve Heckley, Michael Sasse, Tom 
Gifford, Richard Crabtree, Alistair Ryder

Is this a key decision? ☐ Yes    ☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? ☐ Yes    ☒ No
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or 
appendices? ☐ Yes    ☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local Government 
Act 1972, Part 1:

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 To provide the Transport Committee with an update on current issues

2 Information

Customer Satisfaction Monitoring

2.1 The Combined Authority and its predecessor has since 2002 carried out an 
annual Tracker Survey to assess changing attitudes to transport in the City 
Region. The survey follows the same format and methodology each year to 
enable customer satisfaction to be tracked. 1460 people were contacted for a 
telephone interview in late 2017. All ratings are made on a satisfaction scales 
on 1 (low) to 10 (high) and the key findings can be summarised as follows;

 
 Satisfaction is lowest (below an average score of 6) for the condition of 

roads, availability of cycle facilities and the affordability of both motoring 
and public transport. Satisfaction is highest (above 7) for local taxi 
services, street lighting, and rail stations. Bus stations scored 6.9.

 Satisfaction with bus services was 6.9 a small drop from 7.2 in the 
previous year. Satisfaction ratings for rail services have remained at 7. 

129

Agenda Item 14



Overall satisfaction ratings are consistent with recent years. The detailed 
findings will inform the delivery of the Bus Strategy and Transport 
Strategies for which updates are available on this agenda.

  
 The survey is also used to track awareness, use and satisfaction with 

transport information services. The key findings from this part of the 
survey are an increasing use of mobile devices and social media to obtain 
information and that use of this media is increasing fastest amongst the 
over 65s. The detailed findings will inform the updated Travel Information 
Strategy which will be presented to the Committee later in 2018.

 The survey also looks at passenger confidence in getting the best value 
form their bus fares. Less than 50% of respondents are confident that 
they are getting best value.  Addressing this finding will be taken up by 
West Yorkshire Ticketing Company which is seeking to simplify the 
customer offer with regard to bus fares. 

2.2 Transport Focus is the independent consumer watchdog for the transport 
industry. It carries out annual customer surveys for a range of transport 
modes. The Transport Focus carried out its Annual Bus Passenger Survey in 
December 2017. This is a nationwide survey within which the Combined 
Authority commissions an additional sample in West Yorkshire to inform its 
bus strategy implementation. The results of the survey will be published on 
15 March 2018, a verbal update will be provided to the meeting. 

Connecting Leeds

2.3 Connecting Leeds is the name and brand for the implementation of the Leeds 
Transport Strategy which incorporates the £173.5m million Leeds Transport 
Investment Programme and the various schemes planned under the West 
Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund.  A launch event was held on 20 February to 
mark the start of consolation on the first phase of corridor schemes which will 
provide bus priority and improvements to walking and cycling on the following 
routes

.
 A647 Bradford to Leeds via Stanningley, Bramley and Armley; 
 A61North Alwoodley to Leeds via Moortown and Chapel Allerton; 
 A58 Oakwood and Roundhay to Leeds via Harehills and St James’s 

Hospital.
 Armley Gyratory –to improve traffic flow and cut congestion.

2.4 The launch event also featured the initial 34 of First’s commitment to invest 
£71m in 284 new buses in Leeds by the end of 2020. The new low-emission 
Euro 6 diesel buses will initially go into service between Holt Park, Headingley, 
Beeston and the City Centre and feature “next stop” announcements, wi fi, 
device charging and leather seating.  First has also announced that its service 
5 between Halton Moor and the city centre loop will be the first of its routes to 
convert to electric operation in 2019. 
MCard Update

130



2.5 Late in 2017, independent consultants Bus Reinvented assessed all of the 
transport ticketing schemes in the UK.  The City Region's MCard scheme was 
rated on par with London for the highest range of retail and payment options 
available to customers. In summer 2017, the MCard app was launched 
enabling Mcard holders to top up their smart card using their phone. This is 
the first app of its kind to offer this functionality. In less than six months, 
customers have already spent over half a million pounds topping up their 
Cards. The most popular time for sales is between 8 and 9pm on Sundays 
when young people are organising themselves for the week ahead at school 
or college with 25% of sales being placed via the app for products aimed at 
this market.

Real Time Bus Passenger Information Display Upgrade

2.6 In April 2017, the Transport Committee approved expenditure of £1,963K from 
the Local Transport Plan Implementation Plan 3 capital programme for the 
Real Time Bus Passenger Information Display Refresh Project. Work will 
commence in April to upgrade the 310 larger three line LED displays found at 
the busier stops and to replace the 740 smaller “TV sized“ LCD displays found 
at less busy stops with brighter LED displays.

Transforming Cities Fund Update

2.7 The Chancellor announced in the November 2017 Budget, the ‘Transforming 
Cities Fund’ (TCF) – A £1.7 billion fund “to support intra-city transport, will 
target projects to drive productivity by improving connectivity, reducing 
congestion and utilising new mobility services and technology”. 

2.8 In the Budget, the Chancellor set out that “half will be allocated via competition 
for transport projects in cities and the other half will be allocated on a per 
capita basis to the 6 combined authorities with elected metro mayors.”  The 
Budget set out allocations:

 2018/19: £140m 
 2019/20: £355m
 2020/21: £485m
 2021/22: £1,010m

2.9 £850m is unallocated and available to bid for. As a non-mayoral CA, West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority is anticipated to be able to submit a bid for a 
proportion of the available funding. 

2.10 Guidance around the criteria/timing for bidding was expected to be published 
by DfT early in the New Year but has been delayed to around Easter. Further 
updates on the Transforming Cities Fund will be provided to Transport 
Committee once the guidance is released by DfT.

131



Clean Bus Technology Fund and Zero Emission Bus Development

2.11 On 13 February 2018 the Department for Environment, Farming and Rural 
Affairs (DEFRA) announced that the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and 
Leeds City Council have been successful with their applications to the £40 
million Clean Bus Technology Fund. West Yorkshire bus operators will be 
provided with £4.2 million in capital grant funding to ensure 231 older, more 
polluting buses achieve a Euro VI emission standard (or better) from the 
fitment of emission control technology. This represents approximately one 
quarter of the West Yorkshire bus fleet.

2.12 It is anticipated the project will remove over 52 tonnes of Nitrogen Dioxide 
emissions from the bus fleet and £23.9 million in environmental and health 
benefits over a five year period.  This will deliver air quality improvements 
across West Yorkshire and help bus operators achieve compliance with the 
proposed Class B Clean Air Zone emission standards for Leeds. The 
applications were developed through the West Yorkshire Bus 18 Partnership - 
launched in 2016 to improve bus services for passengers through a number of 
pledges, including the reduction of emissions through more environmentally-
friendly buses. 

2.13 The Combined Authority has successfully delivered government funding for 
retrofit emission control technology previously, including 119 MyBus yellow 
school buses and 26 Access Buses in 2014 and 2015 through the Clean Bus 
and Clean Vehicle Technology Funds.  

2.14 The scheme supports the Leeds City Region economic priorities for inclusive 
growth by creating quality places through improved public transport services 
and delivers the West Yorkshire Transport and Bus Strategies by significantly 
reducing bus fleet emissions. 

2.15 To support further reductions in bus fleet emissions and move towards cleaner 
energy consumption, the Combined Authority is commencing work to develop 
an alternative fuel/zero emission bus delivery plan for West Yorkshire in 
partnership with bus operators. The work will identify opportunities to 
overcome existing barriers to investment in alternatives fuels and zero 
emission technology. 

Recent bus service changes

2.16   The bus service change date on 17/18 February was one of the busiest 
experienced by the Combined Authority requiring changes to information at 
over 8,000 bus stops (55%). Whilst most service changes were adjustments to 
timetables improve reliability and punctuality. Route changes were made by 
First to services in the Gilstead and Eldwick area of Bradford District and by 
Arriva to its services between Dewsbury and Halifax.

2.17   The changes to Arriva services would have removed the bus link between 
Mirfield and Brighouse which would have restricted access to a number of 
employment sites. Passenger use on this section of route was sufficient under 

132



the Combined Authority’s guidelines to justify action to maintain the link. 
Arrangements were therefore made with Yorkshire Tiger to fund the 
maintenance of this link at a marginal cost to the Combined Authority. 

Network Rail Strategic Business Plan

2.18 Network Rail has submitted its strategic business plan for control period 6 
(CP6) detailing how it expects to spend the £47 billion allocated to it by the UK 
Government between 2019 and 2024. The primary focus for spending is on 
improving day to day operations, maintenance and renewals.

2.19 It has allocated £10 billion for enhancements to the rail network but the 
majority of this is to cover committed schemes carried over from control period 
5, including the proposed Trans-Pennine route upgrade. The City Region is 
covered by the London North Eastern & East Midlands Route strategic plan 
and this highlights the need to cater for a 15% growth in train services and a 
corresponding increase in passenger numbers in CP6. This is as a result of 
the introduction of new trains and additional services that were specified in the 
last round of rail franchises.

2.20 A major concern is that the plan states that they will be unable to meet the 
train performance targets specified by the Train Operating Companies (TOC’s) 
and in particular those relating to the East Coast Main Line (ECML). They 
indicate that the baseline funding is not enough to cover a significant 
programme of renewals which is required on the ECML, which was electrified 
in 1991 but has not had its signalling renewed since the 1970’s and track since 
the 1980’s. Network Rail has set out a number of options in the business plan, 
which range from £66 million to £1.5 billion which could drive incremental 
performance improvements on the ECML route but have no identified funding.

2.21 The strategic business plan is open for consultation until 6th March and the 
Combined Authority will seek opinions from transport committee members 
prior to responding to the Office of Road and Rail highlighting concerns around 
ECML funding and train performance targets.

May 2018 rail timetable change

2.22 On 20 May 2018 significant changes are due to take place to rail services, 
including on many Arriva Rail North (ARN, i.e. Northern) routes and on the 
main Trans-Pennine Express (TPE) Liverpool – Manchester – Leeds – Hull / 
Scarborough / Newcastle / Middlesbrough lines.  These are supposed to 
include the major changes originally scheduled for December 2017, which 
bring in a number of improvements for Leeds City Region services.  As 
previously reported to Transport Committee, the December 2017 changes 
were delayed to May 2018 due to a number of issues with Network Rail 
enhancement works around the country.  Examples of service improvements 
scheduled to be delivered in May 2018 include:

133



 Leeds – Harrogate: increase from 2 trains/hour (tph) to 4tph (daytimes)

 Calder Valley: through trains to Manchester Airport and Chester

 Huddersfield: Trans-Pennine Express (TPE) fast trains to move to more 
regular timetable, and TPE to take over most stopping services

 Extra weekday hourly train Knottingley – Pontefract – Wakefield – Leeds

 Extra Sunday trains on several routes

 Various improvements to first and last services

2.23 However, further delays to Network Rail works (especially electrifying the 
Manchester – Preston line, which would free up diesel trains) have 
compounded an already severe shortage of diesel trains.  This means that 
many of the May 2018 service improvements may not now happen until later – 
possibly not until the December 2018 timetable change (i.e. a year later than 
originally expected).  

2.24 Because of this last-minute change, both ARN and TPE are still working with 
Network Rail on finalising their May 2018 timetables, and we therefore still 
have no clarity as to what will operate.  We expect that it will be the first week 
in March before we receive confirmation of the services that will run.

2.25 In this context, we have continued to work with both train operators to try to 
address issues with the earlier draft timetables we had seen and improve 
passenger services, but we cannot yet know whether we have been 
successful.  Examples include (but are not limited to) additional stops at 
Kirkstall Forge, and avoiding a potentially worse service for Slaithwaite and 
Marsden.  

2.26 It is therefore likely that we will be in a position to provide a further update by 
the date of the actual Transport Committee meeting itself on 16 March.  

Apperley Bridge and Kirkstall Forge Stations One-year On Post Opening 
Evaluation

2.27 The first draft of the evaluation work undertaken on the new stations at 
Apperley Bridge and Kirkstall Forge has been received.  The final version will 
be completed following further work and feedback.   However the underlying 
analysis presents a strong picture of the performance of these new stations 
compared to the initial business plan.  Highlights include:

 Performance at Apperley Bridge is now in line with expectations, but 
initially grew faster than forecast.  The primary limit on demand now being 
the size of the car park.   Abstraction (existing rail passengers transferring 
from other stations) appears to be lower than forecast.  Significant 
abstraction was observed at Shipley station, but passenger numbers at 
that station are still growing, indicating overall that the new station at 

134



Apperley Bridge has created the opportunity for many more people to use 
Shipley station resulting in significant new rail patronage.  This strongly 
suggests there is supressed demand for rail travel (i.e. more people would 
use the rail service if there were access and / or capacity).

 Kirkstall Forge station is recording around double the patronage forecast 
at this stage.  The surveys took place before the new commercial 
development opened, which we understand is now attracting significant 
additional rail trips.  As with Apperley Bridge, anticipated abstraction from 
other stations is significantly lower than forecast, indicating more users are 
new to rail than predicted.  Notably, the survey work was undertaken prior 
to the incremental increase in peak-hour services that was secured in 
December 2017.  This underlines the strong case for a full half-hourly 
service from May 2018 (see para 2.25).

2.28 A specific fear was that Kirkstall Forge station may abstract passengers from 
buses on the A65 Quality Bus Corridor.  However, the surveys appear to 
suggest that bus use on the A65 has grown in parallel.  Another fear 
expressed in modelling work was that the increased journey times associated 
with the new station stops would put people off using the services further up 
the lines.  Rail patronage has continued to grow at all stations on these lines, 
so there is no discernible indication that this has been the case, bearing out 
our view at the time.

2.29 Clearly, there are some important messages and lessons emerging from this 
work, and we expect to be able to present a more detailed report on the 
evaluation at a future meeting of the Transport Committee.

2.30 In terms of our delivery experience, there remain a number of outstanding 
items to address with Network Rail on Kirkstall Forge and Apperley Bridge 
stations, together with Low Moor and the Leeds Station Southern Entrance 
(LSSE).  This includes the closure of the final accounts and the completion of 
the Lessons Learnt (Network Rail GRIP8) sessions for Kirkstall Forge, 
Apperley Bridge and Low Moor.

2.31 Cost overruns on all 4 schemes are anticipated, although the scale of costs 
payable by the Combined Authority is still being negotiated across the portfolio 
of projects.  The primary causes of the cost overruns can be summarised as 
follows:

 Kirkstall Forge and Apperley Bridge – additional works undertaken to 
overhead line, glazing on footbridge, and unforeseen ground conditions.

 Low Moor – historic mine shaft discovered late in the construction process 
and repair works to historic gas main.

 Leeds Station Southern Entrance – unforeseen ground conditions, 
strengthening of the viaduct, changes in design as required for the safe 
and practical operation of the entrance.

135



LCR HS2 Growth Strategy and Leeds Integrated Station Masterplan

2.32    Transport Committee last considered the details of the Leeds City Region HS2 
Growth Strategy at the meeting in January 2018. The Leeds City Region HS2 
Growth Strategy includes a range of workstreams including the Leeds 
Integrated Station Masterplan (‘LISM’) and the Leeds City Region HS2 
Connectivity Strategy. WYCA continues to support HS2 and the benefits which 
HS2 will bring to the region.

2.33    Since the meeting in January, the strategies have been published on the 
Combined Authority website[1] and stakeholder focused engagement has 
been has been taking place. The engagement formally ended on 2 March 
2018 and analysis around the responses has now started. The conclusions will 
be reported back to a future Transport Committee meeting.

2.34    Much of the feedback received through the engagement has been from key 
stakeholders. This has included feedback from the Department for Transport / 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government. A copy of their 
response letter is appended to this report. Their response focuses on matters 
associated with the Leeds Integrated Station Masterplan (which is one of the 
workstreams of the HS2 Growth Strategy). Their response highlights their 
willingness and need for ongoing dialogue to address outstanding issues 
around delivery of LISM, whilst also highlighting a range of caveats. 

2.35    The positive, multi-organisational collaboration to develop LISM has been an 
example of industry best practice and reflects Sir David Higgins views around 
how we all jointly developed LISM following the Yorkshire Hub report and 
reflect the objectives of HS2 ltd to deliver “a stronger, more balanced economy 
capable of delivering lasting growth and widely shared prosperity”.

2.36    A response to this officer letter from Central Government is currently being 
drafted and it is recognised by both DfT and MHCLG that further development 
work around the points highlighted in the letter are required. Meetings with DfT 
and MHCLG to discuss the letter are being arranged. Key points of the officer 
response letter are anticipated to include:

 Although sited in Leeds, delivery of LISM, as well as the HS2 Eastern Leg 
is a key priority for the economy of the region. 

 The Combined Authority continues to support the delivery the Leeds 
Integrated Station Masterplan and we see the combined Network Rail / 
HS2 station as a single entity. As such, delivery of LISM continues to 
require a joined up ‘one government’ approach as DfT/HM Treasury is the 
ultimate funder of Network Rail, HS2 Ltd and Northern Powerhouse Rail.

 We welcome the feedback from DfT / MHCLG and the opportunity to work 
together to identify key projects which are considered integral components 
of LISM. We are keen to ensure the points highlighted by Government are 
reviewed in the context of the ‘Station as a single entity’ and therefore 
through a one central government approach, whilst noting that LISM will 

136



be delivered through a cocktail of funding sources across a range of 
government departments.

 The timescales set out by the DfT for production of business cases for 
some significant individual components of LISM (by 23 April 2018) look 
very challenging. Through working with the DfT and MHCLG, we need to 
better understand the detailed outputs that need to be completed by this 
deadline. In particular further engagement around the Leeds City Centre 
Transport Strategy with DfT and HS2 ltd is required.

 The overall network capacity challenges around Leeds (for example as a 
result of the combined impact of committed franchise upgrades, Northern 
Powerhouse Rail and Trans Pennine Route Upgrade) are not currently 
being considered together as one. Whilst LISM in part focuses on 
addressing the pedestrian capacity issues in and around the station, the 
rail network issues around Leeds will continue to intensify. The delivery of 
HS2 and NPR services and ultimately a new NPR line from Manchester to 
Leeds will all intensify activity in and around Leeds Station. This can only 
be solved and addressed with a shared and integrated understanding of 
the issues. Network capacity through Leeds Station is a pan-regional, 
national and industry-wide issue, given the importance of the Leeds 
Station to the overall rail network.

2.37   The draft officer response letter will be circulated to Transport Committee 
members and through the Chair of the Transport Committee, consideration will 
be given to whether a political response will also be required.

2.38   The Hybrid Bill for HS2 Phase 2b which includes both the Eastern arm from 
Birmingham to Sheffield/Leeds and the Western arm from Birmingham to 
Manchester will be published next year. The Bill will include a very substantial 
Environmental Impact Assessment (‘EIA’) which will set out the detailed 
implications as a result of the construction and operation of HS2. Preparations 
are now underway to put in place the local resources required in order to 
consider the EIA and to understand whether we will need to formally petition 
Government through the Select Committee process. 

2.39    Further updates on the LCR HS2 Growth Strategy, as well as around LISM 
and HS2 will be brought back to future Transport Committee meetings.

3 Financial Implications

3.1 The additional costs of the Bradford Interchange Scheme can be met from 
the funds allocated in the LTP Programme for Bus Station Health and Safety.

4 Legal Implications

4.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.

137



5 Staffing Implications

5.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report.

6 External Consultees

6.1 No external consultations have been undertaken.

7 Recommendations

7.1 That the updates provided in this report are noted.

7.2 That the amendment to the Bradford Interchange Access Improvement 
scheme is approved

8 Background Documents

2017 Tracker Survey Results

9 Appendices

Department for Transport / Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government  joint response to HS2 station places growth strategies and 
requests and appendices to this letter. 

138



 

 

  
 
Simon Ridley  
Director General  
Ministry of Housing Communities and 
Local Government  
Email: 
simon.ridley@communities.gsi.gov.uk 

  

 

  
Clive Maxwell  
Director General  
Department for Transport  
Email: Clive.Maxwell@dft.gsi.gov.uk  
 
 
 28 February 2018 

Ben Still 
Managing Director  
West Yorkshire Combine Authority  
Ben.Still@westyorks-ca.gov.uk  
 
 
Dear Ben  
 
DfT and MHCLG joint response to HS2 station places growth strategies and 
requests: next steps 
 
In July and November 2017, we wrote to you setting out how we would work with you on 
your growth strategy ambitions. We outlined the framework we will use for assessing your 
proposals and, where possible, how we could incorporate them into the Phase 2b hybrid 
Bill in 2019. We also outlined that we wished to explore with you other areas in which we 
might help in developing your strategies.  
 
We are now writing to provide our initial response to your growth strategy proposals. This 
letter provides you with feedback on the strategy, and proposals to drive wider growth and 
regeneration. It also picks up in more detail those proposals that may be considered for 
incorporation into the basic “hybrid Bill” station functionality and any outstanding 
requirements needed to progress these. We also set out the next steps. 
 
Response to your growth strategy  
 
Thank you for sharing your growth strategy, which sets out a clear vision for the city 
region. It captures the key priorities, reflecting issues of local and national importance. It 
recognises that HS2 can be a catalyst for addressing some deep-rooted challenges for 
Leeds and the wider city region, including productivity and skills, and areas of 
deprivation. It has good strategic fit with your wider economic and transport plans.  
 
The strategy focuses on local connectivity, including developing an integrated HS2-
classic station and development of the South Bank area of the city. Many of your 
connectivity proposals concern walking routes and entrances that permit permeability 

139

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1

mailto:simon.ridley@communities.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:Clive.Maxwell@dft.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:Ben.Still@westyorks-ca.gov.uk


through the station site. We are working with you to accommodate these where possible 
into the HS2 design.  
 
Changes to the local highway network, in part associated with the intention to dedicate 
Neville Street to future public transport options, require more work and may have 
implications for the local development of the motorway network. You will therefore need 
to develop a plan that addresses the impacts on the surrounding road network, for 
example through a city centre transport plan.  
  
Plans to develop a common concourse with the Network Rail station are facilitated by 
the latest designs of the HS2 station (particularly the height of the HS2 
platforms). Further work is required around how these plans can be developed with long-
term plans for the development of the Network Rail station, and we expect that these will 
be developed in due course as part of the plans TfN will develop for NPR. 
 
You plan for the Station and South Bank is rightly ambitious, but will be expensive to 
deliver. Going forward, it will be important that MHCLG and DfT work with you to identify 
key projects which we can support you to make the case for and identify an appropriate 
funding route.  
 
We are also keen to maximise commercial development around your HS2 station, and 
will work with you to identify those opportunities in a way that compliments the public 
sector investment into the HS2 station and associated functionality.  
 
Appendix 1 provides a fuller set of views and next steps. 
 
Categorisation of your proposals 
 
In January 2018, HS2 Ltd provided us with an initial assessment of your known growth 
strategy proposals. It is important to recognise that the HS2 Ltd design is still evolving as 
the hybrid Bill is prepared. The DfT preliminary categorisation of each of your proposals 
is set out in Appendix 2. This is subject to further legal consideration of hybrid Bill 
powers, and also, as set out in this letter, we wish to discuss this categorisation with you. 
The draft assessment is based on the following principles: 
 

 Category A: Requests that could be incorporated as part of basic station 
functionality at this time, at no additional cost to the HS2 programme budget. 
These requests will remain subject to feedback from HS2 Ltd as design work 
progresses, regarding the impact of these changes on the programme cost 
estimate and schedule. 

 

 Category B: Requests that could be incorporated as part of the hybrid Bill station 
design, but which would require additional funding and assurances outside of the 
HS2 programme budget, and/or where we may require additional information 
from you. 

 

 Category C: Requests that are not likely to be feasible to deliver as part of the 
HS2 programme. For these requests, we are happy to work with you to identify 
other options that meet your local objectives.  

 

140



 Category D: Requests that will be considered outside of the HS2 hybrid Bill 
process. For these requests, MHCLG will liaise with you to progress them. Some 
of these requests are covered by Appendix 1. 

 
Station designs will continue to develop as part of the Phase 2b hybrid Bill development, 
and this may have implications for our preliminary categorisation of your proposals. For 
example, we may require additional funding and assurances outside of the HS2 
programme budget, and/or additional information from you, if a Category A proposal 
becomes Category B. If a proposal becomes Category C, we will work with you to 
identify alternative routes for delivery.  
 
Next Steps  
 
We will now work with you to prepare a joint implementation plan which will highlight the 

priority activities over the next 12-24 months, both locally and within Government, to 

start to turn the strategy into reality.  

Category A: Where appropriate, DfT will instruct HS2 Ltd to include your Category A 
requests as part of their ongoing work leading to the Working Draft Environmental 
Statement (WDES) consultation in the autumn. The WDES may explicitly include these 
elements of your proposals, or set out how further work may reflect them. Neither 
approach precludes further requests being incorporated into the hybrid Bill design before 
deposit.  
 
Category B: For these requests, the DfT expects you to provide: 

 A clear workable scope (physical and operational) for the plans you propose; 

 A business case for your plans, that addresses any issues we raise;  

 A proposal for your funding commitment, that you would be prepared to sign off in 
your organisation(s) in due course. This could include both development and 
implementation of the facilities you wish to promote. In some cases it may be 
appropriate to consider passive provision as well as active provision if that 
reduces your exposure to financial risk.  

 
Please address these points before 23 April, so we can inform DfT’s internal governance 
(BICC). It would be helpful for drafts to be shared with us informally over the next 8 
weeks, as there will not be much time after 23 April before BICC. In most cases, these 
requirements have already been set out through earlier dialogue, and work should be 
under way; we are always happy to discuss any individual issues related to business 
cases and funding commitments. Supporting economic analysis should be developed in 
line with Green Book principles. Please refer to Appendix 3, which sets out the high-level 
requirements for economic analysis of local transport and regeneration schemes. 
 
Category C: We will meet you to discuss the aspirations reflected in Category C 
requests at your convenience.  
 
Category D: Our initial views on how the Category D requests may be developed is in 
Appendix 1, and some feedback on Category D transport proposals is in Appendix 2.  
 
Decisions on what to incorporate in the hybrid Bill will be made in early Summer 2018. 
Any substantive changes to station designs must have been identified by that time if 

141



they are to be incorporated in the Bill on deposit. We would seek to formalise any 
arrangements well ahead of deposit of the hybrid Bill.  
 
We appreciate your work to develop local growth strategies, and the challenges this 

presents alongside the timely development of the HS2 hybrid Bill. Please let us know if 

you require any further information from DfT or HS2 Ltd. We are keen to discuss the 

contents of this letter with you, including clarifying any aspects that are not clear, or any 

aspects you wish to challenge 

Kind regards 

 

 
SIMON RIDLEY 
Director General, Decentralisation and Growth, Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government 

 

CLIVE MAXWELL 
Director General, High Speed & Major Rail Projects, Department for Transport 

 

Cc:  Paul Griffiths (HS2 Ltd), Stephen Clark (DfT), Mark Bayley (DfT), Julie Logue (MHCLG) 

 

 

  

142



Appendix 1: Growth Strategy feedback and next steps in progressing your 

proposals for wider growth and regeneration. 

Thank you for submitting your HS2 Growth Strategy consultation documents, covering 

Leeds City Region. This has been jointly reviewed by the Ministry of Housing, 

Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), the Department for Transport (DfT) in 

consultation with Homes England, and BEIS (Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy).  

Overall, the strategy sets out a clear strategic vision for the city region and it has 

captured key priorities reflecting issues that are of both local and national importance. It 

recognises that HS2 can be a catalyst for addressing some deep-rooted challenges for 

Leeds and wider city region, including low productivity and skills, and areas of stubborn 

deprivation. It has good strategic fit with your wider economic and transport plans. The 

detail surrounding the outputs from the growth strategy is more defined for the South 

Bank area and the station. This is less so for the rest of Leeds and the City Region. The 

strategy could benefit from a more defined set of interventions and outcomes for the 

other pillars in the strategy.  

Focussing on the priority areas of the strategy, for the Classic Station and the South 

Bank, you have the South Bank Infrastructure Delivery Strategy and Leeds Integrated 

Station Masterplan (LISM) which is rightly ambitious but will be expensive to deliver. You 

have demonstrated a good understanding of integrated programme management. 

However, to ensure delivery of these strategies/plans they will need to be translated into 

a set of agreed priorities. Going forward it will be important MHCLG works with you to 

identify key projects which we can support you to make the case for and also help you 

identify an appropriate funding route.  

We are developing a collective government view on your approach to land acquisition 

and assembly and the use of land value capture mechanisms to see how it might be 

possible to support this ambition. As you are aware, this will feed into the work you are 

undertaking to develop your SOBCs for LISM and the Growth Strategy. We recognise 

there are significant opportunities created by the transformational regeneration you have 

planned in and around Leeds Station and South Bank. We hope this approach, if we 

gain collective agreement, will support both HMG’s and your own commercial and 

housing objectives. 

Although we understand the economic and financial work you have undertaken is not yet 

complete on first examination the evidence base appears sound. However we would 

welcome further review of the final documents to make a fuller assessment on the work 

you have undertaken.  

We recognise the importance of the Housing Infrastructure Funding (HIF) forward 

funding bids in providing the necessary infrastructure to create the permeability you seek 

for Leeds City Centre and the South Bank to open up opportunities in wider City Region. 

Decisions on forward funding are expected to be made soon, and when those decisions 

have been made we will pick up with you what the next steps will be.  

143



The approach you have taken to Connectivity is broadly in line with DfT strategic 

objectives around sustainable transport and innovation which you have factored into the 

detailed “Inclusive Growth Corridors” work. We understand WYCA are planning to 

develop a proposition for the Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) based one or more of the 

Local Corridors identified. The Strategic Connectivity objectives are primarily economic 

and social, so it would be good to see Environmental and Air quality issues also 

reflected.  

You have a good understanding of the challenges set out in the Skills and Supply Chain 

strategy. The overarching ideas and aims look sensible and follow on logically from their 

description of the challenges and this aligns well with your evidence base. Going forward 

you need to be more specific about your interventions, timings and costs. You could 

benefit from undertaking further work to develop your supply chain approach where 

more analysis needs to be undertaken to support your aims, we are supporting you in 

taking this forward. 

We have agreed a set of next steps with you, which include 

 Supporting you, through the Leeds Station Board, in developing a Strategic 

Outline Business Case (SOBC) to support the Leeds Integrated Master Plan and 

also for the Growth Strategy.  

 

 Developing a cross government view on the opportunities around the station and 

South Bank to support you in developing your approach to land assembly, 

acquisition and value capture, as part of your work to develop SOBC for the 

integrated station and for the Growth Strategy.  

 

 We have agreed to arrange further dialogue with both MHCLG and DfT 

economists to talk about next steps in the economic, funding and finance work 

after the consultation on the growth strategy documents closes. 

 

 Implementation meetings are being organised between your work stream leads 

and BEIS, MHCLG and DfT colleagues to progress implementation plans for the 

Skills & Supply Chain, Connectivity (TCF discussions with DfT locally) and South 

Bank strategies. 

 

 

144



 

 

Appendix 2: Preliminary response to growth strategy requests 

Proposal Proposed 
category  

Comments 

Commitment to promoting economic growth in 
development of the station. 

A o Economic growth is already considered and will be 
promoted by the Government and HS2 Ltd 

Commitment to working collaboratively by sharing and 
communicating HS2 design ideas  

A o The DfT agrees with this approach, and is content 
that current arrangements are sufficient.  

Use of “animation” around station viaduct during 
construction to mitigate impacts. 

A o We recognise that the use of “animation” can 
improve the image of construction. 

o It is likely that some form of “animation” will be 
used during construction.  

o Further discussion between LCC and HS2 Ltd 
during the construction period is required.  

Early commitment to construction sequence that retains 
city functionality. 

A o This will be considered as part of the WDES.  
o HS2 Ltd will maintain as much city functionality as 

practically possible  

3D design with multiple entrances and routes through 
station. 

A o The emerging HS2 design already provided for 
this. 

o Further clarity on exact requirements is needed 

Vertical station access/egress, and retailing around these 
routes. 

 

A o The DfT agrees to this in principle, and station 
entrances are being developed 

o HS2 Ltd will assess this once the station design is 
complete 

Development and design that supports LCC’s cultural 

plans. 

A o HS2 Ltd and DfT agree to this in principle as part 
of a commitment to place making.  

o Local contribution may be required for proposals 
above that of core design.  

Access strategy that adopts social model for inclusive 
design 

A o There is a pre-standing commitments to this 
proposal 

145



 

 

o This is reflected in standard HS2 design base and 
expressed in the Benefits Framework. 

Advance some temporary and permanent works to 
maintain connectivity during construction. 

A / B o This will be assessed as part of the environmental 
statement. 

o Further clarity on works that fall into category A 
and category B will be provided in due course.  

Entrance at Meadow Road to provide access into the 
integrated station concourse.  

B o HS2 Ltd will provide what is required for station 
functionality  

o LCC need to make a case for additional entrances 
above what is required for station functionality. 

o  We expect a local funding for any additional cost.  
o DfT regional engagers can advise on funding 

options 

Development of under croft and Neville Street public 
realm. 

B o Changes to the local highway network, in part 
associated with the intention to dedicate Neville 
Street to future public transport options, require 
more work, and may have implications for the local 
development of the motorway network.  

o LCC therefore need to develop a plan that 
addresses the impacts on the sounding road 
network, and fund any infrastructure requirements.  

o DfT regional engagers can advise on funding 
options 

Development of a framework for development of space 
underneath viaduct 

B o HS2 Ltd will provide what is required for a 
functional station  

o We recognise LCCs ambition for activation of the 
viaduct under croft, and will work with LCC as the 
design develops 

o For proposals that increase costs above that of the 
core design, a local contribution will be required.  

o DfT regional engagers can advise on funding 
options.  

146



 

 

Commitment to develop an interchange solution including 
pick up and drop off points that works not just for HS2 

station (a) but for combined Leeds station (b) as a whole.  
 

a) B 
b) D 

o An interchange is being delivered in principle 
through permeability. 

o It is not for HS2 Ltd to provide infrastructure for the 
NR station that is not required for HS2 station 
functionality.  

o LCC will need to work with NR to develop plans for 
the NR station. HS2 Ltd will work with NR to 
ensure there is integration with their plans. 

o For enhancements of HS2 core infrastructure, a 
local contribution will be required. 

o DfT regional engagers can advise on funding 
options. 

Commitment to provide passive provision for a potential 
mass transit link within the footprint of HS2 by working 

closely with WYCA. 

B o HS2 need further clarity on the nature of this 
proposal 

o LCC will need to provide a local contribution to 
provision that is above what is required for station 
functionality 

Commitment to develop a roof strategy that reflects an 
integrated station and provide more natural light across the 

station. 

D o The NR roof is out of scope for HS2 Ltd, although 
we recognise that any proposals will need to 
integrate with HS2 design. 

o LCC will need to engage with NR and set out its 
case for redevelopment of the NR roof.  

To commit to any land value generated from adjacent 
development/ retail from within the LISM boundary 
(regardless of location) to be hypothecated to fund 

improvements to the conventional and HS2 integrated 
station. 

Working north to south, where technically possible, with 
release of surplus land, to minimise blight impacts on the 

South Bank and help realise timely / optimal development. 

D o It is not in HS2 Ltd scope to make this 
commitment.  

o HS2 Ltd will need to perform constructability 
assessments before this proposal can be 
progressed further.  

Commitment to HS2 construction phasing being as per 
LISM  

C o HS2 Ltd cannot commit to the final construction 
phasing at this stage.  

147



 

 

o HS2 Ltd will consider LISM during the development 
of phasing, although final phasing is subject to 
engineering constraints.  

Commitment to delivering ASD (as per the principles 
contained within LISM) – this is required to:  

• Maximise generation of value that will be captured to 
reinvest in rail transport infrastructure. 

• Minimise and mitigate the visual impacts. 
• Provide the greatest and deepest catalyst for 

regeneration in the South Bank. 
• Significantly contribute to the City Centre as a destination 

and to place-making. 

D o HS2 is committed to not precluding further ASD 

Commitment to align HS2 station LLAU with South Bank 
Leeds / LISM land strategy 

C o HS2 Ltd cannot make this commitment as further 
clarity from LCC is required  

Commitment to establish a co-ordinated relocations 
strategy with advance acquisition of key employment sites 
and relocation of these jobs to suitable sites in the South 

Bank or other suitable city locations 

D o Further clarity for Ask required, due to implications 
of Royal Assent powers. HS2 Commercial 
Engagement already working with stakeholders 
and local authorities to maximise options for 
commercial stakeholders, along same principles 

Commitment to promote sustainable modes of travel 
including walking, cycling and makes public transport 

easier and improve taxi access. 

 
D 
 
 

 
 

o DfT will promote sustainable transport, although 
specific transport asks will need be considered 

Accelerate development funding from HS2 to deliver more 
detailed design for HS2 than what may traditionally be 
provided to support the Hybrid Bill process. This will 
support development of phases 1 to 4 which can be 

delivered ahead of the proposed detailed design for the 
HS2 station post Hybrid Bill confirmation. 

D o Further clarity is required from LCC – what exactly 
do you require? 

o HS2 Ltd will deliver the station design in line with 
the development of the hybrid Bill.  

o Acceleration of the station design would increase 
costs that cannot be met by HS2 Ltds budget 

148



 

 

Invest in the conventional station development (capacity 
that is required pre-2033 to provide capacity for HS2 

arrival.) 

D o LCC should engage with NR as they develop their 
plans for investment in the NR station. 

o A case will need to be made for infrastructure 
investment above that of what NR proposes 

Commitment to advance temporary and permanent works, 
including the diversion of existing, and creation of new, 

access routes, bridges, etc. to maintain pedestrian, 
cycling, public transport and vehicular connectivity north-
south and east-west whilst HS2 is being constructed to 

align with the broader South Bank, Leeds plans.  

D o LCC should engage with MHCLG.  
o DfT will engage with LCC on transport related 

proposals 

Commitment to providing a strong, accessible and active 
elevated north-south connection between the three 

principal HS2 Station access points (at Neville Street, 
Arbour and the Southern entrance at Meadow Road) and 
the existing NR Station augmented with views along the 
river, retail / F&B opportunities, green space, etc., that is 
fully accessible to the general public and not hindered or 

interrupted by ticket barriers, etc. 
 

D o HS2 cannot not 'commit' to provision as stated, 
and would instead need to identify if it is integral to 
the station 

o HS2 will explore this proposal as the station 
develops 

 

 

149



 

 

150



 

 

Appendix 3: Economic Appraisal of Local Growth and Regeneration Schemes 

This note sets out the high-level requirements for economic analysis being undertaken 

by local places in support of their requests for changes to be included as part of the 

Hybrid Bill for HS2 Phase 2b.  

Central Government Guidance on Economic Appraisal 

The Green Book is the approved guidance, by HM Treasury, for public sector bodies on 

how to appraise proposals before committing funds to a policy, programme or project. It 

is a requirement that central government – funded schemes are appraised in line with 

Green Book principles on maximising welfare/benefit to society (i.e. it adopts a national, 

as opposed to a local, perspective). 

There is also supplementary guidance on specific topics and issues – for example, 

application of ‘optimism bias’. Departments also produce guidance specific to an area of 

policy (e.g. transport, housing, energy). In the context of local growth and regeneration 

schemes, reference should be made to DfT and MHCLG appraisal guides: 

 Transport schemes: DfT has WebTAG guidance on the modelling and appraisal 

of transport-related schemes. 

 ‘Dependent development’ schemes: In the case where a development scheme 

is dependent on a transport project, the scheme should follow WebTAG guidance 

on dependent development (WebTAG unit 2.2: Section 3).  

 ‘Non-dependent development’ schemes: MHCLG appraisal guide on the Land 

Value Uplift methodology provides guidance on how to appraise specific 

investment in developments (including housing, commercial development and 

land-based interventions) that are not transport schemes.  

Key elements of economic appraisal 

 Options generation: Identify a range of options to meet the rationale and 

objectives of the proposal. 

 Development of a suitable base case: Identify a clear baseline against which 

options are assessed. The costs and benefits of each option should be assessed 

relative to a counterfactual/do nothing scenario. 

 Identification of costs and benefits: Identify the key costs and benefits 

associated with each option, and who they accrue to (e.g. individuals, 

businesses). 

 Estimation of costs and benefits: Estimate the relevant costs and benefits 

where possible and where proportionate to do so. Transfers (e.g. taxes), sunk 

costs and non-UK impacts should be excluded from the economic appraisal. 

Calculations should be clearly set out (e.g. in an Annex), along with data sources 

and caveats. 

 Techniques (Inflation and Discounting): Costs (and benefits) should be 

presented in ‘real terms’ (deflated to the same base year) to remove the effects of 

inflation from the assessment of value for money. An appropriate discount rate 

should then be applied over the life cycle of the investment.  

 Accounting for risk and uncertainty: Optimism bias is an allowance for the 

potential underestimation of costs (given the tendency to underestimate costs 

151

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-green-book-appraisal-and-evaluation-in-central-governent
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/transport-analysis-guidance-webtag
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/webtag-forthcoming-change-to-wider-economic-impacts
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/department-for-communities-and-local-government-appraisal-guide


 

 

and overestimate benefits). An appropriate level of optimism bias should be 

considered and applied.  Sensitivity analysis should be used to test key 

assumptions and uncertainties. 

 Assessment of value for money: The Net Present Value (sum of the 

discounted benefits minus the sum of the discounted costs) and the benefit-cost 

ratio are a measure of the potential Value for Money of the options. 

Common pitfalls in the appraisal of development schemes 

 Economic appraisal: Gross value added (GVA) is no longer recognised by the 

MHCLG guidance. Options should be appraised on the basis of Land Value 

Uplift.  

 Accounting for displacement: The level of economic activity that is displaced 

needs to be taken into account. The MHCLG guidance (p.42) provides a criteria 

for assessing this level of displacement. 

 Employment effects: The economic case assumes 100% displacement of 

employment, unless there is evidence of a supply side effect. Hence GVA should 

not be included in an options appraisal/ economic case. Job figures can be 

presented in the strategic case. 

 Accounting for risk: Cost estimates should include optimism bias (OB). Green 

Book supplementary guidance sets out how OB can be calculated for a transport 

project.  

 Sensitivity analysis: This should be used to test a range of uncertainties 

surrounding the ‘initial’ benefit-cost-ratio (BCR), outlined in the MHCLG guidance 

(p.17). 

 Urban realm impacts: Given the various approaches that try to monetise the 

benefits of urban realm improvements, the Department should be consulted if 

these are seen to be significant.  

DFT contacts 

 HS2 Economic Performance, Growth and Regeneration: 

Sam.Mitchell@dft.gsi.gov.uk  

 Northern Powerhouse Rail: Henry.Kelly@dft.gsi.gov.uk  

 Local and Regional Economics: Rushab.Shah@dft.gsi.gov.uk  

 

 

152

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/green-book-supplementary-guidance-transport
mailto:Sam.Mitchell@dft.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:Henry.Kelly@dft.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:Rushab.Shah@dft.gsi.gov.uk


Report to: Transport Committee

Date:  16 March 2018

Subject:  Summary of transport schemes which were considered by January 
2018 Investment Committee

Director: Melanie Corcoran, Director of Delivery

Author(s): Cath Pinn

Is this a key decision? ☐ Yes     ☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? ☐ Yes     ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or 
appendices? ☐ Yes     ☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local Government 
Act 1972, Part 1:

1 Purpose

1.1 To inform the Transport Committee of the transport related West Yorkshire 
and York Investment Committee recommendations from its meeting of 
3 January 2018.

2 Information

2.1 Following the Investment Committee meeting in January, the Chair of the 
Transport Committee requested that any transport related investment 
recommendations be reported to the Transport Committee. This is the first of 
such reports. It should be noted that all recommendations from Investment 
Committee in January were submitted to Combined Authority on 1 February, 
and were approved or delegated for approval to the Combined Authority 
Managing Director. 

2.2. List of transport related schemes considered by January 2018 Investment 
Committee below. Please see Appendix 1 for more detailed information on 
each. Link to the January 2018 Investment Committee papers here: 
http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=156&MId=5

153

Agenda Item 15

http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=156&MId=540&Ver=4


40&Ver=4 Links to business case summaries are provided for Committee 
decisions.

2.2.1 Bradford Interchange Phase 1 - Bradford Interchange Phase 1 
Scheme seeks to carry out short to medium term non-abortive works to 
improve the look and usability of the Interchange which is currently 
used by 6 million bus passengers and 3 million rail users each year.
Link to business case summary: 
http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4982/Item%208%20
-%20Appendix%201%20-
%20BCSummaryBradfordIntPhase1%20FINAL.pdf 

2.2.2. Bradford Interchange Phase 2 - This project relates exclusively to the 
pre-feasibility work required to gain an understanding of the Phase 2 
options for Bradford Interchange.
Link to business case summary:
http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4983/Item%208%20
-%20Appendix%202%20-
%20BCSummaryBradfordIntPhase2%20FINAL.pdf 

2.2.3 York Outer Ring Road – Phase 1 - The A1237 York Outer Ring Road 
(YORR) has been the subject of a comprehensive and long-term 
strategy to review and develop junction improvements at identified 
roundabouts along the route to improve and reduce journey times on 
this heavily congested route.
Link to business case summary:
http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4986/Item%208%20
-%20Appendix%205%20-
%20BCSummaryYORRPhase1%20FINAL.pdf 

2.2.4 ULEV Taxi Scheme Change Request - The Secretary of State for 
Transport has awarded the Combined Authority a capital grant on 30 
March 2017 to deliver its Ultra-low Emission Vehicle (ULEV) Taxi 
Infrastructure proposals, for the low uptake scenario.  The Combined 
Authority is named as delivery lead, and financial accountable body for 
the OLEV grant funding. The Change Request is to extend delivery 
timescale in line with Department for Transport approval.

2.2.5 A62 to Cooper Bridge Change Request - Cooper Bridge is one of the 
most important Gateways into Huddersfield. The A62 is one of the main 
transport routes into and out of Huddersfield.  It is a major route through 
Kirklees between Huddersfield and Leeds and provides key access to 
the M62 corridor. Scheme to improve the highway and relieve 
congestion and the Change Request relates to further feasibility work to 
find a solution to keep the scheme within the original budget envelope.

2.2.6 Steeton & Silsden Rail Park and Ride Car Park and Shipley Rail 
Park and Ride Car Park Change Request - The Combined Authority’s 
Park & Ride programme has been identified to enhance connectivity to, 
from and within West Yorkshire.  The purpose of the programme is to 

154

http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=156&MId=540&Ver=4
http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4982/Item%208%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20BCSummaryBradfordIntPhase1%20FINAL.pdf
http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4982/Item%208%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20BCSummaryBradfordIntPhase1%20FINAL.pdf
http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4982/Item%208%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20BCSummaryBradfordIntPhase1%20FINAL.pdf
http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4983/Item%208%20-%20Appendix%202%20-%20BCSummaryBradfordIntPhase2%20FINAL.pdf
http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4983/Item%208%20-%20Appendix%202%20-%20BCSummaryBradfordIntPhase2%20FINAL.pdf
http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4983/Item%208%20-%20Appendix%202%20-%20BCSummaryBradfordIntPhase2%20FINAL.pdf
http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4986/Item%208%20-%20Appendix%205%20-%20BCSummaryYORRPhase1%20FINAL.pdf
http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4986/Item%208%20-%20Appendix%205%20-%20BCSummaryYORRPhase1%20FINAL.pdf
http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4986/Item%208%20-%20Appendix%205%20-%20BCSummaryYORRPhase1%20FINAL.pdf


increase car parking capacity at selected stations including Steeton & 
Silsden and also Shipley thereby increasing access to the rail network.  
The Programme consists of 17 sites adjacent to rail stations to be 
developed into car parking for the benefit of rail users. The Change 
Request relates to further feasibility work which may increase car 
parking capacity significantly.

2.2.7 Combined Authority Rail Park and Ride Programme - Hebden 
Bridge Rail Station Car Park Extension Change Request - The 
Combined Authority’s Park & Ride programme has been identified to 
enhance connectivity to, from and within West Yorkshire to the rail 
network. The Programme consists of 17 sites adjacent to rail stations to 
be developed into car parking for the benefit of rail users. Hebden 
Bridge was one of the first sites to be approved to move into Delivery 
(Activity 6) in July 2017.  Network Rail own the land at Hebden Bridge 
and the car park extension will be delivered, operated and maintained 
by Arriva Rail North (the train operating company). The Change 
Request relates to a requirement to amend the procurement route and 
for the Combined Authority to enter into an Implementation Agreement 
with Network Rail.

2.2.8 Cycle City Ambition Grant (City Connect) (CCAG) Phase 2 – 
Individual Schemes -  This approval related to the delivery of three 
further schemes within Phase 2 of the City Connect programme:

 The Wakefield to Castleford Phase 2 scheme including a Bridge 
Over Hallam Line

 Wakefield to Castleford: Phase 3 scheme

Both of schemes these will develop a high quality route linking existing 
infrastructure between Castleford and Wakefield, with a new bridge 
providing access over the Hallam Rail Line.

 A York scheme, which will provide a much needed link via a 
bridge across the river Ouse to the rail station and the proposed 
York Central site.

Link to business case summary: 
http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4987/Item%208%20
-%20Appendix%206%20-
%20BCSummaryCCAGPhase2%20FINAL.pdf 

2.2.9 Rail Park & Ride Phase 1 – Mirfield - This approval related to the 
delivery of a scheme to extend the existing rail station car park at 
Mirfield to provide an increase to the number of car parking spaces 
from 35 to 59 (56 standard car parking spaces and 3 Blue Badge car 
parking spaces), an increase in overall car park capacity of 68% 
together with improved security measures through CCTV and lighting. 
Link to business case summary: 
http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4990/Item%208%20

155

http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4987/Item%208%20-%20Appendix%206%20-%20BCSummaryCCAGPhase2%20FINAL.pdf
http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4987/Item%208%20-%20Appendix%206%20-%20BCSummaryCCAGPhase2%20FINAL.pdf
http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4987/Item%208%20-%20Appendix%206%20-%20BCSummaryCCAGPhase2%20FINAL.pdf
http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4990/Item%208%20-%20Appendix%209%20-%20BCSummaryRailPRMirfield%20Site%20A%20FINAL.pdf


-%20Appendix%209%20-
%20BCSummaryRailPRMirfield%20Site%20A%20FINAL.pdf 

2.2.10 Corridor Improvement Programme - Wakefield MDC Owl Lane 
Roundabout Change Request - The Corridor Improvement 
Programme is an area wide approach to provide low and medium cost 
highway interventions across a range of key strategic highway corridors 
along the Key Route Network that would deliver benefits for traffic and 
provide improvements for commuters, business, buses and users of the 
transport network on the corridors. This programme covers what was 
originally known as Highways Efficiency and Bus Package (HEBP) in 
the original WY+TF portfolio.

3. Financial implications

3.1 The report outlines for information expenditure from the available Combined 
Authority funding as recommended by Investment Committee.

4 Legal Implications

4.1 The payment of funding to any recipient will be subject to a funding agreement 
being in place between Combined Authority and the organisation in question.

5 Staffing Implications

5.1 A combination of Combined Authority and District partner project, programme 
and portfolio management resources are identified and costed for within the 
schemes in this report. 

6 External Consultees

6.1 Where applicable scheme promoters have been consulted on the content of 
this report.

7 Recommendations

7.1 None, information only.

8 Appendices

8.1 Appendix 1 - Detailed information on transport related schemes considered by 
January 2018 Investment Committee.

9 Background Documents

9.1 None.

156

http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4990/Item%208%20-%20Appendix%209%20-%20BCSummaryRailPRMirfield%20Site%20A%20FINAL.pdf
http://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4990/Item%208%20-%20Appendix%209%20-%20BCSummaryRailPRMirfield%20Site%20A%20FINAL.pdf


Item 15 - Appendix 1

Detailed information on transport related schemes considered by January 2018
Investment Committee.

Programmes and Projects for Consideration

1 Projects in Stage 1: Eligibility

1.1 Bradford Interchange Phase 1 and Phase 2 Schemes

The following two schemes have been developed and appraised as two 
separate Expressions of Interest, however they are linked in that Phase 1 is 
the shorter term scheme, and Phase 2 represents the longer term aspirations 
for Bradford Interchange.

1.2 Bradford Interchange Phase 1 Scheme (Decision Point 2 Case Paper)

Background

Bradford Interchange Phase 1 Scheme seeks to carry out short to medium 
term non-abortive works to improve the look and usability of the Interchange 
which is currently used by 6 million bus passengers and 3 million rail users 
each year.

The scheme has the following objectives: 

 Delivery of an improved gateway environment on arrival into the city of 
Bradford - Most critical to this goal is the removal of vehicular 
movements from the main Bridge Street entrance into the interchange.  
This will in turn facilitate the creation of a pedestrianised station frontage 
to provide an improved user experience.

 Reorientation of taxi and drop off facilities – in order to create the above 
gateway, those vehicles which currently dominate the station frontage 
would require an alternative provision.  This alternative should in itself be 
attractive to both customers and the taxi operators.   

 Improvements to station concourses – as is the case with the Bridge 
Street frontage, the concourse environments do not provide a fitting 
customer experience for a station of this scale.  

 Improved intermodal connectivity within the station site – the improved 
interchange must provide improved user experiences in passing between 

157

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



modes.  This would include both interchange between rail and bus, 
public transport and taxi as well as coaches and the aforementioned 
modes.  

Funding was sought by Bradford Council of £0.100m to refine the potential 
solutions to an Outline Business Case (Activity 3) and demonstrate that the 
above objectives are achievable within the forecast total indicative scheme 
cost of £5.65m. Any works undertaken are seeking to be non-abortive given 
that longer term transformational (Phase 2 and 3) works will at future stages 
bring further significant changes to this site. 

Costs

The scheme has an existing approval of £0.080m which funded pre-feasibility 
works. 

The total scheme cost is forecast to be £5.65m, which would be funded 
entirely from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund.

The scheme promoters require a further £0.100m of development funding to 
cover the cost of undertaking further feasibility work to determine scope and 
costs of the scheme including stakeholder engagement and preliminary 
design works, and outline business case preparation in order to take the 
scheme to Decision Point 3.

Timescales

 An Outline Business Case submission is programmed for September 
2018/19. 

 Full Business Case plus Finalised Costs (Decision Point 5) for June -
September 2019/20.

 Start on site September 2019/20 with completion December 2020/21.

Project Responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer: Julian Jackson, City of Bradford MBC
Project Manager: Tom Jones, City of Bradford MBC
Combined Authority Case Officer:  Helen Friedrichsen

1.3 Bradford Interchange Phase 2 – Pre-feasibility Option Development 
(Decision Point 2 Case Paper)

Background

This project relates exclusively to the pre-feasibility work required to gain an 
understanding of the Phase 2 options for Bradford Interchange.  

The Bradford Interchange site comprises a rail station, a bus station, a shared 
concourse with travel centres operated by West Yorkshire Combined Authority 

158



and Network Rail, as well as car parks, taxi rank and retail premises.  The 
Interchange, built in the 1970s, with incremental additions over the years 
requires investment to achieve a high quality contemporary gateway and 
arrival point to the city of Bradford.  The site is on multi levels and this 
impedes the interchange between different modes of transport at the site.  

Given the complexity of the Interchange site and the need to develop a high 
quality gateway that will have a lasting positive impact on the city, Phase 2 
requires a thorough assessment of the potential options and their impacts.  
Crucial to this option development work is the requirement to minimise 
abortive works, both in relation to short term works being progressed through 
Phase 1 and in light of the continuing possibility of a Northern Powerhouse 
Rail station future for the interchange site.

The purpose of this project, sought under the Transformational Fund of the 
West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund, is to undertake required structural 
surveys (to the NCP building and Bus Deck) and transport surveys, to gather 
as much technical knowledge about the site.  It also seeks to carry out options 
master-planning on Phases 2A, 2B and 2C and stakeholder engagement to 
select a preferred option for the site.  This approval does not cover the 
development of any scheme resulting from this pre-feasibility work or provide 
any indicative agreement to funding this scheme.  The resulting scheme will 
need to be proceed separately through the Combined Authority Assurance 
Process if and when a funding source is identified.

Costs

A funding approval is sought for £0.512m towards pre-feasibility works in 
order to select a preferred strategic option for Bradford Interchange Phase 2 
and inform an updated Expression of Interest. 

Timescales

The pre-feasibility work is due to be completed in early 2019/20.

Project Responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer: Julian Jackson, City of Bradford MBC
Project Manager: Tom Jones, City of Bradford MBC
Combined Authority Case Officer:  Helen Friedrichsen

1.4 York Outer Ring Road – Phase 1 (Full Business Case Decision Point 4)

Background

The A1237 York Outer Ring Road (YORR) has been the subject of a 
comprehensive and long-term strategy to review and develop junction 
improvements at identified roundabouts along the route to improve and 
reduce journey times on this heavily congested route.

159



The YORR Upgrade project includes improvements to 7 existing Outer Ring 
Road roundabouts between the Wetherby Road and Monks Cross junctions.  
The aim is to, where possible, upgrade junctions to a similar standard as the 
recently enhanced A19 and A59 roundabouts: i.e. approaches widened to 3 
lanes, exits widened to 2 lanes, minor arm approaches widened to suit traffic 
flows, provision of walking and cycling improvements (including 
accommodation for future orbital and radial routes where possible).

In order to deliver the YORR strategy it is proposed that it is delivered in a 
number of phases. Improvements to the roundabout at the junction of the 
A1237 and B1224 Wetherby Road will be delivered as Phase 1 of the YORR 
strategy. The proposed measures at this roundabout are:

• A1237 approaches widened to three lanes;
• A1237 exits widened to two lanes;
• Enlarge ICD of roundabout;
• Lane designations reallocated; and
• Minor arm amendments, including widening and lane remarking.
The YORR programme achieved Gateway 1 approval (equivalent to Decision 
Point 3 Outline Business Case in the Combined Authority Assurance Process) 
at Combined Authority on 12 December 2014.  The Gateway 1 approval 
allocated an indicative budget of £37.6m to the total programme.

The remaining phases of the York Outer Ring Road project are yet to be fully 
defined and each phase will be submitted for a recommendation by 
Investment Committee at Full Business Case (Decision Point 4).

Costs

Forecast total outturn costs for Phase 1 of the scheme are £3.6m. These will 
be confirmed at Decision Point 5 (Full Business Case with Finalised Costs).  
Project costs up to £3.6m will be funded by the Combined Authority from the 
West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund.

The YORR programme has a current approval of £2.450m to fund 
development of the YORR programme as a whole.  No further development 
funding request is made as part of this report.  The Phase 1 Full Business 
Case notes that the programme outturn costs are currently estimated to be 
£38.926m with Combined Authority funding of £38.276m required.

Timescales

The current programme shows final approval in March 2018, and a start on 
site in March to June 2018/19, with completion in September to December 
2018/19.

160



Project Responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer: James Gilchrist, City of York Council
Project Manager: Gary Frost, City of York Council
Combined Authority Case Officer: Tom Murphy

1.5 ULEV Taxi Scheme (Activity 3 Outline Business Case) Change Request

Background

The Secretary of State for Transport has awarded the Combined Authority a 
capital grant on 30 March 2017 to deliver its Ultra-low Emission Vehicle 
(ULEV) Taxi Infrastructure proposals, for the low uptake scenario.  The 
Combined Authority is named as delivery lead, and financial accountable body 
for the OLEV grant funding.

The OLEV grant is to deliver a maximum of 88 taxi-only rapid charge point 
sites, and is being match funded by the Combined Authority with £1.2m Local 
Transport Programme (LTP) capital funding.

In June 2017, the Combined Authority gave Decision Point 2 (Case Paper) 
approval to the scheme.  This included indicative approval to total scheme 
costs of £3.18m (to be funded from LTP and OLEV grant funding). £0.025m of 
development costs were also approved.

The project team has now completed the initiation stage of the project 
concluding that, as with any ‘trial’, there are significant risks. For example, initial 
market engagement has indicated that taxi-only charge points is not attractive 
to the supplier market. OLEV has accepted ‘in principle’ a proposal by the 
Combined Authority to provide two parking bays at each charge point site, with 
one bay being taxi-only and the other being available to the general public

Therefore, there is a need for significant Combined Authority, West Yorkshire 
District Officer and legal resource commitment to deliver this project.

Details of the Change Request

The Activity 2 Case Paper assumed that the initial grant payment by OLEV of 
£0.495m had to be spent by 31 March 2018, and this constraint influenced the 
choice of procurement strategy.  OLEV has now confirmed that all of the grant 
funding will remain available to the project until 31 March 2020.  This allows 
time to procure a single charge points supplier / operator for West Yorkshire in 
2017/18, before installing the charge points in the following two financial 
years.

Work has commenced on the next stage of this project, with the following 
tasks running in parallel:

 Procurement of a single charge point supplier for West Yorkshire, to 
ensure interoperability.

161



 District site preparation, to agree a long list of optimum sites for the 
charge points.

Costs

There is no cost impact of this Change Request on the total forecast project 
cost of £3.18m, therefore approval to this change will be sought by delegation 
to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director. 

The revised forecast development cost to progress this project to Decision 
Point 5 (Full Business Case with Finalised Costs) has increased as a result of 
this Change Request by £0.155m from 0.025m to £0.180m.  This will be 
funded from allocated LTP funding which was programmed to be spent on the 
project in subsequent years. The development cost increase will cover:

 Re-forecasted Combined Authority project management costs and legal 
advice

 District site identification and preparation

 Publicity Strategy

 Overheads

 Contingency

Timescales

Decision Point 3 Outline Business Case Approval by March 2018
Delivery end date for the installation of the charge points (Decision Point 6) by 
31 March 2020.

Project Responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer: Caroline Farnham, CA (From February ‘18 
onwards)

Project Manager: Mark Auger, Combined Authority
Combined Authority Case Officer: Chris Dunderdale

1.6 A62 to Cooper Bridge (Activity 3 Outline Business Case) Change 
Request

Background

Cooper Bridge is one of the most important Gateways into Huddersfield.  The 
A62 is one of the main transport routes into and out of Huddersfield.  It is a 
major route through Kirklees between Huddersfield and Leeds and provides 
key access to the M62 corridor. 

The existing A62/A644 Cooper Bridge junction comprises of a signalised three 
armed roundabout connecting the A62 Cooper Bridge Road (southern arm), 
the A644 Wakefield Road (western arm) and the A62 Leeds Road (eastern 

162



arm).  The roundabout and the surrounding road network are known to be 
severely congested in both the AM and PM traffic peaks. 
In the recently published Kirklees Local Plan two site allocations will further 
promote additional vehicle demand in the wider area, namely:

 Site of the former Cooper Bridge Waste Water Treatment Works and 
land to the west and north of the Three Nuns Pub, Leeds Road, Mirfield.  
A strategic employment allocation.

 Land north of Bradley Road (site of existing golf course), 51 hectare site, 
indicative housing allocation of 2000 units.

Description of the Change Request

Originally a scheme was being progressed that involved the construction of a 
large single gyratory to replace the existing roundabout at Cooper Bridge.  
The A62 and A644 improvement scheme required large scale accommodation 
works at Cooper Bridge which included two new rail bridges, the relocation of 
numerous statutory undertaker plant, large scale demolition of property and 
land costs which meant that the estimated cost of the scheme was likely to 
substantially exceed the original forecast budget of £77m (£69m Combined 
Authority, £8m developer contribution).  As a result Kirklees decided that 
further feasibility work was required in order to find a solution that kept it within 
the original budget envelope.  The description of the revised scheme now 
being progressed through Activity 3 is as follows:

 Highway improvement works to the junction of Bradley Road / Colne 
Bridge Road (incorporating Oak Road);

 Construction of the Cooper Bridge Relief Road (Bradley to the A644 
Wakefield Road);

 Highway improvement works to the junction of A62 Cooper Bridge Road, 
A644 Wakefield Road, A62 Leeds Road (incorporating the ‘Three Nuns’ 
junction); and

 Widening (in part) of the A644 Wakefield Road.

Costs

The baselined scheme cost is £77m of which £69m contribution from the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority.  

The scheme has a current Combined Authority development cost approval of 
£0.500m, and now requests a further £0.250m of Combined Authority funding 
to take the scheme to Outline Business Case (Decision Point 3).  It is not 
forecast that this Change Request will lead to an increase to overall project 
costs and as a result it is proposed that the Change Request is approved 
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director on 
receipt of a recommendation from Investment Committee.

163



Timescales

The forecast full approval date is forecast for 2019 (Decision Point 5) and the 
forecast completion date is forecast for 2023 (Decision Point 6).

Project Responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer: Melanie Corcoran, Combined Authority 
Project Manager: Jessica McNeil, Combined Authority
Combined Authority Case Officer: Paul Coy

1.7 Steeton & Silsden Rail Park and Ride Car Park and Shipley Rail Park and 
Ride Car Park (Activity 5) Change Request

Background

The Combined Authority’s Park & Ride programme has been identified to 
enhance connectivity to, from and within West Yorkshire.  The purpose of the 
programme is to increase car parking capacity at selected stations including 
Steeton & Silsden and also Shipley thereby increasing access to the rail 
network.  The Programme consists of 17 sites adjacent to rail stations to be 
developed into car parking for the benefit of rail users. 

In January 2017, At Decision Point 3 (Outline Business Case) Investment 
Committee recommended to the Combined Authority s Managing Director 
approval to seven Rail Park & Ride sites including Shipley, Steeton & Silsden 
and it was also agreed that Decision Point 5 approval (Full Business Case 
with Finalised Costs) could be made via Combined Authority’s Managing 
Director delegated approvals for each individual site.  This approval route 
would be subject to schemes remaining within a 10% cost tolerance. 

Network Rail are the land owners at both locations and the car park 
extensions will be delivered, operated and maintained by Arriva Rail North 
(the train operating company).  The design for both sites involves the 
development of the existing surface level site into a decked car park. 

Details of the Change Request

Pre-contract discussions with Arriva Rail North’s prospective contractor has 
identified an opportunity to increase the capacity of the proposed new decked 
car parks at Steeton & Silsden and Shipley railway stations, by integrating the 
design into the local topography and making better use of integrated vehicle 
ramps.  It may be feasible to increase both schemes from one to two or three 
decks thereby increasing car parking capacity significantly. 

Site Current 
spaces

Demand 
Forecast 
(DF) 

Current 
scheme

Predicted 
Shortfall 
(DF)

Potential of 
Expanded 
scheme (subject 
to design and 
funding) 

164



Steeton 
& Silsden 145 238

1 deck 
=  +64 
spaces

-29

+2nd floor deck = 
+60 spaces 
+3rd floor deck = 
+50 spaces

Shipley 175 539
1 deck 
= +95 
spaces

-269

+ 2nd floor deck = 
+ 80 spaces
+3rd floor deck =  
+60 spaces

However, additional ground surveys and feasibility studies are required to 
assess the deliverability of these extended schemes.  Initial discussions with 
Arriva Rail North and the appointed contractor indicate that this is feasible.  
However, other constraints including cost and available funding, planning 
permissions and track safety will have to be taken into account.  

Costs

The Rail Station Park and Ride Programme Tranche 2 has a current funding 
approval of £0.732m.  The Change Request proposed in this report includes a 
request for a development cost increase of £0.165m (£73,685 for Steeton and 
Silsden, £91,747 for Shipley), which will be allocated to the individual projects 
rather than the programme as a whole.  This cost will be advanced from the 
forecast total project costs and is not forecast to result in a net increase to 
total budgeted costs.  This will be fully explored as part of the Decision Point 5 
Full Business Case. As a result, it is proposed that this Change Request is 
approved via a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director 
following consideration from Investment Committee.

The forecast total scheme cost for Steeton & Silsden is £2.53m and for 
Shipley is £2.55m.

Timescales

It is forecast that the delivery of the decked car parks at Steeton & Silsden 
and Shipley will be delayed by approximately four to six months, at each 
location.

Full Business Case Approval (Decision Point 5) – summer 2018
Completion of construction (Decision Point 6) – autumn 2019

Project Responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer: Melanie Corcoran, Combined Authority
Project Manager:                   Sara Brook, Combined Authority
Combined Authority Case Officer: Paul Coy

165



Projects in Stage 3 – Programme Committed

1.8 Combined Authority Rail Park and Ride Programme - Hebden Bridge 
Rail Station Car Park Extension (Activity 6 Delivery) Change Request

Background

The Combined Authority’s Park & Ride programme has been identified to 
enhance connectivity to, from and within West Yorkshire to the rail network.  
The Programme consists of 17 sites adjacent to rail stations to be developed 
into car parking for the benefit of rail users. Hebden Bridge was one of the first 
sites to be approved to move into Delivery (Activity 6) in July 2017.  Network 
Rail own the land at Hebden Bridge and the car park extension will be 
delivered, operated and maintained by Arriva Rail North (the train operating 
company).

The original scheme at Hebden Bridge was for an additional 81 spaces 
utilising all Network Rail land.  However part of the site is occupied by a 
tenant, Sheards Coal yard and Ward Members could not support a scheme 
that resulted in the removal of the solid fuel supplier regarded as essential to 
the rural community.  Therefore, a co-existence design was developed that 
enabled the tenant to remain on site and create an additional 46 spaces; the 
Full Business Case with Finalised Costs of £0.582m was approved on 7 July 
2017.

The scheme is divided into 2 phases:

 Phase 1: Relocation Works: ground and surface works, installation of a 
storage shed preceded by the installation of a trackside boundary fence. 

 Phase 2: ground and surface works of extended site to create an 
extended car park, re-surfacing and re-marking of existing car park.  

Details of the Change Request

The original procurement route to relocate the tenant with Network Rail had to 
be re-negotiated as the complexities of the site required further works and 
asset protection; this has resulted in an increase in costs of £0.066m and the 
delivery timescales of six months.  The Benefit Cost Ratio for the scheme was 
originally 4.4; sensitivity testing was conducted assuming an increase in costs 
of +25% reducing the BCR to 3.7 therefore the proposed cost increase of 
11.35% is within those parameters. 

As a result of a requirement to amend the procurement route, the Combined 
Authority is now required to enter into an Implementation Agreement with 
Network Rail in order to deliver the tenancy relocation which will cover works 
associated with this Change Request and also works previously assumed to 
be part of the original procurement approach with Network Rail.

166



Costs

The existing funding approval to deliver the total scheme is £0.582m.
The costs for the additional works proposed in this Change Request are 
£0.066m, taking the total scheme cost to £0.648m. It proposed that as this 
Change Request results in an 11% cost increase (just outside of the 10% cost 
approval tolerance), that following consideration by Investment Committee, 
approval is requested through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s 
Managing Director.

Timescales

The works have been delayed by 6 months from the original programme with 
delivery now forecast to be completed in October 2018. 

Project Responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer: Melanie Corcoran, Combined Authority
Project Manager: Sara Brook, Combined Authority
Combined Authority Case Officer:Paul Coy

1.9 Decisions made through the Delegation to the Managing Director

Since Investment Committee’s meeting on the 9 November 2017, decisions 
regarding the following schemes have been exercised.  These decisions were 
made though the delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director 
following a recommendation from the Combined Authority’s Programme 
Appraisal Team. 

Cycle City Ambition Grant (City Connect) (CCAG) Phase 2 – Individual 
Schemes (Decision Point 5 Full Business Case with Finalised Costs)

This Decision Point 5 approval related to the delivery of three further schemes 
within Phase 2 of the City Connect programme:

 The Wakefield to Castleford Phase 2 scheme including a Bridge Over 
Hallam Line

 Wakefield to Castleford: Phase 3 scheme
Both of schemes these will develop a high quality route linking existing 
infrastructure between Castleford and Wakefield, with a new bridge 
providing access over the Hallam Rail Line.

 A York scheme, which will provide a much needed link via a bridge 
across the river Ouse to the rail station and the proposed York Central 
site.

The City Connect phase 2 programme was considered by Transport 
Committee on the 7 July 2017, with an updated report presented to Transport 
Committee on the 17 November 2017.  Decision Point 5 approval was given 
for these schemes by the Combined Authority’s Managing Director on 17 
November 2017.

167



Rail Park & Ride Phase 1 – Mirfield (A) (Decision Point 5 Full Business 
Case with Finalised Costs)

This Decision Point 5 approval related to the delivery of a scheme to extend 
the existing rail station car park at Mirfield to provide an increase to the 
number of car parking spaces from 35 to 59 (56 standard car parking spaces 
and 3 Blue Badge car parking spaces), an increase in overall car park 
capacity of 68% together with improved security measures through CCTV and 
lighting. 

The project was presented to Investment Committee on 4 January 2017 as 
one of 7 schemes within the Rail Park & Ride Phase 1 Programme, for which 
it was agreed that approval of individual schemes at Decision Point 5 would 
be provided through the delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing 
Director subject to the schemes remaining within its tolerances.  As a result, 
following a recommendation from the Combined Authority’s Programme 
Appraisal Team, the scheme received Decision Point 5 approval on 24 
November 2017.

Corridor Improvement Programme - Wakefield MDC Owl Lane 
Roundabout (Activity Point 3 Outline Business Case Change Request)

The Corridor Improvement Programme is an area wide approach to provide 
low and medium cost highway interventions across a range of key strategic 
highway corridors along the Key Route Network that would deliver benefits for 
traffic and provide improvements for commuters, business, buses and users 
of the transport network on the corridors. This programme covers what was 
originally known as Highways Efficiency and Bus Package (HEBP) in the 
original WY+TF portfolio.

A three phase approach for delivery has been taken in order to prioritise 
corridors for improvement. Phase 1 comprises of an accelerated package of 
junction improvements to be delivered by March 2021. Phase 2 undertake 
feasibility, is to identify any gaps in what Phase 1 will deliver and Phase 3 will 
deliver the scoping’s from Phase 2. Phase 2 and 3 have yet to be fully defined 
and will do so as the programme progresses.

As part of Phase 1, Wakefield MDC have submitted a change request to add 
the A638 Owl Lane Roundabout Ossett in to the programme. This scheme will 
improve a major existing roundabout on A638 at the Owl Lane, Chancery 
Road and Leeds Road Junction in Ossett. This junction has been identified as 
being on the Key Route Network (KRN) and therefore falls within the scope of 
the programme. The scheme will also introduce bus priority measures to 
enhance the roundabout efficiency and address health and safety issues for 
pedestrians and cyclists due to there being no crossing facilities at all the 

168



entries. This scheme can be completed by 2020/21 which is within the 
programme timeframes.

169



This page is intentionally left blank



     
 

 
 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE  
LEEDS DISTRICT CONSULTATION SUB-COMMITTEE 

HELD ON MONDAY, 9 OCTOBER 2017 AT COMMITTEE ROOM A, WELLINGTON 
HOUSE, 40-50 WELLINGTON STREET, LEEDS, LS1 2DE 

 
 
Present: 
 

Councillor Michael Lyons OBE (Chair) Transport Committee 
John Birkby Public Representative 
Linda Bishop Public Representative 
David Brady Public Representative 
Charlotte Davenport Public Representative 
Howard Dews Public Representative 
Peter Dixon Public Representative 
Robert Greenland Public Representative 
Catherine Keighley Public Representative 
Michael Leighton Public Representative 
Mark Parry Public Representative 
Judith Rhodes Public Representative 
Eric Smith Public Representative 
Russell Stead Public Representative 
Brannoc Stevenson Public Representative 
Bill Tymms Public Representative 
Leslie Webb Public Representative 
 
In attendance: 
 

Paul Flanagan Arriva Yorkshire 
Peter Taylor Arriva Yorkshire 
Jonathan Woodhouse Arriva Yorkshire 
Stuart Fillingham First Group 
Will Pearson First Group 
Paul Foster Leeds City Council 
Councillor Paul Wadsworth Leeds City Council 
Alison Bell Northern 
Pete Myers Northern 
Graham Meiklejohn TransPennine Express 
 

Andrew Atack WYCA 
Diane Groom WYCA 
Dave Pearson WYCA 
Erica Ward WYCA 
 
 

 

171

Agenda Item 16a



1.   Apologies for Absence 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Neil Buckley, Christine Towler 
and Keith Wakefield and public representatives Kat Handy, Hazel Lee, Clare Mason, 
Brittany Stead and Clive Woods. 

 
2.   Minutes and Feedback From the Meeting held on 3 April 2017 

 
Resolved - That the minutes of the meeting held on 3 April 2017 be approved. 

 
3.   Introduction to the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and the District 

Consultations Sub-Committees 
 
The Committee was presented with an overview of how the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority (WYCA) is funded and the transport functions and services it 
provides. Members were also provided with an overview of how the District 
Consultation Sub-Committees (DCSCS) fit into WYCA’s governance structure. 

 
4.   Information Report 

 
Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme 
 
It was reported that Leeds City Council and WYCA have approved a £270.5m package 
of improvements to public transport in Leeds, including £173.5m of government 
funding along with investment from bus operators in new vehicles. 
 
Park and Ride 
 
The Committee was informed that both Elland Road and Temple Green Park and 
Rides are performing well and the hours of operation have been extended and a 
Sunday operation introduced. 
 
Following the success of the Elland Road and Temple Green schemes,  it was reported 
that a new Park and Ride is planned at Stourton and expected to open in winter 2019. 
 
MCard 
 
It was reported that an app has been launched for android phones, which enables 
MCard users to buy and load tickets directly to their MCard from their phone. A ticket 
machine was also installed in Leeds Bus Station in April 2017, which allows passengers 
to buy tickets when the station is open. 
 
Leeds Integrated Masterplan (LISM) 
 
It was reported that initial development work to create a blueprint for the 
redevelopment of Leeds rail station into the ‘Yorkshire hub’ has started. The 
Yorkshire hub aims to incorporate high speed rail services from HS2 and Northern 
Powerhouse Rail with national, regional and local transport services. 

172



 
TransPennine Route Upgrade 
 
It was reported that Network Rail are currently working on the development of 
potential infrastructure options for the TransPennine Route Upgrade and will submit 
these options to the Department for Transport for consideration in December 2017,  
with a decision expected in spring 2018. 
 
CityConnect 
 
The Committee was informed that work on the second phase of the CityConnect cycle 
superhighway project is due to commence in late October 2017. The second phase 
will include an extension of the superhighway in order to improve routes into the city 
centre from the east and west. 
 
Clean Air 
 
It was reported that Leeds City Council was named in the ‘UK Plan for Tackling 
Roadside Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations’ report, which was published by the 
Department for Environment, Farming and Rural Affairs in July 2017. 

 
5.   Open Forum 

 
Condition of Trains 
 
Michael Leighton raised concerns regarding the condition of some trains currently 
running in West Yorkshire. 
 
Pete Myers informed the Committee that all of the current rolling stock is due to be 
fully refurbished to a high standard in the coming years, with the exception of the 
Pacer units, which are due to be withdrawn by the end of 2019 and replaced with 
new trains. 
 
Frequency of Train Services 
 
Charlotte Davenport asked if any plans were in place to increase the frequency of 
services that run along the Burley Park line at peak times, as the current frequency of 
the service is not enough to satisfy demand. 
 
Pete Myers informed the Committee that an additional service will run along that line 
as part of the May 2018 timetable changes, but will not stop at the Burley park 
station. However, it is anticipated that the extra service will ease the capacity issues 
on the line. Low Moor and Kirkstall Forge stations will also see an improved frequency 
of services from May 2018. 
 
New Roads 
 
Peter Dixon asked whether WYCA had any funding for building and developing new 

173



roads. 
 
Dave Pearson informed the Committee that in order for funding to be available for 
the construction of a new road, it would have to meet criteria that would unlock the 
potential for economic growth in the area. 
 
Roundhay Train Station 
 
Brannoc Stevenson asked whether any feasibility work had taken place for a train 
station to be built in Roundhay, in order to capitalise on the popularity of Roundhay 
Park. 
 
Dave Pearson informed the Committee that no plans were currently in place for a 
train station in Roundhay and that it is currently served by a high frequency bus 
service.  
 
Contactless Payments on Buses 
 
John Birkby asked what the timescale was for the implementation of contactless 
payments on buses. 
 
Dave Pearson informed the Committee that the technology is currently in 
development and expected to be launched on buses in 2018. 
 
Discounted Ticket Fares for Events 
 
Robert Greenland suggested that bus operators should consider offering discounted 
bus tickets when major events such as Light Night are happening in the city, in order 
to encourage people to travel into the city centre via bus and participate in the 
occasion.  
 
Will Pearson noted the suggestion and will discuss the idea with the new Commercial 
Director at First. 

 

174



     
 

 
 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE  
CALDERDALE DISTRICT CONSULTATION SUB-COMMITTEE 

HELD ON TUESDAY, 10 OCTOBER 2017 AT COMMITTEE ROOM B, TOWN HALL, 
CROSSLEY STREET, HALIFAX, HX1 1UJ 

 
 
Present: 
 

Councillor Daniel Sutherland (Chair) Transport Committee 
Councillor Peter Caffrey Transport Committee 
Reid Anderson Public Representative 
Meg Gillet Public Representative 
Myra James Public Representative 
Zaheer Khalil Public Representative 
Peter Melling Public Representative 
John Myddelton Public Representative 
John Sheppard Public Representative 
Kate Smyth Public Representative 
John Whiteley Public Representative 
Geoff Wood Public Representative 
 
In attendance: 
 

Mark Fenwick Arriva Yorkshire 
Councillor Paul Bellenger Calderdale Council 
Jenny Marshall Calderdale Council 
Peter Stubbs Calderdale Council 
Daniel Weir Calderdale Council 
Stuart Fillingham First Group 
Oliver Howarth First Group 
Pete Myers Northern 
Elliot Day Yorkshire Tiger 
 

Diane Groom WYCA 
Erica Ward WYCA 
Andrew Atack WYCA 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Graham Meiklejohn. 

 
2.   Minutes and Feedback from the Meeting held on 4 April 2017 

 
It was noted that Councillor Peter Caffrey attended the meeting on Tuesday 4th April 
2017, but was not registered on the attendance section in the minutes. 
 

 

175

Agenda Item 16b



Resolved - That the minutes of the meeting held on 4 April 2017 be approved, after 
Councillor Caffrey is noted as present. 

 
3.   Introduction to the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and the District 

Consultation Sub-Committees 
 
The committee was presented with an overview of how the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority (WYCA) is funded and the transport functions and services it provides. 
Members were also provided with an overview of how the District Consultation Sub-
Committees (DCSCS) fit into WYCA’s governance structure. 

 
4.   Halifax Town Centre Proposals 

 
The Committee were given a presentation by AECOM, who were appointed by 
Calderdale Council to progress the approved outline proposals for Halifax Town 
Centre. 
 
The transport infrastructure investments proposed for Halifax Town Centre 
comprised of three key elements. The first element is the upgrade of the eastern 
corridor in order to provide enhanced pedestrian and cycle access facilities from the 
Rail Station into Halifax Town Centre. Upgrades to the northern, southern and 
western gateways into the town centre are incorporated in the other two elements.  
 
It is anticipated that the full Business Case will be submitted to WYCA in mid-2018 for 
approval, with a view for all three elements of the programme to be completed for 
2021. 
 
A number of questions were raised regarding the bus services currently running 
through the town centre and which bus stops they would use when the changes to 
the traffic flow are implemented. 
 
The committee were informed that there will be changes to the bus stop location 
throughout the town centre and route changes will be communicated with 
passengers in advance of the implementation of the new routes. 

 
5.   Information Report 

 
Bus Services Act 
 
The committee was informed that the Bus Services Act received Royal Assent in April 
2017. Draft regulations and secondary legislation have now been issued by the 
government for consultation. 
 
Bus Service Changes 
 
The committee was informed that a number of service changes were implemented on 
the weekend of the 22nd and 23rd October. The changes involved the withdrawal of 
journeys which carried small numbers of passengers and fell below the subsidy per 
passenger criteria set by WYCA. 
 176



New CCTV Contracts 
 
The committee was informed that a new contract has been let to manage and replace 
all CCTV installations currently active in bus stations across West Yorkshire. The new 
system will be digital, rather than analogue, and will provide higher quality live 
camera feeds and improved evidence gathering facilities. 
 
Real Time Information 
 
The committee was informed that the current realtime information system, which 
has been in operation since October 2005, will be replaced following the completion 
of a procurement process. Two suppliers will deliver different aspects of the upgrade, 
which includes the introduction of a new back-office system and the upgrade of real 
time information screens. 
 
MCard 
 
The committee was informed that a MCard ticket machine is due to be installed at 
Halifax Bus Station shortly. The machine will enable MCard users to purchase a range 
of MCard tickets such as weekly and monthly tickets when the station is open. 
 
May 2018 Northern and TransPennine Timetable Update 
 
It was reported that the first significant timetable change for the Northern and 
TransPennine Express will be introduced in May 2018. As a result of delayed work 
from Network Rail, most changes are those delayed from December 2017. 
 
Northern Stations Improvement Fund   
 
The committee was informed that the Northern Stations Improvement Fund is aimed 
at middle and smaller sized stations and is focused on bringing facilities and standards 
up to a consistent level. Improvements include investment in areas such as seating, 
information, lighting and security, as well as additional ticket machines and improved 
accessibility where applicable. Phase 1 stations, including Halifax, Hebden Bridge, 
Todmorden and Walsden, are due to be completed by the end of 2017.  
 
Rail Station Car Park Expansions 
 
It was reported that work had started on a programme of car park extensions at a 
number of rail stations throughout West Yorkshire. Once completed, the car parks 
will provide additional standard and blue badge parking bays, as well as charging 
points for Electric Vehicle. Work is planned to begin in Hebden Bridge and 
Mytholmroyd within the next 18 months. 
 
DfT Accessibility Action Plan 
 
The committee was informed that the Department for Transport is currently seeking 
feedback on a draft accessibility action plan which sets out proposals to improve the 
travel experience for people with disabilities. WYCA are planning to respond to the 
consultation, which closes on 15 November 2017. 177



6.   Open Forum 
 
Bus Service 539 
 
Councillor Paul Bellenger presented a petition to the committee regarding Service 
539, operated by First. The petition, which has been signed by around 1,000 people, 
asks for the reinstatement of the 539 bus service along a previous section of its route 
from Bowling Green Road in Stainland to Sowood and Outlane. 
 
It was reported that the changes had made it more difficult for residents of Sowood 
to access the doctor’s surgery and shops in West Vale. I In an area which has a large 
volume of older people, bus services provide a vital lifeline that helps people who 
struggle get out into the community. 
 
Oliver Howarth informed the committee that the area is served by other bus services 
that offer access to shops and other services if required. As First would be unable to 
run the service on a commercial basis, Oliver suggested approaching WYCA for a 
subsidised service. 
 
It was agreed that discussions will continue outside of the meeting and the outcome 
will be presented at a future meeting.  
 
Bus Shelters 
 
Geoff Woods suggested that bus stops and shelters in rural areas and in the town 
centre would benefit from a synthetic design that would be more visually appealing 
to the public and would encourage more people to use the bus. 
 
Meg Gillet suggested incorporating easier to read signs on bus stops, similar to what 
is currently in use in London, in order to help people that are not familiar with an area 
to make the right choice of stop when using the bus to travel.  
 
Jenny Marshall said she would make a note of comments and feedback to the 
consultation team. 
 
Sowerby Bridge Station Development Plan 
 
John Myddelton asked about the purpose of the Sowerby Bridge Development Plan, 
and whether any of the proposals within it was in the pipeline for implementation. 
 
Pete Myers informed the committee that each station has a development plan which 
will be implemented should funding become available. 

 

178



     
 

 
 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE  
BRADFORD DISTRICT CONSULTATION SUB-COMMITTEE 

HELD ON MONDAY, 23 OCTOBER 2017 AT COMMITTEE ROOM 1, CITY HALL, 
CENTENARY SQUARE, BRADFORD, WEST YORKSHIRE, BD1 1HY 

 
 
Present: 
 

Councillor Taj Salam (Chair) Transport Committee 
James Craig Public Representative 
Stephen Hetherington Public Representative 
David Hill Public Representative 
Andrew Jewsbury Public Representative 
Peter Ketley Public Representative 
Nasreen Khan Public Representative 
Gareth Logan Public Representative 
Norah McWilliam Public Representative 
Andrew Noble Public Representative 
Graham Peacock Public Representative 
John Prestage Public Representative 
Keith Renshaw Public Representative 
Barrie Rigg Public Representative 
 
In attendance: 
 

Mark Fenwick Arriva Yorkshire 
Jonathan Woodhouse Arriva Yorkshire 
Oliver Howarth First Group 
Mohammed Raja First Group 
Pete Myers Northern 
Councillor Gerry Barker Menston Railway Station 
Alan Elsegood Menston Railway Station 
Councillor Jackie Whiteley Menston Railway Station 
Colin Booth Transdev 
 

Andrew Atack WYCA 
Neale Wallace WYCA 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Hassan Khan, Councillor 
Rebecca Poulsen and Patricia Joseph-Gray. 

 
2.   Minutes and Feedback from the Meeting held on 31 March 2017 

 
Resolved - That the minutes of the meeting held on 31 March 2017 be approved. 

 

179

Agenda Item 16c



3.   Introduction to the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and the District 
Consultation Sub-Committees 
 
The committee was presented with an overview of how the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority (WYCA) is funded and the transport functions and services it provides. 
Members were also provided with an overview of how the District Consultation Sub-
Committees (DCSCS) fit into WYCA’s governance structure. 

 
4.   Information Report 

 
Bus Services Act 
 
The committee was informed that the Bus Services Act received Royal Assent in April 
2017. Draft regulations and secondary legislation have now been issued by the 
government for consultation. 
 
Transport for the North Integrated and Smart Travel 
 
The committee was informed that most major bus operators are aiming to enable 
their ticket machines to accept payments using contactless bank cards during 2018.  
 
David Hill raised a concern regarding the number of different ticketing products 
currently on the market and that it is causing confusion for the public. 
 
Neale Wallace informed the committee that Transport for the North are currently 
working on a scheme that will make it easier for passengers to travel seamlessly using 
their preferred payment method. 
 
Bus Service Changes 
 
The committee was informed that a number of service changes were implemented on 
the weekend of the 22nd and 23rd October. The changes involved the withdrawal of 
journeys which carried small numbers of passengers and fell below the subsidy per 
passenger criteria set by WYCA. 
 
Gareth Logan asked what measures had been implemented to communicate the 
withdrawal of school bus services to those who use the services. 
 
Neale Wallace informed the Committee that a letter and an email explaining changes 
was sent to Bradford Councillors and affected schools. (please note a letter was sent 
to school Heads prior to schools breaking up in July outlining the changes specific to 
each school) It was noted that a vast majority of children who used the services can 
use alternative services. 
 
Andrew Noble asked what the current budget for supported bus services in 2017/18 
is, and what the reduction was from the previous financial year. 
 
Neale Wallace informed the Committee that the budget for supported services in the 
current financial year is 18.35m, a reduction of £650,000 from the previous financial 
year.  180



New CCTV contracts 
 
The committee was informed that a new contract has been let to manage and replace 
all CCTV installations currently active in bus stations across West Yorkshire. The new 
system will be digital, rather than analogue, and will provide higher quality live 
camera feeds and improved evidence gathering facilities. 
 
Bradford Interchange Access Improvements 
 
The committee was informed that a programme is currently being developed in order 
to improve access, for both pedestrians and vehicles, at Bradford Interchange. Work 
is likely to commence during February 2018 and is planned to be completed by late 
March 2018. 
 
Short term improvements to be implemented include the relocation of the drop off 
and pick up area and the creation of a dedicated taxi rank within the central area with 
its own access and waiting area. 
 
Longer term improvements, including new layouts and redevelopment proposals, will 
published in the Bradford Stations Master Plan, which will be presented at a future 
meeting.   
 
Nasreen Khan raised concerns about the condition and cleanliness of the main 
pathway leading in to Bradford Interchange and asked if measures could be put in 
place to improve the situation. 
 
Neale Wallace informed the Committee that work is ongoing to establish who owns 
the land before any further work to resolve the issues can take place. 
 
Real Time Information 
 
The committee was informed that the current real time information system, which 
has been in operation since October 2005, will be replaced following the completion 
of a procurement process. Two suppliers will deliver different aspects of the upgrade, 
which includes the introduction of a new back-office system and the upgrade of real 
time information screens. 
 
Andrew Jewsbury asked if bus stops with a large number of stopping services could 
implement a scrolling display on the screen. The current format shows the next three 
services that are due to arrive at the bus stop, which in the case of busy stops would 
only be a couple of minutes into the future, which is not ideal for passengers.  
 
Neale Wallace informed the Committee that he would liaise with colleagues in the 
real time information team in order to establish whether the software has the 
capability to implement the change to the system but there are issues with scrolling 
information for the partially sighted that should be taken into account.  
 
 
 
 181



Low Moor Station 
 
The committee was informed that passenger numbers using Low Moor station have 
steadily grown since April 2017, and passenger surveys have recently been 
undertaken to seek feedback. The feedback is currently being analysed and further 
information will be provided at a future meeting. 
 
Northern Stations Improvement Fund 
 
The committee was informed that the Northern Stations Improvement Fund is aimed 
at middle and smaller sized stations and is focused on bringing facilities and standards 
up to a consistent level. Improvements include investment in areas such as seating, 
information, lighting and security, as well as additional ticket machines and improved 
accessibility where applicable. Phase 1 stations, including Baildon and Bradford 
Interchange, are due to be completed by the end of 2017.  
 
DfT Accessibility Action Plan 
 
The committee was informed that the Department for Transport is currently seeking 
feedback on a draft accessibility action plan which sets out proposals to improve the 
travel experience for people with disabilities. WYCA are planning to respond to the 
consultation, which closes on 15 November 2017. 
 
Andrew Jewsbury informed the committee that he had received information that 
suggests that one of the major obstacles that people with disabilities face is 
connectivity between services.  
 
AccessBus 
 

The committee was informed that grant funding has been secured from the 
Department for Transport to refurbish AccessBus vehicles in Bradford, Leeds and 
Wakefield. Improvements include the installation of catalytic convertors, which will 
bring the bus emissions down to the equivalent of Euro 6 standards. 

 

5.   Open Forum 
 

Menston Railway Station 
 
Councillor Jackie Whiteley raised a number of concerns regarding the accessibility at 
Menston Railway Station, with the main issues being level access to the station and 
the ability for a person with limited mobility to access both platforms via the 
footbridge via the stairs. 
 

It was reported that a number of works were identified to take place at Menston 
Railway Station in order to improve the accessibility but no further progress had been 
made. 
 

Pete Myers informed the committee that the improvement works would have taken 
place if it would have received funding from the Access for All programme, which is 
implemented by the Department for Transport. Unfortunately, Menston was not one 
of the stations chosen for the funding.  182



Councillor Whiteley asked if there was plans to install a ticket machine on both 
platforms as the ticket machine is currently only located at one side of the platform 
and as a result, passengers wishing to purchase a ticket need to go over the 
footbridge in order to do so. This can be an issue for people with limited mobility. 
 
Pete Myers suggested the installation of a second ticket machine could be possible 
under the Northern Stations Improvement Fund and that he would consult with 
colleagues at Northern to discuss the issue further. 
 
Councillor Whiteley also stated that a number of her constituents have reported that 
they have had issues with travel assistance when travelling with Northern, citing 
particular problems with conflicting information on leaflets and advice from staff. 
 
Pete Myers stated that the preferred method is to book assistance in advance by 
contacting Northern directly before travelling. 
 
Further discussion will take place between Councillor Whiteley and Northern and the 
outcome will be reported at a future meeting. 
 
Bradford Interchange 
 
Colin Booth raised concerns regarding the condition of the road surface in Bradford 
interchange bus station. 
 
Neale Wallace informed the committee that work will start in the coming weeks in 
order to resolve the issues that bus drivers have been experiencing with the road 
surface at Bradford Interchange. 
 
Real time Information 
 
Peter Ketley asked for clarification on how the real time information system 
calculates the times shown on the information screens in bus shelters. Buses are 
regularly shown as due for several minutes before the bus shows up at the stop. 
 
Neale Wallace informed the committee that the system calculates the estimated time 
of arrival from the data of the last three services that used the bus stop.  
 
Mohammed Raja asked what the criteria a bus stop would have to meet before a real 
time information screen could be installed.  
 
Neale Wallace informed the committee that a bus stop would first need to meet the 
criteria for a bus shelter to be installed, and then for funding to be available in order 
to purchase and install the system. 

 

183



This page is intentionally left blank

184



     
 

 
 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE  
KIRKLEES DISTRICT CONSULTATION SUB-COMMITTEE 

HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 29 NOVEMBER 2017 AT COUNCIL CHAMBER, TOWN 
HALL, WAKEFIELD OLD ROAD, DEWSBURY, WEST YORKSHIRE, WF12 8DG 

 
 
Present: 
 

Councillor Manisha Kaushik (Chair) Transport Committee 
Councillor Martyn Bolt Transport Committee 
John Appleyard Public Representative 
Anne Baldwin Public Representative 
Ian Bangay  Public Representative 
Bruce Bird Public Representative 
Mark Denton Public Representative 
Shaun Jordan Public Representative 
Aleks Lukic Public Representative 
David Quarmby Public Representative 
Ian Roper Public Representative 
Mike Still Public Representative 
Kelvyn Waites  Public Representative 
Catherine Waters Public Representative 
Mark Wylie Public Representative 
 
In attendance: 
 

Paul Flanagan Arriva Yorkshire 
Jonathan Woodhouse Arriva Yorkshire 
Stuart Fillingham First Group 
Oliver Howarth First Group 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal Kirklees Council 
Joanne Waddington Kirklees Council 
Pete Myers Northern 
Graham Meiklejohn Transpennine Express 
 

  
 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Eric Firth, Councillor Andrew 
Pinnock and Jean Kirby. 

 
2.   Minutes and Feedback From the Meeting held on 5 April 2017 

 
Resolved - That the minutes of the meeting held on 5 April 2017 be approved. 

 

185

Agenda Item 16d



 
3.   Introduction to the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and the District 

Consultations Sub-Committees 
 
The committee was presented with an overview of how the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority (WYCA) is funded and the transport functions and services it provides. 
Members were also provided with an overview of how the District Consultation Sub-
Committees (DCSCS) fit into WYCA’s governance structure. 

 
4.   Information Report 

 
Bus Services Act 
 
The committee was informed that the Bus Services Act received Royal Assent in April 
2017. Draft regulations and secondary legislation have now been issued by the 
government for consultation. 
 
New CCTV Contracts 
 
The committee was informed that a new contract has been let to manage and replace 
all CCTV installations currently active in bus stations across West Yorkshire. The new 
system will be digital, rather than analogue, and will provide higher quality live 
camera feeds and improved evidence gathering facilities. WYCA are in constant 
contact with the police regarding anti-social behaviour at bus stations across West 
Yorkshire and have a mobile response team that deal with incidents. 
 
Real Time Information 
 
The committee was informed that the current real time information system, which 
has been in operation since October 2005, will be replaced following the completion 
of a procurement process. Two suppliers will deliver different aspects of the upgrade, 
which includes the introduction of a new back-office system and the upgrade of real 
time information screens. The upgrade and installation of the new screens is planned 
to start in late 2017. 
 
TransPennine Route Upgrade 
 
It was reported that Network Rail are currently working on the development of 
potential infrastructure options for the TransPennine Route Upgrade and will submit 
these options to the Department for Transport for consideration in December 2017,  
with a decision expected in spring 2018. 
 
Northern Stations Improvement Fund 
 
The committee was informed that the Northern Stations Improvement Fund is aimed 
at middle and smaller sized stations and is focused on bringing facilities and standards 
up to a consistent level. Improvements include investment in areas such as seating, 
information, lighting and security, as well as additional ticket machines and improved 

186



accessibility where applicable. Phase 1 stations, including Denby Dale and 
Ravensthorpe, are due to be completed by the end of 2017. 
 
Improvement works will still be undertaken at stations that are in phase two of the 
programme if the opportunity arises. For example, a number of phase two stations 
have recently had new ticket machines installed.  
 
Rail Station Car Park Expansions 
 
It was reported that work had started on a programme of car park extensions at a 
number of rail stations throughout West Yorkshire. Once completed, the car parks 
will provide additional standard and blue badge parking bays, as well as charging 
points for Electric Vehicle. Work is planned to begin in Mirfield within the next 18 
months. 
 
AccessBus 
 
It was reported that TLC Travel now operate the AccessBus services in Kirklees and 
Bradford. The changes were implemented from 1 October 2017. 

 
5.   Open Forum 

 
Low Moor Station 
 
Councillor Bolt asked why no secure cycle parking had been installed at Low Moor 
Station.  
 
Pete Myers informed the committee that standard cycle parking is available at the 
station and that no funding is currently available from Northern to install bike lockers. 
Pete Myers advised that Grand Central may have funding available. 
 
Evening Services 
 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal asked why some evening and weekend services were being 
reduced or withdrawn following the service changes implemented at the end of 
October 2017. 
 
Neale Wallace informed the committee that only services that carried a small number 
of passengers and fell below the subsidy per passenger criteria set by WYCA had been 
withdrawn. 
 
Seat Reservations 
 
Catherine Waters suggested removing seat reservations on busy services at rush hour 
because passengers on congested trains are not able to move along the carriage to 
reach the reserved causing uncertainty. 
 
 

187



Pete Myers informed the committee that plans are in place to remove the paper 
based reservation system and replace it with an electronic ‘traffic light’ system, which 
will hopefully resolve the issue.  
  
Bus Shelter Lighting 
 
Shaun Jordan reported that the lighting at a bus shelter on Peel Street in Huddersfield 
has been switched off for a while. 
 
Neale Wallace informed the committee that the power was originally switched off to 
allow for roadworks in the area, which are yet to take place. The roadworks will now 
commence in April. 
 
Other Information and Feedback 
 
A representative from South Pennine Community Transport and WYCA’s Rail Team 
will be invited to the next meeting of the Kirklees District Consultation Sub-
Committee following suggestions from Mark Denton and Councillor Bolt respectively. 

 

188



     
 

 
 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE  
WAKEFIELD DISTRICT CONSULTATION SUB-COMMITTEE 

HELD ON THURSDAY, 30 NOVEMBER 2017 AT MAIN HALL, ELIZABETHAN 
GALLERY, BROOK STREET, WAKEFIELD, WEST YORKSHIRE, WF1 1QW 

 
 
Present: 
 

Councillor David Dagger (Chair) Transport Committee 
Councillor Kevin Swift Transport Committee 
Usman Ali Public Representative 
Nigel Ashton Public Representative 
Clifford Baker Public Representative 
John Churms Public Representative 
Peter Daniels Public Representative 
David Hogg Public Representative 
Thomas Randall Public Representative 
David Young Public Representative 
 
In attendance: 
 

Kim Purcell Arriva Yorkshire 
Jonathan Woodhouse Arriva Yorkshire 
Councillor Matthew Morley Wakefield Council 
 

Andrew Atack WYCA 
Neale Wallace WYCA 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Paul Howden and Christopher Hyomes. 

 
2.   Minutes of the Meeting held on 30 March 2017 

 
Resolved - That the minutes of the meeting held on 30 March 2017 be approved. 

 
3.   Introduction to the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and the District 

Consultations Sub-Committees 
 
The committee was presented with an overview of how the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority (WYCA) is funded and the transport functions and services it provides. 
Members were also provided with an overview of how the District Consultation Sub-
Committees (DCSCS) fit into WYCA’s governance structure. 

 
 

 

189

Agenda Item 16e



4.   Information Report 
 
Bus Services Act 
 
The committee was informed that the Bus Services Act received Royal Assent in April 
2017. Draft regulations and secondary legislation have now been issued by the 
government for consultation. 
 
Following questions from members of the committee regarding performance data, 
Neale Wallace informed the committee the Bus Services Act will require the release 
of open data on routes, timetables, real time information and fares. It is expected 
that these requirements will be in operation by 2020. 
 
Service Changes 
 
Members were advised that Arriva had made changes to a number of services in 
North Wakefield to reflect the recent opening of Wakefield Eastern Relief Road. 
 
Members asked whether there have been any noticeable service improvements sine 
the Wakefield Eastern Relief Road was opened. It was reported that a traffic survey 
will take place in the future in order to determine the success of the measure.  Arriva 
has experienced improvements in the short time the road has been open. 
 
Following comments from members of the committee, it was agreed that the 
guidance that is used when communicating a change of bus service to the community 
will be shared with the minutes. 
 
Real Time Information 
 
The committee was informed that the current real time information system, which 
has been in operation since October 2005, will be replaced following the completion 
of a procurement process. Two suppliers will deliver different aspects of the upgrade, 
which includes the introduction of a new back-office system and the upgrade of real 
time information screens. 
 
MCard 
 
It was reported that an app has been launched for android phones, which enables 
MCard users to buy and load tickets directly to their MCard from their phone. A ticket 
machine is planned to be installed in Wakefield Bus Station in the future. 
 
Senior Travel Passes 
 
It was reported that around 300,000 Senior Passes across West Yorkshire are due for 
renewal in the coming months.  
 
 
 

190



Cliff Baker asked what the rationale was for allowing people to renew their passes 
online up to three months before expiry, but only one month when visiting a bus 
station or travel centre. 
 
Neale Wallace informed the Committee that he will feed back the comments to 
colleagues and respond at a future meeting.  
 
Transport for the North Integrated and Smart Travel 
 
The committee was informed that most major bus operators are aiming to enable 
their ticket machines to accept payments using contactless bank cards during 2018. 
 
Northern Stations Improvement Fund 
 
The committee was informed that the Northern Stations Improvement Fund is aimed 
at middle and smaller sized stations and is focused on bringing facilities and standards 
up to a consistent level. Improvements include investment in areas such as seating, 
information, lighting and security, as well as additional ticket machines and improved 
accessibility where applicable. Phase 1 stations, including Outwood and Wakefield 
Kirkgate, are due to be completed by the end of 2017. 
 
A number of Members raised concerns regarding the lack of toilet facilities at 
Wakefield Kirkgate Train Station. It was also reported that the station has inadequate 
ticket purchasing facilities for the volume of passengers that use the station.  
 
Neale Wallace informed the committee that he will feed back the comments to 
Northern and report back at a future meeting. 
 
Rail Station Car Park Expansions 
 
It was reported that work had started on a programme of car park extensions at a 
number of rail stations throughout West Yorkshire. Once completed, the car parks 
will provide additional standard and blue badge parking bays, as well as charging 
points for Electric Vehicle.  
 
Members reported that the car park extension at Pontefract Monkhill train station 
had recently been completed. However, the extension is still too small to satisfy 
demand and suggested possible extension to sites around the station. 
 
AccessBus 
 
It was reported that catalytic convertors are due to be fitted to the AccessBus fleet 
that operates in Bradford, Leeds and Wakefield due to funding that has been secured 
from the Department for Transport. The improvements will bring the buses emissions 
down to the equivalent of Euro 6 standards. 

 
 
 

191



5.   Open Forum 
 
Park and Ride 
 
David Young raised concerns regarding local bus services that operate along the same 
route as the planned Park and Ride site in Stourton. He stated that a dedicated 
express service may attract people that currently use local services, which could see a 
reduction in passengers, which could result in a reduced frequency service for the 
rest of North Wakefield. 
 
Neale Wallace reported that local bus services that operate close to other Park and 
Ride sites across the county had not seen a reduction in service or passenger numbers 
but this will be monitored. 

 

192



MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CALDERDALE DISTRICT 
CONSULTATION SUB-COMMITTEE HELD ON TUESDAY, 9 

JANUARY 2018 AT THE KINGS CENTRE, THE KINGS CHURCH, 3 
PARK RD, HALIFAX, HX1 2TS

Present:
Councillor Daniel Sutherland (Chair) Transport Committee
Councillor Peter Caffrey Transport Committee
Reid Anderson Public Representative
Meg Gillett Public Representative
Myra James Public Representative
Zaheer Khalil Public Representative
Peter Melling Public Representative
John Myddelton Public Representative
John Sheppard Public Representative
Kate Smyth Public Representative
John Whiteley Public Representative
Geoff Wood Public Representative

In attendance:
Mark Fenwick Arriva Yorkshire
Stuart Fillingham First Group
Oliver Howarth First Group
Robert Mason Yorkshire Tiger
Mike Holland Yorkshire Tiger
Diane Groom West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Khaled Berroum West Yorkshire Combined Authority

 
1.  Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Graham Meiklejohn, Jonathan 
Woodhouse and Pete Myers.

Matters Arising – Deputy Chair nomination

Resolved: That John Sheppard be confirmed as deputy chair. 

2.  Encouraging Young People to Use Buses

The subcommittee was shown a presentation outlining the findings from a 
consultation conducted to encourage more young people to use buses. 

The following were identified by the subcommittee as particular concerns 
reducing bus use amongst young people:

193

Agenda Item 16f



 Inconsistencies and confusion about pricing; sometimes the same 
price is charged for different stops 

 They are not sure how to order tickets or engage with drivers
 Timetables are too difficult to decipher and lack vital information such 

as how long a journey will take
 Younger people are less willing to wait in the cold and rain when it is 

easier to call a parent
 They are afraid and unsure of what to do if a bus doesn’t come – 

especially if it is the last bus

The following were suggested by the subcommittee to encourage more 
young people to use buses: 

 Customer interaction training for drivers to deal with younger people
 Bus operators engage with primary schools and introduce buses to 

children
 Target parents in any campaigns and promotions
 Develop an evidence base to determine why young people don’t use 

buses in different postcodes and regions, to better target responses 
based on social class, culture, geography etc

 Combat cultural association of cars with freedom, to align more with 
London’s attitude to public transport

Resolved: That the presentation and the subcommittee’s feedback be 
noted.

3.  Operator Updates

Operators reported no major changes to services, except for the 
implementation of contactless card technology on First buses. 

Resolved: That the operator updates be noted.

4.  Minutes from the meeting held on 10 0ctober 2017. 

An information error and three minor spelling errors were noted. 

Resolved: That the minutes of the last meeting be approved, pending the 
following corrections: 

(i) on p3: ’36 stations as part of phase 1 would be completed by the end 
of 2017’ – in place of ‘Phase 1 stations […] are due to be completed 
by the end of 2017’.

(ii) on p4: ‘…the town centre would benefit from a sympathetic…’ – in 
place of ‘synthetic’.  

(iii) on p4: ‘Meg Gilet’ – be replaced by ‘Meg Gilett’

(iv) on p4: ‘Geoff Woods’ – be replaced by ‘Geoff Wood’. 

194



5. Information Report

An information report was presented updating the sub-committee on matters 
relating to the Calderdale district and followed by questions and a discussion 
covering the following:

 The Combined Authority is working with operators to explore 
discounted ticket options to support young people

 That the air quality stickers on the side of buses signify that particular 
bus’s emission quality, not the entire operator. 

 There are no plans to adopt electric buses more widely at the current 
time due to infrastructure and cost considerations. 

 Bus usage has reduced overall nationally, including in London, but 
has increased in West Yorkshire (for Arriva and First).

 All bus drivers must undergo compulsory in-house disability training. 
 There are plans to run more commercial services between hospitals 

as the current minibuses are not wheelchair accessible.  

Public representatives suggested:
 That no bus be able to charge more than £2 for a single fare after 

7pm, as is the policy established by the Mayor of Greater Manchester.
 Introducing two different timetables at stops and stations, as they do 

in Manchester: one listing the buses and the times and the other 
displaying the bus’s route.

 Colour coding bus stop information to match bus routes. 
 That the report regarding accessible transport links to the hospital be 

distributed to the subcommittee and its contents considered further.

An objection was raised about the decision to exclude the Todmorden – 
Hebden Bridge section of the cycle path from the current scheme, whilst 
retaining the Hebden Bridge - Luddendenfoot section. Dissatisfaction was 
also expressed about this decision being taken by ‘unelected officers’ 
instead of being referred back to elected members. It was noted that the 
Leader of Calderdale Council was in discussion with the Combined 
Authority’s Managing Director about the cycle path plans. 

Resolved: That the information report be noted.

6. Open Forum

No questions were raised during the open forum. 

7. Date of the next meeting -  10 April 2018

195



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE KIRKLEES DISTRICT 
CONSULTATION SUB-COMMITTEE HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 10 

JANUARY 2018 AT THE TOWN HALL, HUDDERSFIELD, HS1 2TA 

Present:
Councillor Manisha Kaushik (Chair) Transport Committee
Councillor Martyn Bolt Transport Committee
Councillor Eric Firth Transport Committee
Councillor Andrew Pinnock Transport Committee
John Appleyard Public Representative
Ian Bangay Public Representative
Bruce Bird Public Representative
Mark Denton Public Representative
Christopher Jones Public Representative
Jean Kirby Public Representative
Aleks Lukic Public Representative
Ian Roper Public Representative
Mike Still Public Representative
David Quarmby Public Representative
Kelvyn Waites Public Representative
Catherine Waters Public Representative
Mark Wylie Public Representative

In attendance:
Matt Ashton Yorkshire Tiger
Mark Fenwick Arriva Yorkshire
Stuart Fillingham First
Oliver Howarth First
Graham Meiklejohn TransPennine Express
Councillor Mohan Sokhal Kirklees Council
Joanne Waddington Kirklees Council
Neale Wallace West Yorkshire Combined Authority
James Nutter West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Erica Ward West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Khaled Berroum West Yorkshire Combined Authority

 
1.  Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Pete Myers.

Matters Arising – Deputy Chair nomination

Resolved: That John Appleyard be confirmed as deputy chair. 

197

Agenda Item 16g



2.  Encouraging Young People to Use Buses

The subcommittee was shown a presentation outlining the findings from a 
consultation conducted to encourage more young people to use buses. 

The following were identified by the subcommittee as particular concerns 
reducing bus use amongst young people:

 Studies have suggested a link between culture/social class and 
uptake in public transport as a primary factor

 Children’s views on public transport are shaped by their parents views 
and habits

The following were suggested by the subcommittee to encourage more 
young people to use buses: 

 Greater adoption of Wi-Fi on buses and bus stations
 Drivers should allow young people in school uniforms or with photo 

IDs to benefit from discounted fares if they have forgotten their young 
persons card  

 A pilot scheme for free journey vouchers for young people to try out 
public transport at no cost

 Better educate young people about ticket choices and routes
 Train drivers to better interact with young people and trust them 

instead of treating them with suspicion
 Appoint public transport ambassadors from the Youth Parliament and 

give them free travel with the responsibility to help other young 
people navigate public transport

 Schools should nominate older kids to help the younger kids on their 
first days taking the bus to school

 Operators engage with schools and teach ‘courses’ in how to order 
and pay for their needed journey and ticket

Resolved: That the presentation and the subcommittee’s feedback be 
noted.

3.  Operator Updates

Operators reported no major changes to services and updated the 
subcommittee on a number of initiatives and developments, including:

 The implementation of contactless card technology on First buses
 Bus drivers undergoing training to increase awareness of cyclists
 Works by Highways England and Northern Gas in the area are due to 

end soon, alleviating many traffic issues affecting services
 Greater effort is being undertaken to inform the public of works and 

events which may affect services and traffic
 There has been an increase in passenger numbers in the North, 

particularly rail as a preferred means of travel
 Updated rail timetables are currently being assessed by Network Rail
 TransPennine intends to provide additional capacity by Autumn 2018 

and new, upgraded 6 carriage trains are expected to be operational 
by 2019. Increased revenue from the new, bigger trains will be 
reinvested into improving the TransPennine Leeds-Manchester route 
as a priority.  198



The subcommittee also discussed the wider issue of decreasing provision of 
bus services to isolated, vulnerable communities and urged the Transport 
Committee to find a way to solve the issue and help fill the gap in bus 
services with Combined Authority resources. It was clarified to the 
subcommittee that the Combined Authority can only act within the powers it 
currently has, not withstanding further devolution or major legislative 
changes to bus regulation and competition. 

Resolved: That operator updates be noted.

4.  Minutes from the meeting held on 29 November 2017. 

Resolved: That the minutes of the last meeting be approved. 

5. Information Report

An information report was presented updating the sub-committee on matters 
relating to the Kirklees district. It was followed by questions and a discussion 
covering the following:

 Temporary minor works improving the car park at Mirfield Station are 
currently in progress. 

 The Combined Authority has made enquiries into the lack of 
information provided about replacement bus services during the 
Northern strikes. 

 The Kirklees Council cabinet has discussed parts of the Local Plan 
relating to alleviating congestion at Longroyd Bridge and a decision is 
due later this year. 

It was also suggested that Network Rail be invited to future meetings to 
provide updates and answer questions as many issues raised by the 
information report concern them. 

Resolved: That the information report be noted. 

6. Open Forum

Question: Bus driver station breaks and passenger safety

It was clarified that West Yorkshire Combined Authority policy is that, when a 
bus driver needs to take a break at the station, a staff member from the 
station must wait with passengers until the driver returns. However, if no 
station staff are available, the driver will not be penalised as long as doors 
are locked. Under no circumstances should passengers, especially children, 
be removed from the bus. This policy was adopted following the coroner’s 
recommendation after a fatality occurred at a station. 

7. Date of the next meeting -  11 April 2018

199



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE
LEEDS DISTRICT CONSULTATION SUB-COMMITTEE

HELD ON MONDAY 15 JANUARY 2018
AT WELLINGTON HOUSE, LEEDS, LS1 2DE

Present

Councillor Neil Buckley Transport Committee
Councillor Keith Wakefield Transport Committee

John Birkby Public Representative
Howard Dews Public Representative
Peter Dixon Public Representative
Robert Greenland Public Representative
Kat Handy Public Representative
Catherine Keighley Public Representative
Michael Leighton Public Representative
Clare Mason Public Representative
Mark Parry Public Representative
Judith Rhodes Public Representative
Eric Smith Public Representative
Brittany Stead Public Representative
Russell Stead Public Representative
Brannoc Stevenson Public Representative
Bill Tymms Public Representative
Leslie Webb Public Representative
Clive Woods Public Representative

In Attendance

Paul Flanagan Arriva
Stuart Fillingham First
Will Pearson First
James Hulme Leeds City Council
Graham Meiklejohn TransPennine
Andrew Atack West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Diane Groom West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Dave Pearson West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Erica Ward West Yorkshire Combined Authority

201

Agenda Item 16h



6.  Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Michael Lyons, Linda 
Bishop, Charlotte Davenport and Hazel Lee.

7. Encouraging Young People to use buses

The committee was presented with feedback from young people who use 
public transport and was asked what operators could do to make travelling by 
bus and rail more appealing.

Following the comments from the young people that were surveyed, the bus 
operators have agreed that from 1 January 2018, young people that are in a 
school uniform will automatically qualify for a half fare tickets without having to 
show a concessionary pass.

It was reported that work is ongoing to make the range of tickets available to 
young people less complex. It is anticipated that a discounted ‘go anywhere 
ticket’ will be launched in late 2018, which will allow a young person to travel 
with multiple bus operators in West Yorkshire on one ticket.

The committee advised that contacting the youth councils in West Yorkshire 
could be a way to increase the number of young people using buses. Erica 
Ward confirmed that the Combined Authority is currently in contact with the 
youth parliaments and discussions are ongoing to develop initiatives.

It was suggested that and offering bus tickets at a discounted price for large 
groups of young people, such as school outings, would encourage the young 
people to travel by bus outside of school hours.

8. Leeds City Council Clean Air Zone Proposal

The committee was presented with proposals for the Clean Air Zone in Leeds 
City Centre. The presentation included a number of options for the zone 
outline and the risk and benefits of the project.

Members raised concerns that bus operators may raise bus fares to 
compensate for the cost of entering the clean air zone. It was noted that 
operators have made a pledge that all buses that will operate in the zone will 
be Euro 6 standard, which excludes them for the charge.

9. Operator Updates

Arriva 

Arriva reported that there are no major service changes due in the current 
service change window. Minor changes to standardise timetables and 
improve reliability will take place on selected services in Leeds.

202



First

First reported that revised timetable and amended routes will be operational 
from the 18 February 2018. 

It was noted that passengers are now able to purchase tickets on First buses 
using a contactless bank card, Apple Pay or Android Pay.

The committee was advised that First have launched a direct feedback survey 
on their website which can be accessed on any internet enabled device.

Northern

Northern reported that new trains are currently in the testing phase and are 
expected to be in operation by December 2018. 

It was noted that the remaining fleet will be fully refurbished by 2020 and 
include realtime passenger information screens, improved plugs and USB 
ports and free Wi-Fi.

TransPennine

TransPennine reported that refurbishment of the current fleet is underway, 
with upgraded carriages expected to be in operation by December 2018.

10. Minutes of the meeting held on 9 October 2017

Resolved - That the minutes of the meeting held on 9 October 2017 be 
approved.

11. Information Report

The committee was verbally updated on key information that was relevant to 
the Leeds district in the report.

12. Open Forum

First Bus Storage

Members asked whether there are any plans to increase the amount of 
luggage space on the new buses that are being introduced to the network 
over the coming years.

Members also asked if the newspaper stand, that is current located in the 
luggage space, could be relocated to a more suitable location.

First informed the committee that the comments will be sent to their 
commercial team and the outcome will be presented at a future meeting.

203



Advertising on Buses

Members advised the committee that a number of posters on buses are out of 
date and asked if they could be updated as they could cause confusion to 
passengers. The operators confirmed that they are currently doing an audit of 
all materials that are currently in circulation and are confident the out of date 
posters will be rectified in the future.

Bus Flags in Pudsey

Members reported that the information on bus flags is often outdated and 
could cause confusion for passengers wanting to use the stop. The committee 
was informed that a review of information that is published is currently taking 
place and comments from the committee will be taken into consideration.

204



MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE 
WAKEFIELD DISTRICT CONSULTATION SUB-COMMITTEE

HELD ON THURSDAY 18 JANUARY 2018
IN THE KINGSWOOD SUITE, TOWN HALL, WAKEFIELD 

Present:

Councillor David Dagger (Chair) Transport Committee
Councillor Kevin Swift Transport Committee
Nigel Ashton Public Representative
Clifford Baker Public Representative
John Churms Public Representative
Peter Daniels Public Representative
David Hogg Public Representative
Thomas Randall Public Representative
David Young Public Representative

In attendance:

Kim Purcell Arriva Yorkshire
Jonathan Woodhouse Arriva Yorkshire
Pete Myers Northern
David Brown RMT
John Cordingley RMT
Graham Hesling RMT
Trevor Howard RMT
Mansuar Khan RMT
Sean McGowan RMT
Doug Paulley RMT
Glen White RMT
Andrew Atack WYCA
Neale Wallace WYCA
Erica Ward WYCA

6.  Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Usman Ali and Paul Howden.

7.  Minutes of the meeting held on 30 November 2017

Resolved - That the minutes of the meeting held on 30 November 2017 be 
approved.

205

Agenda Item 16i



8.  Encouraging Young People to use buses

The committee was presented with feedback from young people who use 
public transport and was asked what operators could do to make travelling by 
bus and rail more appealing.

Following the comments from the young people that were surveyed, the bus 
operators have agreed that from 1 January 2018, young people that are in a 
school uniform will automatically qualify for a half fare tickets without having to 
show a concessionary pass.

It was reported that work is ongoing to make the range of tickets available to 
young people less complex. It is anticipated that a discounted ‘go anywhere 
ticket’ will be launched in late 2018, which will allow a young person to travel 
with multiple bus operators in West Yorkshire on one ticket.

Members suggested that further investment in mobile ticketing software would 
make traveling by bus more appealing to young people as they would be able 
to buy a ticket before traveling. 

It was also suggested that an increased engagement campaign around the 
time that young people are allocated their primary and secondary schools 
would be beneficial as that is when most parents and children make their 
decisions regarding transport.

9.  Operator Updates

Arriva

Arriva reported that there are no major service changes due in the current 
service change window. Minor changes to standardise timetables and improve 
reliability will take place on selected services in Wakefield. 

Arriva reported that buses fulfilled 99.5% of the bus mileage in the previous 
calendar year. Further information regarding bus data will be presented at a 
future meeting.

Northern

Northern reported that new trains are currently in the testing phase and are 
expected to be in operation by December 2017. 

It was noted that the remaining fleet will be fully refurbished by 2020 and 
include realtime passenger information screens, improved plugs and USB 
ports and free Wi-Fi.

Following comments from members at the previous meeting, Pete Myers 
reported that Northern are installing toilets at Wakefield Kirkgate station in 
future. As well as exploring the options for a ticket office to be located at the 
station.

206



10.  Information Report

The committee was verbally updated on key information that was relevant to 
the Wakefield district in the report.

11.  Open Forum

National Union of Rail, Maritime and Transport Workers

 The committee received a representation from members of the RMT regarding 
the role of the guard on trains. Concerns were raised that the absence of a 
guard could compromise the safety of passengers and diminish customer 
service.

Pete Myers informed the committee that he would feedback comments from 
the RMT and members back to Northern colleagues.

Rail Station Gritting

Members reported issues with the gritting regime at rail stations in the icy 
weather. The committee was informed that the issue is with the material that is 
used to grit the area and not with the frequency of the gritting.

Wakefield City Bus

Members asked why the city centre bus that operates in each district, has 
been successful in the Wakefield area, but has been withdrawn elsewhere in 
the region.

Members noted that the city bus is partly funded by local authorities and some 
councils have withdrawn their funding.

Bus Shelters

It was reported that bus shelters that are frequently vandalised have the glass 
panels removed and replaced with a clear plastic panels.

207



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE 
BRADFORD DISTRICT CONSULTATION SUB-COMMITTEE

HELD ON MONDAY 22 JANUARY 2018 AT 
CITY HALL, BRADFORD, BD1 1HY

Present:

Councillor Taj Salam (Chair) Transport Committee
Councillor Hassan Khan Transport Committee
Councillor Nussrat Mohammed Transport Committee
Councillor Rebecca Poulsen Transport Committee
James Craig Public Representative
Stephen Hetherington Public Representative
David Hill Public Representative
Andrew Jewsbury Public Representative
Gareth Logan Public Representative
Norah McWilliam Public Representative
Andrew Noble Public Representative
Graham Peacock Public Representative
John Prestage Public Representative
Keith Renshaw Public Representative
Barrie Rigg Public Representative

In attendance:

Mark Fenwick Arriva Yorkshire
Oliver Howarth First Group
Pete Myers Northern
Tony Plumbe Open Forum
Phil Jolly Transdev
Lindsey McManus Woodhouse Grove School
Andrew Atack WYCA
Neale Wallace WYCA

6.  Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Peter Ketley, Nazreen Khan, 
Colin Booth and Mohammed Raja.

209

Agenda Item 16j



7.  Minutes of the meeting held on 23 October 2017

Matters Arising

Bradford Interchange - Access

It was reported that the funding is in place for the access improvements at 
Bradford Interchange. Work is scheduled to begin onsite in April 2018 with 
an anticipated completion date in June 2018.

In regards to the main pathway outside Bradford Interchange, it was reported 
that work is ongoing to establish who owns the land. Further updates 
regarding the ownership of the land will be presented at a future meeting.

Bradford Interchange - Road Surface

The issues with the road surface at Bradford Interchange that was reported 
at the last meeting have now been resolved. It was noted that more 
extensive improvements to the road surface will be included in the Bradford 
Interchange Masterplan. 

It was reported that the Combined Authority are waiting for the outcome of a 
conditioning report that will highlight the underlining issues with the surface 
at the interchange. Further updates regarding the road surface will be 
presented at a future meeting.

Realtime System

Following comments from the committee, it was reported that the last line of 
the realtime information screens will now scroll between the next three 
departures from the bus stop.

Resolved - That the minutes of the meeting held on 23 October 2017 be 
approved.

8.  Encouraging Young People to use buses

The committee was presented with feedback from young people who use 
public transport and was asked what operators could do to make travelling 
by bus and rail more appealing.

Following the comments from the young people that were surveyed, the bus 
operators have agreed that from 1 January 2018, young people that are in a 
school uniform will automatically qualify for a half fare tickets without having 
to show a concessionary pass.

It was reported that work is ongoing to make the range of tickets available to 
young people less complex. It is anticipated that a discounted ‘go anywhere 
ticket’ will be launched in late 2018, which will allow a young person to travel 
with multiple bus operators in West Yorkshire on one ticket.

210



The committee advised that focusing on young people that are due to make 
the transition from primary school into secondary school would increase the 
uptake of bus and rail travel in West Yorkshire.

It was suggested that an increased engagement campaign around the time 
that young people are allocated their primary and secondary schools would 
be beneficial as that is when most parents and children make their decisions 
regarding transport.

Members also suggested that taking groups of young people on visits to bus 
and rails stations could help uptake in travel as the experience will be less 
daunting once they understand the process of buying a ticket and boarding 
the bus or train.

Councillor Salam acknowledged the budget constraints of bus and rail 
operators for activities of this nature and suggested approaching bus drivers 
that are recently retired who would be willing to pass on their knowledge and 
experience to young people.

It was agreed that the integration of bus and rail timetables would be 
beneficial for young people that are commuting to and from school. However, 
this would be difficult as the rail timetable is decided on a national level, 
rather than regional.

9.  Operator Updates

Arriva

Arriva reported that there are no major service changes due in the current 
service change window. Minor changes to standardise timetables and 
improve reliability will take place on selected services in Bradford.

First

First reported that revised timetable and amended routes will be operational 
from the 18 February 2018.

It was noted that passengers are now able to purchase tickets on First buses 
using a contactless bank card, Apple Pay or Android Pay. 

Northern

Northern reported that new trains are currently in the testing phase and are 
expected to be in operation by December 2017. 

It was noted that the remaining fleet will be fully refurbished by 2020 and 
include realtime passenger information screens, improved plugs and USB 
ports and free Wi-Fi.

211



Transdev

Transdev reported that no major service changes are due in the coming 
months, with the exception of services that operate along Old Road in Ilkley.

It was noted that the Transdev services that operate in and around the 
Denholme area was subject to major delays at peak times due to the recent 
bad weather conditions. 

It was suggested by operators that the reduction of gritting services by local 
authorities was causing issues on key commuting corridors in West 
Yorkshire as a whole.

It was reported that bus drivers that were operating on the school services 
was praised by parents and teachers for keeping the services running and 
reassuring the young people on board, despite the delays and bad weather.

The committee acknowledged that the operators did everything in their 
power to ensure the smooth running of bus services in the bad weather 
conditions. It was noted that the Combined Authority had a meeting with 
operators to discuss what improvements could be made in similar 
circumstances in the future.

10.  Information Report

The committee was verbally updated on key information that was relevant to 
the Bradford district in the report.

11.  Open Forum

Apperley Bridge Rail Station

Lindsey McManus attended the meeting on behalf of Woodhouse Grove 
School to ask Northern for an improved service at Apperley Bridge Station. 

Lindsey reported that the vast majority of students use the direct train that 
operates on the Airedale Line from Keighley and Skipton on a morning, 
however there is no direct train on the return journey in the afternoon when 
school time ends and as a result are required to change trains at Shipley, 
which poses a safety risk at Shipley Station due to the footfall at the station 
at peak times.

Lindsey asked for consideration to be given for a direct train from Apperley 
Bridge that operates along the Airedale Line.

Pete Myers informed the committee that the matter would be looked into and 
the outcome will be reported at a future meeting.

212



Boxing Day Services

Members asked if any plans were in the pipeline to extend the range of bus 
services and operating hours that currently operate on Boxing Day in the 
future. It was noted that due to budget constraints, unless there is a public 
need for a service, the current service will be maintained in the future.

Rail Station Gritting

Members reported issues with the gritting regime at rail stations in the icy 
weather. The committee was informed that the issue is with the material that 
is used to grit the area and not with the frequency of the gritting.

Penalty Fares

Members asked that consideration for penalty fares not to be enforced at 
stations that do not have a ticket machine on each side of the platform, as it 
would does not give passengers an appropriate opportunity to buy a ticket if 
they are traveling from the platform without a ticket machine. It was noted 
that most stations with a ticket machine on one platform, will have a second 
installed prior to the penalty fares being enforced.

Queensbury Tunnel

It was reported that a joint meeting will take place with Bradford Council and 
Calderdale Council to discuss the creation of a local cycle path network 
through the Queensbury tunnel, which would connect Bradford and Keighley 
to Holmfield, Ovenden and Halifax. The outcome of the meeting will be 
reported at a future meeting. 

Rail Ticket Price Increase 

Following a question from the public gallery, Pete Myers confirmed that the 
average increase in Yorkshire was 3.4% and the average increase nationally 
was 4.7%.

Bus Information

Members reported that the information on bus flags is often outdated and 
could cause confusion for passengers wanting to use the stop. The 
committee was informed that a review of information that is published is 
currently taking place and comments from the committee will be taken into 
consideration.

Future Agenda Items

The committee asked for further information regarding the Northern 
Powerhouse Rail at a future meeting.

213



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting of the Transport Committee held on 12 January 2018
	5 Transport Strategy Update
	item 5a Appendix 1 FINAL

	6 Bus Strategy Update
	7 Cycling Update
	8 Mobility as a service
	9 East Coast Main Line: Franchise and infrastructure update, including proposed response to route study
	Item 9a - Appendix 1 FINAL
	Item 9b - Appendix 2 FINAL
	Item 9c - Appendix 3 FINAL

	10 Consultation Replies on Highways Related Matters
	Item 10a - Appendix 1 FINAL

	11 Consultation Reply for Transport for the North's Strategic Transport Plan
	12 Transport Research Innovation Fund - Research activities
	Item 12a - Appendix 1 FINAL
	Item 12b - Appendix 2 FINAL
	Item 12c - Appendix 3 FINAL

	13 Local Transport Plan Integrated Transport Programme Scheme Approvals
	14 City Region Transport Update
	Item 14 - Appendix 4 DfT and MHCLG letter FINAL

	15 Summary of transport schemes which were considered by January 2018 Investment Committee
	Item 15a - Appendix 1

	16a Leeds 9 October 2017
	Minutes

	16b Calderdale 10 October 2017
	Minutes

	16c Bradford 23 October 2017
	Minutes

	16d Kirklees 29 November 2017
	Minutes

	16e Wakefield 30 November 2017
	Minutes

	16f Calderdale 9 January 2018
	16g Kirklees 10 January 2018
	16h Leeds 15 January 2018
	16i Wakefield 18 January 2018
	16j Bradford 22 January 2018

